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PART |

The statements contained in this Annual ReportarmFL0-K, including under the section titled “Maeagent’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Result©gpkrations” and other sections of this Annual Rgpoclude forward-
looking statements within the meaning of SectioA &7the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, ardi®@e21E of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, dExisbange Act, including, without limitation, statents regarding our or
our management’s expectations, hopes, beliefjtiotes or strategies regarding the future, suabuagstimates regarding
anticipated operating losses, future revenues anjdqied expenses; our liquidity and our expectatieegarding our needs for
and ability to raise additional capital; our alilib manage our expenses effectively and raiséutihds needed to continue our
business; our belief that there are unmet neetteidiagnosis and treatment of diabetic neuropatityour expectations
surrounding SENSUS and NC-stat DPNCheck; our glawevelop and commercialize our products; theesgand timing of
our studies; our ability to obtain and maintainulegpry approval of our existing products and amyrfe products we may
develop; regulatory and legislative developmenthi@éUnited States and foreign countries; the perémce of our third-party
manufacturers; our ability to obtain and maintaitellectual property protection for our producte successful development of
our sales and marketing capabilities; the sizegaodith of the potential markets for our productd anr ability to serve those
markets; the rate and degree of market acceptdrasgyduture products; our reliance on key sciéntiianagement or
personnel; the payment and reimbursement methadkhysprivate or governmental third-party payens] ather factors
discussed elsewhere in this Annual Report on Fd+K br any document incorporated by reference hesetherein. The
words “believe,” “may,” “will,” “estimate,” “contiue,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “expect,” “plan” andimilar expressions may
identify forward-looking statements, but the abseatthese words does not mean that a statemeat ferward-looking. The
forward-looking statements contained in this anmapbrt are based on our current expectations alefd concerning future
developments and their potential effects on usrdban be no assurance that future developmemtstiafj us will be those that
we have anticipated. These forward-looking statémigwvolve a number of risks, uncertainties (soffmeluch are beyond our
control) or other assumptions that may cause aotsalts or performance to be materially differean those expressed or
implied by these forward-looking statements. Thésles and uncertainties include, but are not lichiie, those factors
described in the section titled “Risk Factors.” Bldoone or more of these risks or uncertaintiesenmltze, or should any of our
assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may fram those projected in these forward-lookingesteents. We undertake no
obligation to update or revise any forward-lookstgtements, whether as a result of new informafiganre events or
otherwise, except as may be required under appdicazurities laws. Unless the context otherwiggires, all references to
“we”, “us”, the “Company”, or “NeuroMetrix” in thig\nnual Report on Form 10-K refer to NeuroMetrixg|

” W ” i, " ow ”ou ” o ” o«

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Our Business-An Overview

We are a medical device company focused on thanezd of the neurological complications of diabefsople with
diabetes do not effectively regulate their bloodcgke, or sugar, levels leading to chronically héytels of glucose in the
blood, called hyperglycemia, and occasionally bafitew glucose in the blood, called hypoglyceniiae primary reason that
glucose levels are not effectively regulated ingdeavith diabetes is that those with the diseasealgroduce insulin (Type |
diabetes) or are resistant to the normal physioldgiction of insulin (Type Il diabetes). Many Tyibeliabetics eventually
require insulin because production of the hormonthbir pancreas decreases with time. Type | degbesually affects children
and teenagers whereas Type Il diabetes has typloadin a disease of adults over the age of 50. Henwvever the past decade,
Type |l diabetes is occurring in younger adultsjoliircan probably be attributed to higher levelsloésity in this age group.

Diabetes is a worldwide epidemic. Recent studiémase the worldwide prevalence of diabetes tover 850 million
people, of which approximately 90% have the Typeatiety. Within the United States, there are ®&&million people with
diabetes and another 80 million people with prdselias, which represents a constellation of contitEuch as obesity and high
triglyceride levels that are likely to progresdiabetes. In the United States, the annual caseafing diabetes is over $100
billion. Although there are dangerous acute matatems of diabetes, the primary burden of theatisas in the long term
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complications of chronic hyperglycemia. These caogpions include, among other things, cardiovagatisease, nerve disease
and resulting pathological conditions such as tdo¢rs and amputation, eye disease leading torsissl and kidney failure.

The most common long-term complication of diabetdsich affects over 50% of the diabetic populatismerve disease or
diabetic neuropathy. There are different formsiabdtic neuropathy; the most common are diabetipperal neuropathy, or
DPN, carpal tunnel syndrome, or CTS, and autonomaigopathy. DPN is a systemic nerve disease thadiise in the feet and
lower legs. It may lead to loss of sensation infdet, severe pain in the feet and legs, and isekésk of falling. DPN is the
primary trigger for diabetic foot ulcers which mpsogress to the point where amputation is requiPetple with diabetes have
a 15% to 25% lifetime risk of developing a footed@nd approximately 15% of foot ulcers lead to aration. Foot ulcers are
among the most expensive complications of diabetik,a typical cost of $5,000 to $50,000 per egéesdn addition, between
16% and 26% of people with diabetes suffer fronm mdithe feet and lower legs due to painful diabeguropathy, or PDN,
which is a condition caused by DPN. In additiorénising pain that is often severe, PDN may interf@th sleep and is also
associated with anxiety and depression. Loss efsk particularly concerning because sleep dejwivés associated with
insulin resistance and worse glycemic control, taedeby exacerbates diabetes severity. CTS is ddysfocal damage to the
median nerve as it passes from the forearm intbdinel, through the wrist. When the median nergeispressed it can lead to
symptoms in the hand including pain, numbness J@sglof strength. Autonomic neuropathy is a systefisease of the
autonomic nerves, which regulate the heart, digesexual function, and other essential bodilycfioms. Damage to these
nerves leads to a host of clinical complicatiorat thclude an increased risk of sudden death, tdwisk of stroke, digestion
difficulties and impotence.

Most people with diabetes receive health care titteim primary care settings where physicians Haw#ed access to
sophisticated diagnostic tools to detect diabetigrapathy early and monitor its progress and resptmtreatment. As a result,
these physicians rely primarily on clinical exantioa of patients which, although it is an importaatt of the evaluation of a
patient with diabetes, has limited sensitivity @peécificity and can usually only detect later stdigease where treatment
options and efficacy are compromised.

Early detection of DPN is particularly importantchese there are no treatment options once thes\baxe degenerated. At
the present time, the most widely used and recordetkbdiagnostic method for DPN is the 5.07/10-g nfitaroent test. This
test assesses the patient’s ability to detect foesure application in the foot. The inabilitydietect a monofilament indicates
that the patient lacks adequate sensation to pribteic feet from mechanical insults that can leatbot ulcers; a condition
known as loss of protection sensation, or LOPSh@lgh the monofilament is an important clinicat téds insensitive to early
DPN where interventions may slow or even halt ferterve damage. Nerve conduction studies, or M@&Sobjective
electrical tests of nerve function. They are coasid the gold standard diagnostic method for DPiNcam detect mild nerve
damage before it is expressed as clinical symptdl@S have typically been provided by specialistagiexpensive equipment
and therefore access has been limited, particularlgommon conditions such as DPN.

Currently, there are limited treatment optionsd@mbetic neuropathies. There are no approved disaaslifying treatments
for DPN, although a few pharmacological candidaresin clinical trials. One such drug is Ranirestataldose reductase
inhibitor being developed in the United States IsaECo., Ltd., which has recently completed adasgale Phase Ill clinical
trial. If trial results are successful, Eisai coaltbmit to the FDA a new drug application as eadyY014. If Ranirestat becomes
commercially available, it may expand the demanmcefoly detection and monitoring of DPN. In theexixe of targeted
therapies, several large studies have shown tHatimg hyperglycemia lowers the risk of develop®®@N and decreases its
severity. There is also observational data thafjesig that a reduction in triglyceride levels slakes progression of DPN.
Several drugs, such as duloxetine and pregabalire heen approved to provide pain relief in pasievith PDN.
Unfortunately, these drugs, which are also antirelegants or anti-seizure medications, have systeffidicts and are therefore
often associated with side effects. In the cadel@¥ and/or DPN, it is essential to intervene be®ensive nerve
degeneration has occurred.
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Our Strategy

We believe that there are large and important umaetls in the treatment of diabetic neuropathiesa Aedical device
company with both unique and substantial experiémcevices to measure and alter peripheral nametion, we believe we
are in the unique position to address these uneedsthrough the development of novel proprietaedioal devices.
Therefore, we are focused on developing and maudketiedical devices for the diagnosis and treatrokdiabetic
neuropathies. We believe that we are the only na¢dievice company with a strategic focus on théetia neuropathy market
and our goal is to be the dominant player in tieklf

Our key business strategies for 2014 by which wenith to advance our objectives in the diabetic opathy market
include:

Driving Commercial Adoption of Our Proprietary Pragtts for Diabetic Neuropathy in the United StateOur two
primary products that target the diabetic neuropathrket are the following:

e SENSUS, our therapeutic device for relief of chronicrattable pain, was launched in January 2013. SENSUS
revenues for the fiscal year ended December 313 2@&te approximately $200,000. SENSUS is a conwtied
wearable non-invasive device that offers physiceams their patients a non-narcotic pain relief@apths a complement
to medications. The device is lightweight and camworn during the day while remaining active, onight while
sleeping. We believe SENSUS is the only transcutaselectrical nerve stimulator designed specifidalr people
with diabetes that suffer from chronic pain. Weidngd this product is attractive to pain medicinggbians,
neurologists, endocrinologists, podiatrists, priynzare physicians, and other physicians that aaleriged with trying
to manage pain in their patients with PDN and ofbens of neuropathic pain. We believe that PDNawtp 3 to 5
million people in the United States alone. We eatarthe wholesale market for SENSUS is characttbiyethe 50% of
patients with either severe pain or sleep interfeeedue to PDN. This represents an annual revesteatal in excess
of $300 million. We also believe that there areinational market opportunities, particularly inr&pe and Japan. In
the United States, SENSUS is a prescription prodandtour initial challenge has been and will camgito be to obtain
broad, national exposure and acceptance amonggnysias well as a broad distribution channel lidlfprescriptions.
We are working to create demand in several disthannels: independent regional and national denagldical
equipment, or DME, suppliers that employ saleses@ntatives who detail physicians, large dire& saktomers such
as orthotic and prosthetic clinics and chronic geatment centers, and national diabetes mailr @Es. We believe
there may be future opportunities to expand our SBS revenue and gross margin potential by devejominover-the-
counter version of SENSUS and a direct sales cthanne

« NC-stat DPNCheck, our diagnostic test for DPN was launched in Piig@1. NC-stat DPNCheck revenues for the fiscal
years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 were appatety $1.3 million and $1.4 million, respectivelye have
tested product acceptance for NC-stat DPNCheckveral domestic market segments and focused amdineged care
market as the most attractive revenue opportuithin managed care, we target Medicare Advantageigers and
those companies that provide diagnostic testing@s. Medicare Advantage providers assume finanesponsibility
and the associated risks for the health care obskeir patients. For Medicare Advantage providens believe that
NC-stat DPNCheck presents an attractive clinical tiageprovides early detection of diabetic neurbpaallowing for
earlier clinical intervention to help mitigate thfects of diabetic neuropathy on both patient ifpaf life and cost of
care. Also, the diagnosis and documentation ofatialmeuropathy provided by NC-stat DPNCheck helpsfy the
patient health profile which, in turn, may haveir@ct, positive effect on the Medicare Advantagenpium received by
the provider. We also believe that attractive imétional market opportunities for this product deseloping in Japan,
China, the Middle East and Mexico. These are baddressed by local distributors with support fraim eorporate
office. We are currently
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involved in seven studies that use NC-stat DPNCliretthe evaluation of neuropathy in persons witibdies under
various study conditions. We anticipate that thetadies will expand the clinical foundation for ufeNC-stat
DPNCheck which, in turn, should support future aatopby customers.

Continuing the Productivity of Our Research and Dalepment Pipeline. During the past three years we have established
a new presence in DPN and PDN through the laun®sftat DPNCheck in late 2011 followed by the SESSaunch in
early 2013. We believe that the potential marketgpetion by SENSUS has been enhanced with thatradelition of unique
functionality related to use of the device duringhttime sleep, as half of people with PDN repbéttthe condition interferes
with their sleep. Sleep impairment is associateti wisulin resistance, worsening of glycemic contod exacerbation of the
severity of diabetes. We are developing a secondrgéion version of SENSUS that will have a lowenfile and features to
enhance patient use. We believe there is a mapgetrtunity for a non-prescription, over-the-countersion of SENSUS and
we have a development program underway.

Commercializing NC-stat DPNCheck in Select Interiaal Markets Using a Distribution Network. We are targeting
select international markets where we believe ttheattombination of a high prevalence of diabetes plpport from the local
payer system will support sales of NC-stat DPNChaauk, eventually, SENSUS. This includes countrieasia, the Middle
East, Mexico, and potentially Western Europe whegehave both CE marking for NC-stat DPNCheck andldished
distribution. We have entered into distributiontparships with Omron Healthcare Company, Ltd. fjgah and China and with
master distributors for the Middle East and Mexioor resources committed to this effort are modesiyever, we believe that
this approach could contribute meaningful revemu2014 and subsequent years.

Leveraging an Efficient Operating Structure with Rure Revenue Growth Our operating structure has been developed to
focus on the high-value opportunities for SENSU8 BIEC-stat DPNCheck that can be pursued via indepd@rdistributors with
support from our corporate office. This provides benefit of low operating expenses combined vhighflexibility to generate
increased sales volume without the cost of addihgssepresentatives and field clinical support. @perating expenses during
2013 totaled $10.4 million. We believe we can neimaind leverage this operating structure oventhe several years as we
aim to grow our diabetes business.

Managing Our Legacy Neurodiagnostics Business totibpze Cash Flow. Our historical neurodiagnostics business is
managed for its cash contribution and not grovithpkrates in a challenging reimbursement enviroriwhere there are few
practical alternatives. The business has limiteeladlicash operating expenses and generated $3i@naihd $6.1 million in
revenue during the years ended December 31, 201 2GikP, respectively, with gross margins excee8Dbf in both periods.
We see the legacy business continuing to declitiearfuture. See “— Legacy Neurodiagnostics Busiries

Our Business Model

We develop and market neurodiagnostic systems wigfibally consist of a medical device plus sing&ient-use
biosensors or electrodes. Other accessories areff¢sed to our customers. Our goal for theseesystis to build an installed
base of active customer accounts and distribubatsregularly reorder consumables to meet theidaed/e successfully
implemented this model when we started our busingssthe NC-stat system and applied it to subsetjpeoduct generations
and, more recently, to the ADVANCE NCS/EMG Systdine planning for our diabetes care pipeline, intlgtSENSUS, NC-
stat DPNCheck, and other products in developmsttased on the device plus consumables businessd.mod

Marketed Products
SENSUS

The SENSUS pain therapy device is a transcutangleatrical nerve stimulator, or TENS, designedrédief of chronic,
intractable pain, such as PDN. SENSUS is a conméaied wearable non-invasive device that offerssyaigns and their
patients a non-narcotic pain relief option as aglement to medications. The device is lightweigid aan be worn during the
day while remaining active, or at night while slegp We believe it is the only transcutaneous eleaitnerve stimulator
designed specifically for people with diabetes thdter from chronic pain and that SENSUS will tigaective to pain medicine
physicians, neurologists,
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endocrinologists, podiatrists, and primary caresptigins that are challenged with trying to manaaje m their patients with
PDN and other forms of neuropathic pain. We haws usir unique expertise in peripheral nerve stitiaran the development
of SENSUS which incorporates several proprietagguiees for ease of patient use and physician riegoSENSUS is
comprised of: (1) an electronic device with a sttt is worn on the upper calf and (2) an eleanatiich attaches to the
device. We provide prescribing physicians with Pi3dd software that links to the device via a USEneation, thereby
allowing them to download a record of the patienss of the device.

A recent evidence-based review by the American Aoadof Neurology determined that TENS was a usefudiality for
managing pain associated with DPN. Our assessnfientrently available TENS devices indicated thweg tievices currently on
the market do not meet the needs of patients viiiN Because they are not optimized for PDN but aséead targeted at low
back pain, sports medicine, and rehabilitation igpgibns. Furthermore, they are difficult to adrster and tend to be
complicated for clinicians and patients to use.

Our SENSUS device and electrodes have been clegrded FDA for commercial distribution. When medligandicated
and supported by proper documentation, TENS arergéy reimbursed by Medicare and many commerastliiance
companies under the DME benefit.

NC-stat DPNCheck

NC-stat DPNCheck is a fast, accurate, and quarttaerve conduction test that is used to evalsgséemic neuropathies
such as DPN. It is designed to be used by primarrg physicians, endocrinologists, podiatrists ahéroclinicians at the point-
of-care to objectively detect, stage, and monitBNDThe device measures nerve conduction velonityrasponse amplitude of
the sural nerve, a nerve in the lower leg and afkiese parameters are widely recognized as senaitid specific biomarkers
of DPN.

NC-stat DPNCheck is comprised of: (1) an electrdr@nd-held device and (2) a single patient useeb®ar. In addition, we
provide users with PC-based software that linkhéodevice via a USB connection. This PC softwémva physicians to
generate reports and manage their sural nerve cbadulata.

NC-stat DPNCheck is a modified version of our poegly marketed NC-stat nerve testing device, asdira same clinical
indications with respect to DPN. The modified devitas the same functionality with respect to soeave testing as the
original device; however, the cost of the electtdmnd-held unit and the consumable biosensorbdwsreduced by
approximately 50%. More than 1.7 million patienidies have been performed using our NC-stat teclggaind there have
been approximately 6.3 million nerve tests, inahgdinearly 700,000 sural nerve tests. It has beesubject of many published
studies, including several studies specificallyradding the accuracy and clinical utility of thevide in assessment of DPN.

ADVANCE System

Our legacy neurodiagnostics business is basedeoABIVANCE NCS/EMG System, or the ADVANCE System,igthis a
comprehensive platform for the performance of tradal nerve conduction studies and invasive etesytography procedures.
The ADVANCE System is comprised of: (1) variousagmf electrodes and needles, (2) the ADVANCE deaitd related
modules, and (3) a communication hub that enahkeghysician's office to network their device teitlpersonal computers
and our servers for data archiving, report genematind other network services. The ADVANCE Systemost commonly
used with proprietary nerve specific electrodeyard hese electrode arrays combine multiple indigictlectrodes and
embedded microelectronic components into a singfiept-use disposable unit. We currently markeesalifferent nerve
specific electrode arrays.

Historically, the ADVANCE System has been marketed broad range of physician specialties includiagrologists,
orthopedic surgeons, primary care physicians, adderinologists, and utilized for a variety of difént clinical indications
including assessment of CTS, low back and leg aid,DPN. It is most commonly used in the assessafé@iTS. Numerous
papers have been published on the use of thisaéadnin this clinical application.
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The following chart summarizes our previously méekieproducts and currently marketed products.

No. Patients
Product Time on Market Technology Primary Clinical Indications Tested/Treated
NC-stat* Q2 1999 — Q3 2010 Nerve Diagnosis and evaluation of CTS,
Conduction low back pain, peripheral
neuropathies (including DPN)
~ 1,770,000
ADVANCE Q2 2008 — present Nerve Diagnosis and evaluation of CTS,
Conduction low back pain, peripheral
Invasive Needl neuropathies (including DPN)
EMG
NC-stat Q3 2011 — present Nerve Diagnosis and evaluation of > 200,000
DPNCheck Conduction peripheral neuropathies, such as
DPN
SENSUS Q1 2013 — present Transcutaneous Relief for chronic, intractable pain, > 1,000
Electrical Nervi such as PDN
Stimulation

*  Support was discontinued in the first quarte61.2.

Customers

Our customers include physicians, clinics, hosgjtadanaged care organizations, retail health bssase independent
distributors in the United States and abroad, amdlidle medical equipment (DME) suppliers. Our SEISSIdvice was
launched in January 2013 and is being sold to DMipkers and chronic pain treatment centers whayrim, distribute the
product along with consumables directly to patieBENSUS customers purchased approximately 1,308k devices
during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013.Nisstat DPNCheck device was launched in late Z0fdlapproximately
1,500 devices had been placed with customers thrBeégember 31, 2013. These customers include mdrage
organizations, retail health businesses, endoagistls, podiatrists and primary care physiciansofBecember 31, 2013, we
had an installed base of approximately 830 actisstaimers using our ADVANCE System. These custormeigde primary
care, internal medicine, orthopedic and hand surggmain medicine physicians, neurologists, physieadicine and
rehabilitation, or PM&R, physicians, and neurosorge At December 31, 2013, one customer accountet4f0% of accounts
receivable and a second customer accounted fo%il@f accounts receivable. For the years ended Deeefl, 2013, 2012,
and 2011, no single customer accounted for more 10&b of revenue.

Geographic Information

Substantially all of our assets, revenues, andresqeefor the years ended December 31, 2013, 2682GL1 were located
at or derived from operations in the United Staliesddition, we have had limited sales throughrithistors in Europe, Asia,
the Middle East and various regions. For each efytrars ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2G&inational revenues
accounted for approximately 16%, 7%, and 6%, respdyg, of our total revenues.

Sales, Marketing, and Distribution

We believe SENSUS will be attractive to endocrigidts, podiatrists, and primary care physicians @he challenged with
trying to manage pain in their patients with diasefThe prevalence of PDN suggests that thersigndicant market for
SENSUS in the United States. Our goal is to devblopd national coverage during 2014. We also belieat there are
international market opportunities, particularlyfinrope and Japan. SENSUS distribution is managedibcorporate office.

In late 2011, we launched NC-stat DPNCheck intolth@ged States market for endocrinology and pogjdtilowed by
market evaluations and/or sales efforts in printamng, retail health, and managed care.
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While we believe that all of these segments holemttal, we have narrowed our focus to managed eae specifically
Medicare Advantage providers and patient screesgémgices, which we believe represent an attracgpgortunity. We also
believe that there are attractive internationalkegopportunities, particularly in Japan, China Middle East and Mexico. We
are addressing the domestic opportunity using catpdevel resources and we are working througtniigors to address
international opportunities.

Our installed base of ADVANCE accounts is suppoligaur customer service department. We are notedgtpursuing
new ADVANCE customers. Interest expressed in neWwARCE systems by potential customers is handledunycustomer
service department and our marketing departmetetriationally, ADVANCE sales and account suppohasdled by our
network of independent distributors.

Our marketing support for SENSUS, NC-stat DPNChaudk ADVANCE is provided by our Senior Vice Presiteh
Commercial Operations and staff in our corporafeef

We invest significant effort and expense in techhiclinical, and business practices training for commercial operations
team, marketing staff and independent sales repi@sees. We also require attendance at periodiés smd product training
programs. Promotion and sales of medical devicesighly regulated not only by the FDA, but alsothg U.S. Centers for
Medicare and Medicaid Services, or CMS, and théc®f Inspector General, or OIG, and, outsideUhded States, by other
international bodies, and are subject to federdlsaate fraud and abuse enforcement activities:-SeeDA and other
Governmental Regulation” below.

Manufacturing and Supply

We perform final assembly and servicing of our SEX$Sand NC-stat DPNCheck devices at our corporadddugarters
facility. We rely on an outside contractor for tin@nufacture and servicing of our ADVANCE device afgb for the
components that we use in the buildup for SENSUSN@-stat DPNCheck. We rely on outside contracimrshe manufacture
of our consumable biosensor/electrodes. With thejgxon of the biosensors for use with our NC-BfalNCheck devices,
which we acquire from two manufacturers, we doawtently maintain alternative manufacturing sosrfm@ our SENSUS,
NC-stat DPNCheck or ADVANCE devices, communicatias, biosensors/electrodes, or any other finigfoedls products.
In outsourcing, we target companies that meet AD#&rnational Organization for Standardization|®®, and other quality
standards supported by internal policies and pnareesd Supplier performance is maintained and mah#geugh a corrective
action program ensuring all product requiremengsnaget or exceeded. Following the receipt of prosloctproduct components
from our third-party manufacturers, we conductriBeessary inspection, final assembly, kitting, pgakg, and labeling at our
corporate headquarters facility. We believe theaaufacturing relationships minimize our capitalestment, provide us with
manufacturing expertise, and help control costs.

Sunburst EMS, Inc., or Sunburst, has been manufagtour NC-stat devices since November 2005. Wered into a
supply agreement with Sunburst during 2006 fomtlamufacturing and supply of our neurodiagnostidaiss Sunburst
manufactures the current generation of our ADVAN{&lice as well as the NC-stat DPNCheck and SENSIB&ssemblies at
a facility in Massachusetts.

Polymer Flexible Circuits, Inc., or Parlex, hasiesanufacturing our nerve specific electrodes searty 1999. In 2011
Parlex began manufacturing the NC-stat DPNChec&dpisors. In August 2006, we entered into a manufagtand supply
agreement with Parlex pursuant to which Parlex mvdhufacture and supply to us, and we will purcliesa Parlex, at agreed
upon prices per unit, our requirements of nervalaction testing electrodes for resale in the Ungates. Under the
agreement, Parlex has agreed not to manufacturgaes to be used to measure nerve conducticemfoother company
during the term of the agreement and, in some césea period of one year thereafter. This agregmal continue
indefinitely until terminated by either party upnat less than 18 months prior written notice todtteer party. Parlex
manufactures our electrodes at a facility in Malsgaetts and also has the ability to perform cem@nufacturing steps for our
electrodes at a second site located in the Unitaddom.
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Katecho, Inc., or Katecho, a full service origieguipment manufacturer, or OEM, specializing in io&ldand cosmetic
devices manufactures biosensors for use with oustd€CDPNCheck devices and electrodes for useauttSENSUS devices
under normal commercial terms contained in our lpase orders. Katecho manufactures electrodesfatilisy in lowa.

We and our third-party manufacturers are registeiigiithe FDA and subject to compliance with FDAatjty system
regulations. We are also ISO registered and undeegoent quality system audits by European agen€er ADVANCE
System and NC-stat DPNCheck are cleared for magketithin the United States, Canada, and the E@mopmion. In
addition, our SENSUS Pain Management System isedifar marketing in the United States. Our fagil# subject to periodic
inspections by regulatory authorities, and may vgaeompliance inspections conducted by the FDA@mtesponding state
agencies. As a registered device manufacturer, Wemndergo regularly scheduled FDA quality systerspections. However,
additional FDA inspections may occur if deemed seaey by the FDA.

Research and Development

We believe that we have research and developm&id)Rapability that is unique to the industry. Keyembers of our
R&D management team have worked together for owkrcade. This team includes the extensive involvemeour founder
and Chief Executive Officer who holds both M.D. @lD. degrees. The R&D group consists of 11 peapdéuding one who
holds an M.D. degree and three who hold Ph.D. @sgfEhe group has extensive experience in neurapbgyg, biomedical
instrumentation, signal processing, biomedical sensand information systems. The R&D group wotksely with our
marketing group and our customers to design newnastified products that are focused on improvingical outcomes. Our
clinical programs are led by our Chief Executivdi€z, Shai N. Gozani, M.D., Ph.D.

Our research and development efforts are priméodysed in the following areas:

« Enhancements to the SENSUS pain management ¢ We are developing a second generation versi@8EdfSUS
that will have a lower profile and features to emd®patient use. We believe there is a market opipity for a non-
prescription, over-theounter version of SENSUS and we have a developpregtam underway for this product. Ré
initiatives to modify the core SENSUS technology dpplication in adjacent disease states are icdheeptual stages
of development.

e Oversee our support to clinical studies that emmloy NC-stat DPNCheck and SENSUS produdfge presently are
involved in seven studies that use NC-stat DPNCliretthe evaluation of neuropathy in persons witibdies under
various study conditions. Also, we are planningoxgs SENSUS clinical studies to support our marigetind business
plans. These studies will expand the clinical fatiah for use of NC-stat DPNCheck and SENSUS whithyrn,
should support future adoption of these products.

In addition to these core areas of research andlal@wment focus, we are also exploring additionalichl applications
within the diagnosis and treatment of diabetic npathy for our core technology and expertise.

Research and development expenses were approxyridtdl million, $3.5 million, and $3.9 million fdhe years ended
December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, respectively.

Clinical Programs

We maintain a clinical program under the directidour Chief Executive Officer, Shai N. Gozani, M.Ph.D. Our clinical
programs are comprised of internal, collaboratare] external clinical studies. Internal clinicaldies are designed and
implemented directly by us for the purposes of pmdlesign and early clinical validation. Collaltora studies are conducted
together with leading researchers around the worfitovide clinical validation and to explore tHmical utility of our
products. External studies are entirely independéus, although in many cases the researchergsequarestricted grants for
financial and/or material support, such as for deviand consumables. External studies may examénginical performance
and utility of our products or our products mayused as outcomes measures.
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We actively seek to publish our clinical study f&sin leading peer-reviewed journals while alsearraging our clinical
collaborators and clinical study grant recipientsio the same.

Following is a list of external studies involvingetuse of our products which are currently underway

Institution Initiated Study Focus Product Duration Subjects
Ipswich Diabetes Centre, Fall 2011  Evaluation of small fiber NC-stat 4 years 400
Ipswich Hospital (UK) neuropathy in patients with  DPNCheck
diabetes
Royal Hallamshire Hospital Mid 2012  Evaluation of DPN based ¢ NC-stat 3 years 120
University of Sheffield severity of diabetes DPNCheck
(UK)
Joslin Diabetes Center Mid 2012  Effect of weight loss on NC-stat 3 years 50
DPN DPNCheck
Institute for Clinical Mid 2012  Assessment of DPNCheck  NC-stat 3 year 200
Diabetology, Heinrich in newly diagnosed Type 2 DPNCheck
Heine University diabetes patients
Department of Diabetes, Fall 2012  Comparison of DPNCheck  NC-stat 1 year 100
Poole Hospital (UK) with Vibratory Perception = DPNCheck
Testing
Institute for Clinical Early 2013 Assessment of DPNCheck  NC-stat 2 years 700
Diabetology, Heinrich in an elderly population DPNCheck
Heine University
First Vitals Health Early 2013 Effect of aggressive NC-stat 3 years 600

intervention on foot disease DPNCheck
for high risk patients

Competition

With respect to SENSUS, there are numerous manurgastof transcutaneous electrical nerve stimuladievices. We
believe that the largest such company is Empi,Wiiich is part of DJO Incorporated. We further bedi that most of the
current manufacturers are focused on low back gaiorts medicine, and rehabilitation rather thafPBMN. As a result, we are
not aware of any devices that are uniquely optichioe use in treating PDN. There are a few compatiiat claim that their
devices have specific utility for PDN; however, de not believe that these claims have been widaligated through adequate
clinical studies.

Other than NC-stat DPNCheck, we believe that tieoairrently no objective and standardized tesDBN widely
available at the point-of-care. The American DialeAssociation, or ADA, and other organization®nemend at least annual
evaluation of all people with diabetes for DPN. Doeost and availability, this screen is typicgirformed with a simple
(5.07/10g) monofilament. This subjective methodtifees late stage neuropathy where interventiageiserally limited to foot
care. Experts in the field have indicated thatdhera large unmet need for a practical, objectwne, sensitive test for diabetic
neuropathy that can be widely deployed in the rgeéire of all people with diabetes. Monofilamgbt§7/10g) are a
commodity sold by a number of medical supply congsn

There are several companies that sell neurodiaigrestices that compete with our ADVANCE Systeme3é companies
include Cadwell Laboratories, Inc. and Natus Meldiceorporated. Natus Medical Incorporated has wutiiglly greater
financial resources than we do. Natus Medical Ipomated and Cadwell Laboratories, Inc. have esfaddi reputations as
having effective worldwide distribution channels foedical instruments to neurologists and PM&R jtigas.
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Intellectual Property

We rely on a combination of patents, trademarkgyrights, trade secrets, and other intellectuaperty laws,
nondisclosure agreements and other measures &cpoatr proprietary technology, intellectual prdpeights, and know-how.
We hold issued utility patents covering a numbeingdortant aspects of our NC-stat, SENSUS, ADVAN@#EG NC-stat
DPNCheck products. We believe that in order to leaeempetitive advantage, we must develop and miaithe proprietary
aspects of our technologies. We also require oyl@raes, consultants and advisors, whom we expegbtk on our products,
to agree to disclose and assign to us all inveatgamceived, developed using our property, or whétiite to our business.
Despite any measures taken to protect our intelié@roperty, unauthorized parties may attempofyaspects of our products
or to obtain and use information that we regargragprietary.

Patents

As of December 31, 2013, we had 38 issued U.Snfmtevo issued foreign patents, and 21 pendingnpapplications,
including eight U.S. applications, five internatad®CT applications, and eight foreign nationallaagions. We have filed a
utility patent application for NC-stat DPNCheck aambther utility patent application for SENSUS.

Our issued design patents begin to expire in 2848,our issued utility patents begin to expireG@i2 In particular, seven
of our issued U.S. utility patents covering vari@aspects of our current products will expire ongame date in 2017. Although
the patent protection for material aspects of aadpcts covered by the claims of the patents weilldst at that time, we have
additional patents and patent applications diretdemther novel inventions that will have patemtrte extending beyond 2017.

The medical device industry is characterized byetkistence of a large number of patents and freditigration based on
allegations of patent infringement. Patent litigatcan involve complex factual and legal questians its outcome is
uncertain. Any claim relating to infringement oft@ats that is successfully asserted against usretpyre us to pay substantial
damages. Even if we were to prevail, any litigattonld be costly and time-consuming and would ditkee attention of our
management and key personnel from our businesatigres. Our success will also depend in part ometiinfringing patents
issued to others, including our competitors an@pidél competitors. If our products are found tminge the patents of others,
our development, manufacture, and sale of thesnpat products could be severely restricted ohitnited. In addition, our
competitors may independently develop similar tedbgies. Because of the importance of our patertfgm to our business,
we may lose market share to our competitors if ailetd protect our intellectual property rights.

A patent infringement suit brought against us nagd us or any strategic partners or licenseew{o® delay developing,
manufacturing, or selling potential products that @aimed to infringe a third-party’s intellectymbperty, unless that party
grants us rights to use its intellectual propdriysuch cases, we may be required to obtain licettspatents or proprietary
rights of others in order to continue to commeiz@bur products. However, we may not be able tainkany licenses required
under any patents or proprietary rights of thirdtipa on acceptable terms, or at all. Even if weenable to obtain rights to the
third-party’s intellectual property, these rightayrbe non-exclusive, thereby giving our competitarsess to the same
intellectual property. Ultimately, we may be unatiecommercialize some of our potential productmay have to cease some
of our business operations as a result of patémmgement claims, which could severely harm ousibess.

Trademarks

We hold domestic registrations for the marks NEUREIRIX and NC-stat. We use a trademark for ADVANGE-stat
DPNCheck and SENSUS. We hold certain foreign trad&megistrations for the marks NEUROMETRIX and Ni@&t.

Third-Party Reimbursement

Procedures performed with our neurodiagnostic nadievices including ADVANCE and NC-stat DPNChecaynie paid
for by third-party payers, including government ltie@rograms, such as Medicare, and private insgramd managed care
organizations. The 2014 Physicians Fee Schedulished by CMS
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includes CPT 95905 for nerve conduction studiefopmed with pre-configured electrode arrays suchrasused with the NC-
stat DPNCheck device and the ADVANCE System.

We believe that physicians are generally receivaignbursement under CPT 95905 from Medicare fovenepnduction
studies performed for carpal tunnel syndrome upiegconfigured electrode arrays that meet the naédiecessity requirements
in their local Medicare region but that commeraisiurers are generally not providing reimbursem@eimbursement by third-
party payers is an important element of succesmémtical device companies. We do not foresee afisignt near-term
improvement in reimbursement for procedures peréarmvith ADVANCE and NC-stat DPNCheck.

In the United States, some insured individualsraceiving their medical care through managed cevgrams which
monitor and often require pre-approval of the sEgithat a member will receive. Some managed cagegms are paying their
providers on a per capita basis a predeterminedapayment per member which puts the providefimancial risk for the
services provided to their members. This is gehetiaé case under Medicare Advantage where comiaaisurers receive a
monthly capitated fee from CMS to provide all neszeg medical care to participating members. Thapéated fees are
adjusted under CMS'’s risk-adjustment model whiaksusealth status indicators, or risk scores, tarente adequacy of
payment. Members with higher risk codes generaitjuire more healthcare resources than those witbrlask codes. In turn,
the insurer fully absorbs the risk of patient heatire costs. Insurers may share a portion ofiskenith provider organizations
such as independent practice associations (IPAB)whom they contract to provide medical servigetheir members. Proper
assessment of each member’s health status andatecoding helps to assure that insurers recepitatian fees consistent
with the cost of treating these members. Nerve gotioh testing can provide valuable, early ideaéfion of neuropathy
leading to clinical interventions that can reduealth care costs. Also, these tests provide vaduaplut regarding each
member’s health risk status which can result inerappropriate capitated payments from CMS. We belikat the clinical and
economic proposition for NC-stat DPNCheck is attvacto Medicare Advantage insurers and risk begpirovider
organizations. We are focusing our sales effort\iGrstat DPNCheck on the Medicare Advantage managezimarket
segment.

We believe that the SENSUS pain management thetiafssstem is considered a durable medical equipfizME)
benefit and is reimbursed for chronic pain by Madéicand many commercial insurers under HCPCS cQ¥3& for the device
and under HCPCS code A4595 for the consumableretit. These pre-existing codes apply to DME btnefnploying
transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation equiime

We believe that the overall escalating cost of wadiroducts and services has led to, and willinaetto lead to, increased
pressures on the healthcare industry to reduceasts of products and services.

Our success in selling the NC-stat DPNCheck andSEBldevices and the ADVANCE System will depend yponong
other things, our customers receiving, and ourrgi@bcustomers' expectation that they will recesuéficient reimbursement or
patient capitated premium adjustments from thirtyppayers for procedures or therapies using thesgucts. See Item 1A,
“Risk Factors,™If health care providers are unable to obtain sci#nt reimbursement or other financial incentiiesm third-
party health care payers related to the use ofnoducts, the adoption of our products and our feitproduct sales will be
materially adversely affected.”

FDA and Other Governmental Regulation
FDA Regulation

Our products are medical devices subject to extensigulation by the FDA under the Federal Foodigpand Cosmetic
Act, or FDCA, and the regulations promulgated thader, as well as by other regulatory bodies irlth#ed States and
abroad. The FDA classifies medical devices into @intree classes on the basis of the amount lofissociated with the
medical device and the controls deemed necessaeasonably ensure their safety and effectiveness:

e Class I, requiring general controls, including liadgg device listing, reporting and, for some protiy adherence to go
manufacturing practices through the FDA’s qualitgtem regulations and pre-market notification;
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e Class Il, requiring general controls and spectatrols, which may include performance standandspost-market
surveillance; and

e Class lll, requiring general controls and pre-seamapproval, or PMA, which may include post-ap@lasonditions and
post-market surveillance.

Before being introduced into the market, our praslusust obtain market clearance or approval thrahgt510(k) pre-
market notification process, tle novareview process or the PMA process, unless theyifgdal an exemption from these
processes. See Item 1A, “Risk Factof@ye are subject to extensive regulation by the REtich could restrict the sales and
marketing of the NC-stat DPNCheck and SENSUS desité the ADVANCE System, as well as other prodoictshich we
may seek FDA clearance or approval, and could causst® incur significant costs.”

510(k) Pre-Market Natification Process

To obtain 510(k) clearance, we must submit a prekeianotification demonstrating that the proposedick is substantially
equivalent to a legally marketed Class | or Il nsatldevice or to a Class Il device marketed praokay 28, 1976 for which
the FDA has not required the submission of a PMpliagtion. In some cases, we may be required tfoparclinical trials to
support a claim of substantial equivalence. Ifichhtrials are required, we must submit an apglicefor an investigational
device exemption, or IDE, which must be clearedhgyFDA prior to the start of a clinical investigat, unless the device and
clinical investigation are considered non-significesk by the FDA or are exempt from the IDE regumients. It generally takes
three months from the date of the pre-market ratifon submission to obtain a final 510(k) decisiout it can be significantly
longer.

After a medical device receives 510(k) clearanng,raodification that could significantly affect gsfety or effectiveness,
or that would constitute a major change in itsnied use, requires the submission of a new 510¢kyance or could require
de novcclassification or PMA. The FDA allows each compamynake this determination, but the FDA can reviegvdecision.
If the FDA disagrees with a company’s decisiontocgeek FDA authorization, the FDA may requirecbmpany to seek 510
(k) clearance or PMA. The FDA also can requiredbmpany to cease marketing and/or recall the med@ace in question
until its regulatory status is resolved.

De Novo Review Process

If a previously unclassified new medical device slaet qualify for the 510(k) pre-market notificatiprocess because there
is no predicate device to which it is substantielpivalent, and if the device may be adequatejuleted through general
controls or special controls, the device may bgitdié forde novaclassification through what is called tte novaeview
process. In order to use te novareview process, a company must receive a letten thee FDA stating that, because the
device has been found not substantially equivadteatlegally marketed Class | or 1| medical deviceo a Class Il device
marketed prior to May 28, 1976 for which the FD/As mt required the submission of a PMA applicatibhas been placed
into Class lll. After receiving this letter, therapany, within 30 days, must submit to the FDA aue for a risk based down
classification of the device from Class Il to Gldsr Il based on the device’s moderate or low piofile which meets the
definition of a Class | or Class Il medical devigde FDA then has 60 days in which to decide wirdithdown classify the
device. If the FDA agrees that a lower classifimatis warranted, it will issue a new regulationatésng the device type and,
for a Class Il device, publish a Special Contral&lgnce document. The Special Controls guidancardent specifies the
scope of the device type and the recommendatiorsufimission of subsequent devices for the sareadetd use. If a product
is classified as Class Il through ttie novareview process, then that device may serve asdigate device for subsequent 510
(k) pre-market notifications.

PMA Process

If a medical device does not qualify for the 51Q¢kd-market notification process and is not eligitar clearance through
thede novareview process, a company must submit a PMA apicaThe PMA requires more extensive pre-filingtieg
than is required in the 510(k) and is more costiggthy and uncertain. The FDA will decide withis days of receiving a PMA
whether it is sufficiently complete to permit a stamtive review and if the PMA is complete, the FB# notify the applicant
that the PMA has been filed. The PMA
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process can take one to three years or longer, thertime the PMA application is filed with the FDBhe PMA process
requires the company to prove that the medicalodeigi safe and effective for its intended purpdsBMA typically includes
extensive pre-clinical and clinical trial data, anfbrmation about the device, its design, manufagtlabeling and components.
Before approving a PMA, the FDA generally also perfs an on-site inspection of manufacturing faesitfor the product to
ensure compliance with the FDA'’s quality systerrutation, or QSR.

If FDA approves the PMA, the approved indicatioresynbe more limited than those originally soughtadigition, FDA’s
approval order may include post-approval conditittag the FDA believes necessary to ensure théysaifel effectiveness of
the device, including, among other things, restitt on labeling, promotion, sale and distributao post-market study
requirements. Failure to comply with the post-appt@onditions can result in adverse enforcemeitdoninistrative actions,
including the withdrawal of the approval. Approwdla new PMA application or a PMA supplement maydxguired in the
event of modifications to the device, includingtilabeling, intended use or indication, or itsnuiacturing process that affect
safety and effectiveness.

Post-Approval Obligations
After a device is placed on the market, numerogsaletory requirements continue to apply. Theseuiel

« the FDA’s QSR, which requires manufacturers,udaig third-party manufacturers, to follow string€esign, testing,
control, documentation and other good manufactusiiegtice and quality assurance procedures dulimgpects of the
manufacturing process;

< labeling regulations and FDA prohibitions agaitit promotion of products for uncleared or unappdouses (known
as off-label uses), as well as requirements toigeoadequate information on both risks and benefits

« medical device reporting regulations, which reguhat manufacturers report to FDA any device thay have caused
or contributed to a death or serious injury or mmattioned in a way that would likely cause or cimite to a death or
serious injury if the malfunction were to recur;

e correction and removal reporting regulations,shhiequire that manufacturers report to the FDAlferrections and
device recalls or removals if undertaken to redudsk to health posed by the device or to remedgplation of the
FDCA caused by the device which may present atoigiealth;

* post-market surveillance regulations, which agplglass Il or 11l devices if the FDA has issuegdast-market
surveillance order and the failure of the devicelldde reasonably likely to have serious adversdtineonsequences,
the device is expected to have significant uséénpiediatric population, the device is intendeddgamplanted in the
human body for more than one year, or the deviggénded to be used to support or sustain lifetarize used outside
a user facility;

« regular and for cause inspections by FDA to revdenvanufacturer's facilities and their compliancthvaipplicable FD/
requirements; and

« the FDA's recall authority, whereby it can askpoder, device manufacturers to recall from thekeba product that is
in violation of applicable laws and regulations.

Regulatory Approvals and Clearances

The ADVANCE System received 510(k) clearance asaa<dl medical device in April 2008 for its intesdiuse by
physicians to perform nerve conduction studiesraetle electromyography procedures.

The NC-stat System is also a Class Il medical deaitd has been the subject of several 510(k) cleasathe most recent
in July 2006 (K060584). The NC-stat System is @ddbpr use to stimulate and measure neuromusagtaals that are useful in
diagnosing and evaluating systemic and entrapmamnbpathies. We believe our NC-stat DPNCheck desgiegtechnical
modification to the 510(k) cleared NC-stat deviod has the same intended use, and therefore doesismsafety or
effectiveness questions.
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Under the FDA's published guidance on 510(k) rezmaients for modified devices, we do not believe $ha10(k) submission
is required for NC-stat DPNCheck.

As a transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulater SENSUS pain therapy device is a Class Il medieaice which received
510(k) clearance from the FDA in August 2012. InvBimber 2012, the FDA provided 510(k) clearanceterdisposable
electrode used in conjunction with the SENSUS dgwvand in July 2013, the FDA provided 510(k) cleagafor the use of
SENSUS during sleep. The intended use of the SEN&litSmanagement therapeutic system is the sympimnetief and
management of chronic intractable pain.

Manufacturing Facilities

Our facility, and the facility utilized by Sunburstur contract device manufacturer, have each lmegrected by FDA in the
past, and observations were noted. There werendmfis that involved a significant violation of tégtory requirements. The
responses to these observations have been actsptieel FDA and we believe that we and our contreamhufacturer are in
substantial compliance with the QSR. We expectdhafacility will be inspected again as requirgdtbe FDA. If the FDA
finds significant violations, we could be subjezfines, recalls, requirements to halt manufactyror other administrative or
judicial sanctions.

U.S. Anti-Kickback and False Claims Laws

In the United States, the federal Anti-KickbacktBta, as well as numerous state anti-kickback lanahibit the offer,
payment, solicitation or receipt of kickbacks, lestor other remuneration, whether direct or indjreeert or covert, in cash or
in kind, intended, among other things, to induaghrchase or recommendation of healthcare prodnctservices. While the
federal law applies only to products and servicesvhich payment may be made by a federal heakhgargram, the state laws
may apply regardless of whether any public heafthands are involved. Violations of these laws k& to severe civil and
criminal penalties, including exclusion from paipition in federal healthcare programs. These mwspotentially applicable
to manufacturers of medical devices, such as wbst@hospitals, physicians and other potential pasers of our products.

Also, the federal False Claims Act, as well as mstaye false claims statutes, provides civil amghical penalties for
presenting, or causing to be presented, to thirtgeayers for reimbursement, claims that are fatsaudulent, or which are
for items or services that were not provided asredd. Under the federal False Claims Act, in additio actions initiated by
federal law enforcement authorities, the statuteaizes “qui tam” actions to be brought on belodlthe federal government
by a private party in certain circumstances anguifcessful, that private party can share in anyetawy recovery. Any
challenge by federal or state enforcement offiaialsthers under these laws, could have a matmizdrse effect on our
business, financial condition, and results of opens.

Legacy Neurodiagnostics Business

We were founded in 1996 as a science-based heakthcompany. Our focus had been the developmeénhovative
products for the detection, diagnosis, and momitpdf peripheral nerve and spinal cord disordershss those associated with
carpal tunnel syndrome, lumbosacral disc diseadespimal stenosis, and diabetes. Our NC-stat Sykiethe performance of
nerve conduction studies at the point-of-care vaasroercially launched in 1999. The second generdiGrstat was released
in 2002. In 2008, we brought to market the morensijgated ADVANCE System for nerve conductionitegtand
performance of invasive needle electromyographgsétsystems were general purpose with broad apptida evaluating and
diagnosing nerve disorders. Numerous studies demaing the clinical accuracy and utility of thedevices have been
conducted and published in high quality peer-reeiéyournals. Furthermore, these devices have bssthin FDA sanctioned
clinical trials for pharmacological agents and éasgale epidemiological studies sponsored by tihe Renter for Disease
Control, or CDC, and other governmental agencies. groducts have been cleared by the FDA, fielgkdefor over a decade
and highly regarded for their ease of use, accuaacyreproducibility of results.

Following launch of NC-stat in 1999, we experiencapid revenue growth, which led to our initial ialffering in 2004.
The health market, particularly the physician @fgegment, embraced the opportunity to performeneonduction tests which
previously had always required referral to spesigliPoint-of-care nerve testing was seen to peoaidombination of improved
patient care and patient convenience. The
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success of point-of-care nerve testing, a markéthwive created, was met with resistance in som@seaf the medical
community, particularly by neurologists and phykio&dicine and rehabilitation physicians, both diieth had traditionally
provided nerve testing services. As a consequehsgcaessful lobbying by these specialists, phgsigiusing our technology
experienced increased denials of coverage by garty payers resulting in their discontinuing usagd our difficulty in
accruing new customer accounts. In late 2009 CMidted in the Physician Fee Schedule a new CatddoRT Code, CPT
95905, for nerve conduction studies performed upiegonfigured electrode such as those employddout products. During
2010 most Medicare fiscal intermediaries assumeédrege for CPT 95905 for at least some clinicalcations; however, the
health care environment has been such that webieue unable to secure broad coverage among ppeg&'s, which is
essential to the success of our ADVANCE System gpebdrhis experience was reflected in our reverioethe legacy
Neurodiagnostics business, which peaked in 2086%8 million. We reported revenue for our legagubbdiagnostics
business of $3.8 million, $6.1 million, and $10.8lion for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2@h#,2011, respectively.

As we managed our general purpose neurodiagnastiodss to improve reimbursement and minimize costa@rosion,
we increasingly became aware of the unmet medued for improved diagnostic tools and therapighénspecific area of
diabetic neuropathy, or nerve damage caused bgwdiabDiabetes care is one of the faster growingpeeof health care as
discussed above. We believe that our tools an@pies for addressing diabetic neuropathy repressignificant market
opportunity. Consequently, in January 2011 we anped a shift to diabetes care as our primary basifaxus. We also
restructured our neurodiagnostics business to ¢idase functions and to eliminate our direct sdt@se. We emphasized our
commitment to supporting our neurodiagnostic préslaad installed base of physician accounts. Ojactise for our legacy
neurodiagnostics business is to maintain a highdsta of product support while managing the busine®ptimize cash flow.

Employees

As of December 31, 2013, we had a total of 30tfle employees. Of these employees, 11 were irarelsend
development, seven in sales and marketing, fiygaaluction/distribution, and seven in general aththiaistrative services.
One employee holds both M.D. and Ph.D. degreesaddiional employee holds an M.D. degree, andethdditional
employees hold Ph.D. degrees.

Our employees are not represented by a labor wardrare not subject to a collective bargaining egent. We have never
experienced a work stoppage. We believe that we bawd relations with our employees.

Available Information

Access to our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quart&&ports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form &i€,
amendments to these reports filed with or furnisioetthe Securities and Exchange Commission, or Sy, be obtained
through the Investor Relations section of our weebatwww.neurometrix.com/investas soon as reasonably practical after we
electronically file or furnish these reports. Wert charge for access to and viewing of thesertepimformation on our
Investor Relations page and on our website is adtqf this Annual Report on Form 10-K or any of other securities filings
unless specifically incorporated herein by refeeertin addition, the public may read and copy anyemias that we file with the
SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100de&tNE, Washington, D.C. 20549. The public mayivbinformation on
the operation of the Public Reference Room bymglihe SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. Also, our filingdwiite SEC may be
accessed through the SEC’s websitenatv.sec.govAll statements made in any of our securities fiingcluding all forward-
looking statements or information, are made as@fdate of the document in which the statememtdisidled, and we do not
assume or undertake any obligation to update atlyose statements or documents unless we are eddoido so by law.

Corporate Information

NeuroMetrix was founded in June 1996 by our Pregidad Chief Executive Officer, Shai N. Gozani, M.Bh.D. We
originally were incorporated in Massachusetts ii6,%nd we reincorporated in Delaware in 2001. @uncipal offices are
located at 62 Fourth Avenue, Waltham, Massachue2#51.

15




TABLE OF CONTENTS

ITEM 1A. Risk Factors

You should carefully consider the following riskelall other information contained in this Annuagort on Form 10-K
and our other public filings before making any istvaent decisions with respect to our common stbeky of the following
risks occurs, our business, prospects, reputatiesilts of operations, or financial condition coddd harmed. In that case, the
trading price of our common stock could declined anr stockholders could lose all or part of thigivestment. This Annual
Report also contains forward-looking statements theolve risks and uncertainties. Our actual réswould differ materially
from those anticipated in the forward-looking statnts as a result of specific factors, including tisks described below and
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

We have incurred significant operating losses sirineeption and cannot assure you that we will againhieve profitability.

We have incurred significant cumulative net lossiase our inception. Our net losses for the yeaded December 31,
2013, 2012, and 2011 were approximately $8.0 miJli&10.0 million, and $10.0 million, respectivelgflecting a decline in
revenues. At December 31, 2013, we had an accuedutigficit of approximately $146.6 million. The emt of our future
operating income or losses is highly uncertain, wad:annot assure you that we will be able to aghtg maintain profitability.

We will be required to raise additional funds tanfince our operations and remain a going concern; way not be able to do
so when necessary, and/or the terms of any finamsmmay not be advantageous to us.

We held cash and cash equivalents of $9.2 milloofédDecember 31, 2013. We believe that these ressand the cash to
be generated from expected product sales will Hecwnt to meet our projected operating requiretaghrough the first quarter
of 2015. We continue to face significant challenged uncertainties and, as a result, our availzdghéal resources may be
consumed more rapidly than currently expected dya)tdecreases in sales of our products and tbertainty of future
revenues from new products; (b) changes we may taatkes business that affect ongoing operating esg® (c) changes we
may make in our business strategy; (d) regulatemetbpments affecting our existing products anayeln the FDA approval
process for products under development; (e) chaingasr research and development spending plamk(fanther items
affecting our forecasted level of expenditures asel of cash resources. Accordingly, we will neerhtse additional funds to
support our operating and capital needs for thersgquarter of 2015 and beyond. We may attempbtaiio additional funding
through public or private financing, collaborat@eangements with strategic partners, or througtitiadal credit lines or other
debt financing sources to increase the funds adeika fund operations. However, we may not be &hbecure such financing
in a timely manner or on favorable terms, if at Blirthermore, if we issue equity or debt secgiteeraise additional funds, our
existing stockholders may experience dilution, erelnew equity or debt securities may have righrsferences and privileges
senior to those of our existing stockholders. Ifraise additional funds through collaboration, tisieg or other similar
arrangements, it may be necessary to relinquisiabéd rights to our potential products or proprgtachnologies, or grant
licenses on terms that are not favorable to ushd\it additional funds, we may be forced to delaglesback or eliminate some
of our sales and marketing efforts, research amdldpment activities, or other operations and piréiy delay product
development in an effort to provide sufficient ferd continue our operations. If any of these exenturs, our ability to
achieve our development and commercialization goaldd be adversely affected.

We are focused on the treatment of the neurologicamplications of diabetes. We cannot assure yaat thve will be
successful in this field or that our current commaial products for diabetes care, NC-stat DPNChedalde&SENSUS, or the
product candidates in our development pipeline,vaié successful.

We are focused on the treatment of the neurologimalplications of diabetes. Our initial diabetesegaroduct, NC-stat
DPNCheck, which was launched in late 2011, is f &asurate, and quantitative nerve conductionftestystemic
neuropathies, such as DPN. In January 2013, well@mthSENSUS, our pain management therapeutic diaricelief of
chronic, intractable pain including pain associatétth diabetic neuropathy. We also have other peodandidates addressing
diabetes care in our development pipeline. Our
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future prospects are closely tied to our succesis auir NC-stat DPNCheck and SENSUS devices whittyrin, depends upon
market acceptance and growth in future revenuescaliaot assure you that our diabetes care stratedyding the sales and
marketing of our current products and the commézeiion of other product candidates in our devaiept pipeline, will be
successful. If our diabetes care strategy is notessful, it could materially affect our revenued eesults of operations.

Our future success could be adversely affectedrnyngber of factors, including:

< inability to secure broad, national distributimn SENSUS among DME suppliers;

< inability to increase adoption of NC-stat DPNCk&dthin the Medicare Advantage market;

e decreased rates of patient visits to physicians;

< unfavorable changes to current Medicare and caciaigayer payment policies;

« implementation of the Patient Protection and Adftble Care Act and consequent changes to payizigs!

< unfavorable experiences by patients and physasmg SENSUS and our other commercially availpbdelucts; and
< physicians’ reluctance to alter their existinggiices and adopt the use of our devices.

If we are unable to expand exposure and penetratmarket for NC-stat DPNCheck and SENSUS, ouitald increase
our revenues will be limited and our business peotpwill be adversely affected.

We currently rely on sales of the products that qomse the ADVANCE System to generate a substamiaition of our
revenues. Any factors that negatively impact outesaof these products could significantly reducera@bility to generate
revenues.

We launched the ADVANCE System, our sophisticatedy& conduction testing system, in June 2008. liyéears ended
December 31, 2013 and 2012, 72% and 81%, resphgtofeour total revenue was attributed to the ADNBE System. We
continue to derive a substantial portion of ourerayes from sales of the products that comprisesttatem, particularly from
electrodes. We expect that sales of ADVANCE Syspenducts will constitute about half of our salesinig 2014.
Accordingly, our ability to generate revenues ia finort-term is dependent on our ability to madket sell the products that
comprise the ADVANCE System, particularly electred®ur sales of these products may be negativgiadted by many
factors, including:

e changes in reimbursement rates or policies rejat our products by third-party payers;

e manufacturing problems;

e claims that our products infringe on patent righit other intellectual property rights owned blyestparties;
< adverse regulatory or legal actions relatinguoproducts; and

« clinical trial results relating to our productsaur competitors’ products.

If any of these events occurs, our ability to gateerevenues from the ADVANCE System could be ficamtly reduced.

If health care providers are unable to obtain suffent reimbursement or adjustment to capitated piam payments from
third-party health care payers related to the udeoar products, the adoption of our products and oluture product sales
will be materially adversely affected.

Widespread adoption of our products by the medioaimunity is unlikely to occur without a financiatentive from third-
party payers for the use of these products. Ifthezlre providers are unable to obtain adequatebrgisement for procedures
performed using our products, if managed care dzgtons do not receive improved capitated paymeuaésto more accurate
patient risk assessment using our products, aDMIE suppliers are not adequately reimbursed fopltipg our therapeutic
products, we may be unable to
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sell our products at levels that are sufficierdifow us to achieve and maintain profitability, amgd business would suffer
significantly. Additionally, even if these produasd procedures are adequately reimbursed by plairy- payers today, adverse
changes in payers future policies toward paymentldvbarm our ability to market and sell our produdthird-party payers
include those governmental programs such as Medaad Medicaid, private health insurers, workeoshpensation programs
and other organizations.

Future regulatory action by CMS or other governrakagencies or negative clinical results may disfineimbursement
payments to physicians for performing procedurésgusur products. Medicaid reimbursement diffemsirstate to state, and
some state Medicaid programs may not cover theepitoes performed with our products or pay physgceamadequate amount
for performing those procedures, if at all. Additidly, some private payers do not follow the Medicguidelines and may
reimburse for only a portion of these proceduresatrat all. We are unable to predict what changése made in the
reimbursement methods used by private or goverrahtritd-party payers. Importantly, we cannot petetle effects that
implementation of the Patient Protection and Afedolé Care Act will have on CMS, commercial insuréesalth care
providers, and ultimately on our business.

Healthcare reform legislation could adversely aftequr future revenues.

Our future revenues will be impacted by the CMSdble Medical Equipment, Prosthetics, Orthotics Sndplies
(DMEPOS) Competitive Bidding Program. Under thiegmam, Medicare will no longer reimburse supplierscertain
products and services, including transcutaneoudrilal nerve stimulation (TENS), based on the Madk fee schedule
amount. Instead CMS will provide reimbursementtfarse products and services based on a compdiitidgéng process. Our
SENSUS pain management system is presently clegsifithin TENS. The DMEPOS Competitive Bidding Parg will likely
require us to sell SENSUS devices and related enables subject to Medicare reimbursement at sianifly lower prices
which would have a material adverse effect on SESIgtbfitability. In those regions of the countryeve DMEPOS
Competitive Bidding was recently implemented inuky 2014, low Medicare pricing is restricting @lnility to sell SENSUS.
As the DMEPOS program is expanded to other reg@sanilar effect will likely be seen. The uniqueguct features of
SENSUS may provide an opportunity, which we intemgursue, to segregate SENSUS from the genericSTéategory. If
successful, this could lessen the negative impddMEPOS competitive bidding on SENSUS Medicarentmirsement.

We are subject to extensive regulation by the FDAieh could restrict the sales and marketing of theC-stat DPNCheck
and SENSUS devices and the ADVANCE System as vwgetither products for which we may seek FDA cleararar
approval, and could cause us to incur significansts.

We sell medical devices that are subject to extensigulation in the United States by the FDA wébard to
manufacturing, labeling, sale, promotion, distribnf shipping and ongoing monitoring and follow-Before a new medical
device, or a new use of or claim for an existingdurct, can be marketed in the United States, it imss be cleared or
approved by the FDA. Medical devices may be martketdy for the indications for which they are apged or cleared. The
regulatory review process can be expensive andignghe FDA'’s process for granting 510(k) cleatypically takes
approximately three to six months, but it can lgmidicantly longer. The process for obtaining a-prarket approval, or PMA,
is much more costly and onerous. By law, the tireoa designated for the FDA's review of a PMA &)1days; however, this
time is often extended and it is not uncommon lierPMA review process to take three years or lofrgen the time the
application is filed with the FDA.

The FDA may remove our devices from the marketnjoia them from commercial distribution if safety effectiveness
problems develop. Further, we may not be able tainladditional 510(k) clearances or pre-marketaygs for new products
or for modifications to, or additional indicatiofa, our existing products in a timely fashion,atrall. Delays in obtaining
future clearances or approvals would adverselycaffar ability to introduce new or enhanced producta timely manner,
which in turn would harm our revenue and futurefipmbility. We have made modifications to our deddn the past and may
make additional modifications in the future thatbetieve do not or will not require additional al@aces or approvals. If the
FDA disagrees, and requires new clearances or ealgrfor the modifications, we may be requireddcall and to stop
marketing the modified devices. If any of thesergs@ccurs or if the FDA
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takes other enforcement actions, we may not betaldeovide our customers with the products thepine on a timely basis,
our reputation could be harmed, and we could lastomers and suffer reduced revenues and increasésl

We also are subject to numerous post-marketingamgy requirements, including the FDA'’s qualityssym regulations,
which relate to the design, manufacture, packadaimgling, storage, installation and servicing of products, labeling
regulations, medical device reporting regulationd eorrection and removal reporting regulationst failure or the failure by
any manufacturer of our products to comply withlaggble regulatory requirements could result inoeoément action by the
FDA. FDA enforcement actions relating to post-mérigeregulatory requirements or other issues, iicig any issues arising
from the not substantially equivalent letter ddsedi above, may include any of the following:

e warning letters, untitled letters, fines, injuocis, product seizures, consent decrees and @wlgies;
e requiring repair, replacement, refunds, custonmtifications or recall of our products;
e imposing operating restrictions, suspension atdtwn of production;

« refusing our requests for 510(k) clearance or PAp@roval of new products, new intended uses, dlifigations to
existing products;

e requesting voluntary rescission of 510(k) cleaesmnor withdrawing PMA approvals that have alrelagign granted; and
e criminal prosecution.
If any of these events were to occur, they couldnhaur reputation, our ability to generate reverares our profitability.

Also, from time to time, legislation is introducegdo Congress that could significantly change tia¢usory provisions
governing the approval, manufacturing and marketingedical devices. FDA regulations and guidarreeadten revised or
reinterpreted by the agency in ways that may Sicamtly affect our business and our products. itnigossible to predict
whether legislative changes will be enacted, or FBgulations, guidance or interpretations changed,what the impact of
such changes, if any, may be. The FDA has pubditelied that it is reevaluating its longstanding(klL@eview program. It is
not clear when the program will be modified and tdféect the modified review process will have amr ability to bring our
product candidates to market.

We depend on several single source manufacturerprtmduce our products. Any material adverse changesur
relationships with these manufacturers could prevars from delivering products to our customers irtimely manner and
may adversely impact our future revenues or costs.

We rely on third-party manufacturers to manufactiomponents of our NC-stat DPNCheck and SENSU®s)sstand to
fully manufacture the ADVANCE system. In the evérat our manufacturers cease to manufacture seificjuantities of our
products or components in a timely manner and ongecceptable to us, we would be forced to loakiéenate manufacturers.
Additionally, if our manufacturers experience dueé in their production process, are unable taiobs$ufficient quantities of
the components necessary to manufacture our pmducitherwise fail to meet our quality requirensemte may be forced to
delay the manufacture and sale of our productsaaté an alternative manufacturer. We may be uniabtEate suitable
alternative manufacturers for our products or congmds for which the manufacturing process is nedfitispecialized, on terms
acceptable to us, or at all. We have a manufagjuimd supply agreement with Parlex Polymer Flex@iteuits, Inc. for the
manufacture of the biosensors for nerve condudéeting for our domestic market. Katecho, Inc. nfactures biosensors for
use with our NC-stat DPNCheck devices and manufestelectrodes for SENSUS, and Sunburst EMS, lacufiactures
electronic boards and other components of our MEBPNCheck and SENSUS products, which we asseanlaler corporate
headquarters facility to produce completed deviSesburst EMS, Inc. also manufactures our ADVANGEt&M monitors,
docking stations, and communication hubs.
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We have experienced transient inventory shortagesew products during the initial production rampahase. If any
materially adverse changes in our relationshiph thiese manufacturers occur, our ability to sujmpiycustomers will be
severely limited until we are able to engage agratite manufacturer or, if applicable, resolve gquglity issues with our
existing manufacturer. This situation could prevemfrom delivering products to our customers timeely manner, lead to
decreased sales or increased costs, or harm autatiem with our customers.

If our manufacturers are unable to supply us witmaadequate supply of products as we expand our negskwe could lose
customers, our potential future growth could be lited and our business could be harmed.

In order for us to successfully expand our busingtsin the United States and internationally, oantract manufacturers
must be able to provide us with substantial quiastivf our products in compliance with regulataguirements, in accordance
with agreed upon specifications, at acceptableaodton a timely basis. Our potential future growdghld strain the ability of
our manufacturers to deliver products and obtaiterads and components in sufficient quantitiesnifacturers often
experience difficulties in scaling up productiom¢luding problems with production yields and quatibntrol and assurance. If
we are unable to obtain sufficient quantities gfthquality products to meet customer demand omelyi basis, we could lose
customers, our growth may be limited and our bussre®uld be harmed.

If we or the manufacturers of our products fail toomply with the FDA’s quality system regulation,@lmanufacturing and
distribution of our products could be interrupte@nd our product sales and operating results couldfsr.

We and our contract manufacturers are requirednapty with the FDA’s quality system regulation, @SR, which is a
complex regulation that governs the proceduresdaedmentation of the design, testing, productiomtiol, quality assurance,
labeling, packaging, sterilization, storage angbgimg of our devices. The FDA enforces the QSRuf@hoperiodic inspections.
We cannot assure you that our facilities or thdifess of the manufacturers of our products wopdss any future inspection. If
our facilities or any of the facilities of the mdacturers of our products fail an inspection, thennfacturing or distribution of
our products could be interrupted and our operatiisrupted. Failure to take adequate and timelsective action in response
to an adverse inspection could result in a susparai shutdown of our packaging and labeling op@matand the operations of
the manufacturers of our products or a recall ofpyoducts, or other administrative or judicial s@ons. If any of these events
occurs, we may not be able to provide our customvéhsthe quantity of products they require onragly basis, our reputation
could be harmed, and we could lose customers difet seaduced revenues and increased costs.

Our products may be subject to recalls, even aftreiving FDA clearance or approval, which would i our reputation,
business and financial results.

We are subject to the medical device reporting legguns, which require us to report to the FDA uir gproducts may have
caused or contributed to a death or serious inurjpave malfunctioned in a way that would likebuse or contribute to a
death or serious injury if the malfunction wereotur. We are also subject to the correction antbral reporting regulations,
which require us to report to the FDA any fieldreations and device recalls or removals that weettalle to reduce a risk to
health posed by the device or to remedy a violatifoihe Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act, or BD€used by the device
which may present a risk to health. In additior, BDA and similar governmental agencies in othenties have the authority
to require the recall of our products if there i®asonable probability that the products wouldsesserious adverse health
consequences or death. A government-mandated wnteoy recall by us could occur as a result of nfiacturing defects,
labeling deficiencies, packaging defects or othéufes to comply with applicable regulations. Amegall would divert
management attention and financial resources amd bar reputation with customers and could haveatenal adverse effect
on our financial condition and results of operagion
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The success of our business depends upon our ghiditadvance our pipeline products to commerciatiaa.

In January 2011, we shifted our strategy to focudiabetes care, specifically unmet medical neeld¢ed to DPN which is
the most common complication of diabetes. Sinca,tive have advanced SENSUS and NC-stat DPNChealghrour
product development pipeline to the market and lae [ introduce improvements to SENSUS in futuzdqus. We expect
that advancing our pipeline products will requilgn&icant time and resources. We may not be sisfaks our
commercialization efforts for any of the produchdmlates currently in our pipeline and we may resbccessful in
developing, acquiring, or in-licensing additionabguct candidates, to the extent we decide to df e are not successful
advancing new products through our developmentipiehe regulatory process and commercial launahpusiness,
financial condition, and results of operations il adversely affected.

The patent rights we rely upon to protect the inégltual property underlying our products may not belequate, which could
enable third parties to use our technology and wadtlarm our ability to compete in the market.

Our success will depend in part on our ability éwelop or acquire commercially valuable patenttsgind to protect these
rights adequately. The risks and uncertaintieswheatace with respect to our patents and othetag@ldaghts include the
following:

* the pending patent applications we have filetbarhich we have exclusive rights may not resulsgued patents or
may take longer than we expect to result in isqetdnts;

« the claims of any patents that are issued maprmtide meaningful protection;

* we may not be able to develop additional proprietechnologies that are patentable;

» other parties may challenge patents, patent slainpatent applications licensed or issued t@nd,;
» other companies may design around technologieisave patented, licensed or developed.

We also may not be able to protect our patentsigffectively in some foreign countries. For a &riof reasons, we may
decide not to file for patent protection in the tedi States or in particular foreign countries. @atent rights underlying our
products may not be adequate, and our competitargstomers may design around our proprietary telciyes or
independently develop similar or alternative tedbgs or products that are equal or superior tat@chnology and products
without infringing on any of our patent rights.dddition, the patents licensed or issued to us moaprovide a competitive
advantage. If any of these events were to occurability to compete in the market would be harmed.

Other rights and measures we have taken to protaatintellectual property may not be adequate, wihiwould harm our
ability to compete in the market.

In addition to patents, we rely on a combinatiortrafle secrets, copyright and trademark laws, denfiality,
nondisclosure and assignment of invention agreesraamd other contractual provisions and technicalsuees to protect our
intellectual property rights. We rely on trade sgsito protect the technology and algorithms weiug@r customer data
processing and warehousing information system. &\ild currently require employees, consultants a@nelrdhird parties to
enter into confidentiality, non-disclosure or assigent of invention agreements or a combinationetbfewhere appropriate, any
of the following could still occur:

« the agreements may be breached or not enforcaganmticular jurisdiction;
¢ we may have inadequate remedies for any breach;
» trade secrets and other proprietary informatiouna be disclosed to our competitors; or

« others may independently develop substantialiyvedent proprietary information and techniquestirerwise gain
access to our trade secrets or disclose such teclies

If, for any of the above reasons, our intellectuaperty is disclosed or misappropriated, it wouwddm our ability to protect
our rights and our competitive position.
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We may need to initiate lawsuits to protect or emtf® our patents and other intellectual property htg, which could be
expensive and, if we lose, could cause us to lasaesof our intellectual property rights, which wadiharm our ability to
compete in the market.

We rely on patents to protect a portion of ourllatgual property and our competitive position.dprataw relating to the
scope of claims in the technology fields in whicé eperate is still evolving and, consequently, piap@sitions in the medical
device industry are generally uncertain. In ordgprbtect or enforce our patent rights, we mayatetpatent litigation against
third parties, such as infringement suits or iegfice proceedings. Litigation may be necessary to:

e assert claims of infringement;

« enforce our patents;

e protect our trade secrets or know-how; or

- determine the enforceability, scope and validityhe proprietary rights of others.

Any lawsuits that we initiate could be expensiadet significant time and divert management’s aitb@rfrom other
business concerns. Litigation also puts our pat&ntisk of being invalidated or interpreted narlpand our patent applications
at risk of not issuing. Additionally, we may prowthird parties to assert claims against us. We moayprevail in any lawsuits
that we initiate and the damages or other remediesded, if any, may not be commercially valuablee occurrence of any of
these events could harm our business, our abilippmpete in the market or our reputation.

Claims that our products infringe on the proprietarights of others could adversely affect our abjlito sell our products
and increase our costs.

Substantial litigation over intellectual properights exists in the medical device industry. Weestghat our products
could be increasingly subject to third-party infrsament claims as the number of competitors growlslaa functionality of
products and technology in different industry segta@verlap. Third parties may currently have, ayraventually be issued,
patents on which our products or technologies méinge. Any of these third parties might make a@irdl of infringement
against us. Any litigation regardless of its impaould likely result in the expenditure of signdiat financial resources and the
diversion of management’s time and resources. diitiad, litigation in which we are accused of imfgement may cause
negative publicity, adversely impact prospectivetomers, cause product shipment delays or reqsite develop non-
infringing technology, make substantial paymentthiad parties, or enter into royalty or licenseemments, which may not be
available on acceptable terms, or at all. If a essful claim of infringement were made againstnéwe could not develop
non-infringing technology or license the infringedsimilar technology on a timely and cost-effeetbasis, our revenues may
decrease substantially and we could be exposddrigisant liability.

We are subject to federal and state laws prohilgtitkickbacks” and false or fraudulent claims, whighf violated, could
subject us to substantial penalties. Additionalny challenge to or investigation into our practiseinder these laws could
cause adverse publicity and be costly to respondtal thus could harm our business.

A federal law commonly known as the federal antikkiack law, and several similar state laws, prahiig# payment of any
remuneration that is intended to induce physic@nsthers either to refer patients or to acquiraroange for or recommend the
acquisition of health care products or servicegsElaws constrain a medical device company’s ,salasketing and other
promotional activities by limiting the kinds of biness relationships and financial arrangementéydirng sales programs we
may have with hospitals, physicians or other paaepurchasers of medical devices. Other federdlsiate laws generally
prohibit individuals or entities from knowingly menting, or causing to be presented, claims fomgey to Medicare,

Medicaid or other third-party payers that are fals&audulent, or for items or services that weoé provided as claimed. From
time to time, we may provide coding and billingdnhation as product support to purchasers of canlymets. Anti-kickback

and false claims laws prescribe civil and crimipahalties for noncompliance, which can be quitestrtial including
exclusion from participation in federal health cpregrams. A number of states have enacted laviseghaire pharmaceutical
and medical device companies to monitor and report
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payments, gifts and other remuneration made toiplays and other health care professionals andhheate organizations.
Some state statutes, such as the one in Massashirsgose an outright ban on gifts to physicidreese laws are often
referred to as “gift ban” or “aggregate spend” lawsl carry substantial fines if they are violatehilar legislation, known as
the Physician Payments Sunshine Act, has beerdinteal in Congress each year for the past seveaed @it has not yet been
enacted. In the event that we are found to haateid these laws or determine to settle a clairmvleshave done so, our
business may be materially adversely affectedraswt of any payments required to be made, réising on our future
operations or actions required to be taken, dartagar business reputation or adverse publicityannection with such a
finding or settlement or other adverse effectstimdathereto. Additionally, even an unsuccessfuliginge or investigation into
our practices could cause adverse publicity, ancbistly to respond to, and thus could harm ourrtass and results of
operations

If we are found to have violated laws protectingeticonfidentiality of patient health information, weould be subject to civil
or criminal penalties, which could increase our lidlities, damage our reputation and harm our busis®

There are a number of federal and state laws gnogethe confidentiality of individually identifide patient health
information, including patient records, and resinig the use and disclosure of that protected mé&dion. In particular, the U.S.
Department of Health and Human Services promulgaédiént privacy rules under the Health Insuranoedbility and
Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA. These privacyles protect medical records and other persoealti information by
limiting their use and disclosure, giving individsighe right to access, amend and seek accountithgio own health
information and limiting most use and disclosurEleaalth information to the minimum amount reasdpalecessary to
accomplish the intended purpose. Although we ddebieve that we are subject to the HIPAA rules, ékact scope of these
rules has not been clearly established. If we @ued to be in violation of the privacy rules unédgPAA, we could be subject
to civil or criminal penalties, which could increasur liabilities and harm our reputation or ousibess.

The use of our products could result in product tigity claims that could be expensive, damage oaputation and harm our
business.

Our business exposes us to an inherent risk ohgateroduct liability claims related to the maaofuring, marketing and
sale of medical devices. The medical device ingusstorically has been litigious, and we face fioial exposure to product
liability claims if the use of our products weredause or contribute to injury or death. Our NG-atad ADVANCE systems,
NC-stat DPNCheck, and SENSUS products may be stilsisefo claims of injury because their use invalike electric
stimulation of a patient’s nerves. Although we ntaiim product liability insurance for our productedaother commercial
insurance, the coverage limits of these policieg na@ be adequate to cover future claims. As sahelsuse of our products
increase, we may be unable to maintain sufficieotipct liability or other commercial insurance aceptable terms or at
reasonable costs, and this insurance may not praxsdvith adequate coverage against potentialitiabi A successful claim
brought against us in excess of, or outside of jmaurance coverage could have a material advéfiesg en our financial
condition and results of operations. A productiligbclaim, regardless of its merit or eventuatcame, could result in
substantial costs to us, a substantial diversianariagement attention and adverse publicity. A ycbliability claim could
also harm our reputation and result in a declinewenues and an increase in expenses.

Our products are complex in design, and defects may be discovered prior to shipment to customevkjch could result in
warranty obligations or product liability or otheclaims, reducing our revenues and increasing ourst® and liabilities.

We depend upon third parties for the manufactureuofproducts or components. Our products, pagitubur electrodes,
require a significant degree of technical expettisproduce. If these manufacturers fail to prodogeproducts to specification,
or if the manufacturers use defective materialwarkmanship in the manufacturing process, the loéitg and performance of
our products will be compromised.

If our products contain defects that cannot beiredajuickly, easily and inexpensively, we may aiqrece:
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* loss of customer orders and delay in order foiféint;

e damage to our brand reputation;

e increased cost of our warranty program due talpecorepair or replacement;
* inability to attract new customers;

« diversion of resources from our manufacturing eeskarch and development departments into ouicestepartment;
and

* legal action.

The occurrence of any one or more of the foregomgd harm our reputation and materially reducereuenues and
increase our costs and liabilities.

If we lose any of our officers or key employeesr mianagement and technical expertise could be weaddsignificantly.

Our success largely depends on the skills, expegieand efforts of our officers, including Shai®bzani, M.D., Ph.D., our
founder, Chairman, President and Chief Executiviic®f Thomas T. Higgins, our Senior Vice Presidemd Chief Financial
Officer; Guy Daniello, our Senior Vice Presidentioformation Technology; and Michael Williams, Ph.Bur Senior Vice
President of Engineering and Chief Technology @ffi&Ve do not maintain key person life insurancéci@s covering any of
our employees. The loss of any of our officers dautaken our management and technical expertiséisantly and harm our
business.

If we are unable to recruit, hire and retain skiltband experienced personnel, our ability to manage expand our business
will be harmed, which would impair our future reveres and profitability.

We are a small company with 30 employees as of Dbee 31, 2013, and our ability to retain our skillabor force and
our success in attracting and hiring new skillegbkayees will be a critical factor in determiningrduture performance. We
may not be able to meet our future hiring need®in existing personnel, particularly given theltenges our business has
recently faced. We will face challenges and riskkiring, training, managing and retaining engiirggeand sales and marketing
employees. Failure to attract and retain persometicularly technical and sales and marketingg@enel would materially
harm our ability to compete effectively and grow business.

Failure to develop or enter into relationships telsproducts other than our existing products or leance our existing
products could have an adverse effect on our busmerospects.

Our future business and financial success will ddp@ part, on our ability to effectively markatranew products, such as
SENSUS and NC-stat DPNCheck, and enhance theseqtsadd response to customer demand. Developingpneducts and
upgrades to existing and future products imposeddns on our research and development departmdrduarmanagement.
This process is costly, and we cannot assure yatuate will be able to successfully develop new pisid or enhance our
current products. We also may not be able to énterrelationships with other companies to selliididal products. In
addition, as we develop the market for our produatsire competitors may develop desirable profieatures earlier than we
do which could make our competitors’ products kgsensive or more effective than our products anddcrender our
products obsolete or unmarketable. If our prodesetbpment efforts are unsuccessful, we will haneiired significant costs
without recognizing the expected benefits and agiriess prospects may suffer.

We currently compete, and may in the future neecctompete, against other medical device companidh gieater
resources, more established distribution channetglaother competitive advantages, and the succegbh@de competitors may
harm our ability to generate revenues.

We currently do, and in the future may need to, peta directly and indirectly with a number of otikempanies that may
have competitive advantages over us. We compekeaginpanies that sell traditional nerve conductitraly and
electromyography equipment including Cadwell Labanias, Inc. and Natus Medical Incorporated. Thamapanies enjoy
significant competitive advantages, including:
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e greater resources for product development, saldsnarketing;

* more established distribution networks;

e greater name recognition;

« more established relationships with health caoégssionals, customers and third-party payers; and

e additional lines of products and the ability ffeo rebates or bundle products to offer discoumntmcentives.

As we develop the market for diagnosis and treatmmediabetic neuropathy, we may be faced with cetitipn from these
companies or others that decide and are able & #1i$ market. Some or all of our future compesito the diabetes care
market may enjoy competitive advantages such aettescribed above. If we are unable to competetafély against
existing and future competitors, our sales willlalecand our business will be harmed.

Security breaches and other disruptions could commise our information and expose us to liabilityhweh could cause our
business and reputation to suffer.

In the ordinary course of our business, we cobext store sensitive data in our data centers, onatworks, including
intellectual property, our proprietary busines®infation, and that of our customers, supplierstarginess partners, and
personally identifiable information of our emploged@he secure processing, maintenance and tranemdafshis information
is critical to our operations. Despite our secunitgasures, our information technology and infrastme may be vulnerable to
attacks by hackers or breached due to employeg aradfeasance or other disruptions. Any such breacld compromise our
networks and the information stored there coulddimessed, publicly disclosed, lost or stolen. Amshsaccess, disclosure or
other loss of information could result in legalioia or proceedings, disrupt our operations, dansageeputation, and cause a
loss of confidence in our products and serviceschvbould have a material adverse effect on ouinless, financial condition,
results of operations or cash flows.

If future clinical studies or other articles are phlished, or physician associations or other orgaaiipns announce positions
that are unfavorable to our products, our sales@tfs and revenues may be negatively affected.

Future clinical studies or other articles regardng existing products or any competing producty bepublished that
either support a claim, or are perceived to suppaitim, that a competitor's product is more aateior effective than our
products or that our products are not as accuraéfective as we claim or previous clinical studieve concluded.
Additionally, physician associations or other origations that may be viewed as authoritative orehav economic interest in
nerve conduction studies and in related electrodiatic procedures or other procedures that mayelfernmed using our
products could endorse products or methods thapetarwith our products or otherwise announce positihat are
unfavorable to our products. We have experiencisdnlth the professional societies representingnigrology community.
Any of these events may negatively affect our saffests and result in decreased revenues.

As we expand into foreign markets, we will be affed by new business risks that may adversely impactfinancial
condition or results of operations.

Foreign markets represented approximately 16% ofexenues in 2013, compared to 7% of our revemu2812. We are
working to expand market penetration, particulémi§Europe and Asia. Any such expansion will subjexto the possibility of
new business risks, including:

« failure to fulfill foreign regulatory requiremestif applicable, to market our products;
« availability of, and changes in, reimbursemerthimi prevailing foreign health care payment systems
* adapting to the differing business practiceslamg in foreign countries;

» difficulties in managing foreign relationshipsdaoperations, including any relationships that wilklish with foreign
distributors or sales or marketing agents;
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< limited protection for intellectual property righin some countries;

- difficulty in collecting accounts receivable alathger collection periods;

« costs of enforcing contractual obligations inefign jurisdictions;

e recessions in economies outside of the UniteteSta

e political instability and unexpected changesiplamatic and trade relationships;
e currency exchange rate fluctuations; and

e potentially adverse tax consequences.

If we are successful in introducing our products fioreign markets, we will be affected by thesditional business risks,
which may adversely impact our financial conditmrresults of operations. In addition, expansido foreign markets imposes
additional burdens on our executive and adminis&giersonnel, research and sales departmentgjeargdal managerial
resources. Our efforts to introduce our produdis fareign markets may not be successful, in wisase we may have
expended significant resources without realizirgygkpected benefit.

Our loan and security agreement with a bank, whiale refer to as our credit facility, contains finara and operating
restrictions that may limit our access to credif.We fail to comply with covenants in the creditdiity, we may be required to
repay any indebtedness thereunder, which may hawvedverse effect on our liquidity.

Although we have not borrowed any funds under tieditfacility, provisions in the credit facilityripose restrictions on our
ability to, among other things:

e incur additional indebtedness;

» create liens;

« replace certain of our executive officers;

e enter into transactions with affiliates;

» transfer assets;

e pay dividends or make distributions on, or repase, our capital stock; and
e merge or consolidate.

In addition, we are required to meet certain finalhoovenants customary with this type of credéilfty, including
maintaining a minimum specified tangible net wofthe credit facility also contains other customemyenants, which we may
not be able to comply with in the future. Our faldo comply with these covenants may result indbaaration of an event of
default and could cause us to be unable to borreuthe credit facility. In addition to preventiagditional borrowings under
the credit facility, an event of default, if notred or waived, may result in the acceleration efrtaturity of indebtedness
outstanding under the credit facility at the tinfehe default, which would require us to pay allamts outstanding. If an event
of default occurs, we may not be able to cure thimiany applicable cure period, if at all. If theaturity of our indebtedness is
accelerated, we may not have sufficient funds atsbel for repayment or we may not have the abititipdrrow or obtain
sufficient funds to replace the accelerated indiees on terms acceptable to us, or at all.

If we choose to acquire or invest in new business@®ducts or technologies, instead of developihgr ourselves, these
acquisitions or investments could disrupt our busss and could result in the use of significant anrds of equity, cash or a
combination of both.

From time to time we may seek to acquire or inuwesiusinesses, products or technologies, insteaeéwdloping them
ourselves. Acquisitions and investments involve arous risks, including:

« the inability to complete the acquisition or isttaent;

« disruption of our ongoing businesses and diversiomanagement attention;
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- difficulties in integrating the acquired entitigsoducts or technologies;

- difficulties in operating the acquired businessfipably;

< the inability to achieve anticipated synergiasstsavings or growth;

< potential loss of key employees, particularlyshof the acquired business;

« difficulties in transitioning and maintaining keystomer, distributor and supplier relationships;
« risks associated with entering markets in whiehhave no or limited prior experience; and
e unanticipated costs.

In addition, any future acquisitions or investmemgsy result in one or more of the following:

e issuances of dilutive equity securities, whichyrba sold at a discount to market price;

« the use of significant amounts of cash;

» the incurrence of debt;

« the assumption of significant liabilities;

e increased operating costs or reduced earnings;

« financing obtained on unfavorable terms;

« large one-time expenses; and

« the creation of certain intangible assets, inclg@joodwill, the write-down of which may resultsignificant charges to
earnings.

Any of these factors could materially harm our Etpdce, our business, or our operating results.

If we sell additional shares, our stock price magdline as a result of the dilution which will occup existing stockholders.

Until we are profitable, we will need significardditional funds to develop our business and sustairoperations. We sold
shares of our stock and warrants in February 2@i2Jane 2013 and any additional sales of sharesrafommon stock or
other securities exercisable into our common stoelikely to have a dilutive effect on some orddlbur then existing
stockholders. Resales of newly issued shares ingha market could also have the effect of lowedngstock price, thereby
increasing the number of shares we may need te issthe future to raise the same dollar amountcamgequently further
diluting our outstanding shares.

The perceived risk associated with the possible sbh large number of shares could cause someraitockholders to sell
their stock, thus causing the price of our stocltdoline. In addition, actual or anticipated dowrdvaressure on our stock price
due to actual or anticipated issuances or sals®ok could cause some institutions or individualsngage in short sales of our
common stock, which may itself cause the pricewfstock to decline.

If our stock price declines, we may be unable iseradditional capital. A sustained inability téseacapital could force us
to go out of business. Significant declines ingihiee of our common stock could also impair outligbio attract and retain
qualified employees, reduce the liquidity of ourrooon stock and result in the delisting of our comratock from The
NASDAQ Stock Market LLC, or NASDAQ.

The trading price of our common stock has been wtdéaand is likely to be volatile in the future.

The trading price of our common stock has beenlyigblatile. For the five year period ended Febyu@r2014, our stock
price has fluctuated from a low of $1.47 to a higl$129.60. The market price for our common stodklve affected by a
number of factors, including:

« the denial or delay of regulatory clearancespmravals for our products under development oripted regulatory
approval of competing products;
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e our ability to accomplish clinical, regulatorydanther product development and commercializatidastones and to do
so in accordance with our timing estimates;

e changes in policies affecting third-party coveramd reimbursement in the United States and cthertries;
e changes in government regulations and stand#felstiag the medical device industry and our prdaduc

e ability of our products to achieve market sucgess

« the performance of third-party contract manufeatsiand component suppliers;

e actual or anticipated variations in our resuftserations or those of our competitors;

e announcements of new products, technologicahations or product advancements by us or our catopst
« developments with respect to patents and othelieéatual property rights;

« sales of common stock or other securities byrumio stockholders in the future;

e additions or departures of key scientific or nggraent personnel;

« disputes or other developments relating to progmnetights, including patents, litigation matterslaur ability to obtai
patent protection for our technologies;

e trading volume of our common stock;

» changes in earnings estimates or recommenddiiprscurities analysts, failure to obtain or mamgmalyst coverage
of our common stock or our failure to achieve asadarnings estimates;

* public statements by analysts or clinicians reuy their perceptions of our clinical results loe effectiveness of our
products;

« decreases in market valuations of medical desdrepanies; and

» general market conditions and other factors ateel to our operating performance or the operatéréprmance of our
competitors.

The stock prices of many companies in the medieaicg industry have experienced wide fluctuatidrad have often been
unrelated to the operating performance of thesepemias. Periods of volatility in the market prideaccompany’s securities
can result in securities class action litigatioaiagt a company. If class action litigation isigtid against us, we may incur
substantial costs and our management’s attentignbmaliverted from our operations, which could #gigantly harm our
business.

There have been instances in the past when we €bitesatisfy certain continued listing requirement&é NASDAQ and we
could fail to satisfy those requirements again imet future which could affect the market price of oaommon stock and
liquidity and reduce our ability to raise capital.

Currently, our common stock trades on the NASDAQ@ita&Market. During 2012 and 2010 we receivedfiaations from
NASDAQ informing us of certain listing deficiencieslated to the minimum bid price listing requirertse Although we have
since cured these deficiencies, it is possiblew®atould fall out of compliance again in the fetulf we fail to maintain
compliance with any NASDAQ listing requirements, eald be delisted and our stock would be cons@larpenny stock
under regulations of the Securities and Exchangar@ission, or SEC, and would therefore be subjentilss that impose
additional sales practice requirements on brokafeile who sell our securities. The additional bosdienposed upon broker-
dealers by these requirements could discourageebadalers from effecting transactions in our comrsimck, which could
severely limit the market liquidity of our commotosk and your ability to sell our securities in gexondary market.
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The low trading volume of our common stock may atsady affect the price of our shares.

Although our common stock is listed on the NASDA@p@al Market, our common stock has experiencedttagding
volume. The 50 day average trading volume througlirlrary 3, 2014 as reported by NASDAQ was approteéin®36,000
shares. Limited trading volume may subject our camistock to greater price volatility and may matiifficult for investors
to sell shares at a price that is attractive tonthe

Anti-takeover provisions in our organizational doowents and Delaware law, and the shareholder rightan that we
previously adopted in 2007, may discourage or pré\aechange of control, even if an acquisition walibe beneficial to our
stockholders, which could affect our stock pricewadsely and prevent attempts by our stockholdersefdace or remove our
current management.

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws contpiovisions that could delay or prevent a changeootrol of our
company or changes in our Board of Directors thiatstockholders might consider favorable. Somées$é provisions:

« authorize the issuance of preferred stock wharhlme created and issued by the Board of Direetith®ut prior
stockholder approval, with rights senior to thoseuwr common stock;

« provide for a classified Board of Directors, withch director serving a staggered three-year term;

«  prohibit our stockholders from filling board vaxdes, calling special stockholder meetings, oinglaction by written
consent;

« provide for the removal of a director only withuse and by the affirmative vote of the holdergs$fo or more of the
shares then entitled to vote at an election ofdingctors; and

* require advance written notice of stockholdemppsals and director nominations.

We have also adopted a shareholder rights plarcthddl make it more difficult for a third party &equire, or could
discourage a third party from acquiring, us orrgéablock of our common stock. A third party thatjaires 15% or more of our
common stock could suffer substantial dilutiontefawnership interest under the terms of the sleddehrights plan through
the issuance of common stock to all stockholddrerathan the acquiring person.

In addition, we are subject to the provisions oft®® 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Latich may prohibit
certain business combinations with stockholdersiogvht5% or more of our outstanding voting stocke3éand other
provisions in our certificate of incorporation, ayls and Delaware law could make it more difficalt $tockholders or potential
acquirers to obtain control of our Board of Direstor initiate actions that are opposed by our-fuement Board of Directors,
including a merger, tender offer, or proxy contesblving our company. Any delay or prevention afteange of control
transaction or changes in our Board of Directordadcause the market price of our common stocletdile.

We do not intend to pay cash dividends.

We have never declared or paid cash dividends ooapital stock. We currently intend to retainalhilable funds and any
future earnings for use in the operation and expansf our business and do not anticipate payingaash dividends in the
foreseeable future. In addition, the terms of aedit facility precludes us from paying any dividisnAs a result, capital
appreciation, if any, of our common stock will b& gtockholders’ sole source of potential gaintfar foreseeable future.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our headquarters is located in an approximatel§@Dsquare foot facility in Waltham, Massachusettsich we occupy
under an office lease expiring in March 2015. Wielve that our existing facilities are adequatedor current needs.
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

While we are not currently a party to any matdeghl proceedings, we could become subject to legaleedings in the
ordinary course of business. We do not expect anly potential items to have a significant impacban financial position.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
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PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELA TED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information

Our common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Capitathdaunder the symbol “NURQO”. The price range geare
reflected in the table below is the high and lovesarices of our common stock as reported by NAQfounded to the
nearest penny) for the periods presented and fesduusted to reflect a 1-for-6 reverse stock splour common stock
completed on February 15, 2013.

Years ended December 31,

2013 2012
High Low High Low
First quarter $ 322 % 1.9t $ 9.4¢ $ 3.9¢
Second quarter 3.14 1.84 4.9¢ 3.6¢€
Third quarter 2.1¢ 1.5C 5.1C 3.12
Fourth quarter 4.2t 1.47 3.6¢ 2.4C

Stockholders

On February 3, 2014, there were approximately 1@&solders of record of our common stock. This bendoes not
include stockholders for whom shares were held“imainee” or “street” name. On February 3, 2014, last reported sale
price per share of our common stock on the NASDAdQital Market was $2.53.

Dividends

We have never declared or paid any cash dividendsiocommon stock. We currently intend to retaitufe earnings, if
any, to finance the expansion and growth of ouirtass and do not expect to pay any cash dividentieiforeseeable future.
Payment of future cash dividends, if any, will bhehee discretion of our board of directors afteirig into account various
factors, including our financial condition, opergtiresults, current and anticipated cash needspland for expansion.
Additionally, the credit facility restricts our dity to pay dividends.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

We reacquired 80 shares of our common stock, avarage price of $3.01 per share, during the quenged December
31, 2013, in connection with the vesting of certaistricted shares issued pursuant to our Fifth #ded and Restated 2004
Stock Option and Incentive Plan. We reacquiredelsbsres as part of the settlement of minimum fthhwelding obligations
by participants under our Fifth Amended and Redtaf4 Stock Option and Incentive Plan. The follogviable sets forth
these reacquisitions that we made during the querntded December 31, 2013:

Maximum Number
Total Number of (or Approximate Dollar

Total Shares Purchased Value) of Shares
Number of Average as Part of Publicly that May Yet Be
Shares Price Paid  Announced Plans Purchased Under the
Period Purchased  per Share or Programs Plans or Programs
October 1, 2013 — October 31, 201. — — N/A N/A
November 1, 201— November 30,
2013 — — N/A N/A
December 1, 2013 — December 31,
2013 80 $ 3.01 N/A N/A
Total 80 $ 3.01 N/A N/A
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected financial data are derivemhf our audited financial statements, which hawnhbsudited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registaiblic accounting firm. The selected financetiadbelow should be
read in conjunction with Item 7, “Management’s Rission and Analysis of Financial Condition and Rssaf Operations,”
Item 7A, “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosurgisout Market Risk” and our financial statements agldted notes for the
years ended 2013, 2012, and 2011 appearing elsewh#ris Annual Report on Form 10-K:

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

Statement of Operations Data:

Revenues $ 527¢ $ 757% $10,39° $1390( $ 26,137
Cost of revenues 2,19¢ 3,58¢ 4,72: 7,05( 7,53¢
Gross profit 3,08t 3,98¢ 5,67¢ 6,85( 18,60:
Operating expenses:
Research and development 3,43¢ 3,54¢ 3,871 5,85¢ 5,611
Sales and marketing 2,78( 5,72 6,68¢ 11,07: 10,84:
General and administrative 4,22¢ 4,73¢ 5,112 7,23 9,11¢
Total operating expenses 10,44: 14,00¢ 15,67¢ 24,16( 25,57
Loss from operations (7,359 (10,027 (10,009 (17,310 (6,970
Interest and other income 5 14 22 29¢ 227
Warrants offering costs (376 — — — —
Changes in fair value of warrant liability (290 — — — (5,179
Loss before taxes (8,019 (10,009 (9,98)) (17,019 (12,919
Income tax benefit — — — 121 —
Net loss $(8,01¢) $(10,009 $ (9,98)) $(16,89) $ (11,919

Net loss per common share, basicand dil $ (3.07)) $ (5.22) $ (15579 $ (26.4) $ (25.5¢

As of December 31,

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

(in thousands)
Balance Sheet Data:

Cash, cash equivalents, and short-term

investments $ 9,19 $ 8,69¢ $ 10,29C $ 16,987 $ 30,43:
Working capital 8,91¢ 8,561 10,48: 19,02( 34,37«
Total assets 10,79 10,871 14,221 23,06¢ 40,56
Total liabilities 3,60z 2,071 3,132 2,861 4,857
Total stockholders’ equity 7,19t 8,80( 11,08¢ 20,19¢ 35,71(
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

You should read the following discussion of ouarficial condition and results of operations in camgtion with our
selected financial data, our financial statemeats] the accompanying notes to those financial states included elsewhere
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. This discussiontains forward-looking statements that involisks and uncertainties.
For a description of factors that may cause ouwattresults to differ materially from those antiatpd in these forward-
looking statements, please refer to the sectitedtitRisk Factors”, contained in Item 1A of this Aual Report on Form 10-K.

Overview

We are a medical device company focused on thanezd of neurological complications of diabetesoite with diabetes
do not effectively regulate their blood glucosesogar, levels leading to chronically high levelglocose in the blood, called
hyperglycemia, and occasionally bouts of low glecwsthe blood, called hypoglycemia. The primags@n that glucose levels
are not effectively regulated in people with digsas that those with the disease do not produsdiin(Type | diabetes) or are
resistant to the normal physiological action otiirs (Type |l diabetes). Many Type Il diabetics atgally require insulin
because production of the hormone by their pandeeaseases with time. Type | diabetes usually &ffelildren and teenagers
whereas Type Il diabetes has typically been a desehadults over the age of 50. However, oveptst decade, Type Il
diabetes is occurring in younger adults, which paobably be attributed to higher levels of obesitthis age group.

We believe that there are large and important umaetls in the treatment of diabetic neuropathiesa Aedical device
company with both unique and substantial experiémceevices to measure and alter peripheral nametion, we believe we
are in the unique position to address these uneedsthrough the development of novel proprietaedioal devices.
Therefore, we are focused on developing and maudketiedical devices for the diagnosis and treatrokdiabetic
neuropathies. We believe that we are the only naédievice company with a strategic focus on théetia neuropathy market
and our goal is to be the dominant player in tieklf

Since we shifted our strategic focus to the diabetiuropathy market in 2011, we have launched twdyzts with the
potential to change medical practice for the trestihof diabetes. SENSUS, our therapeutic devicedi@@f of chronic,
intractable pain, was launched in January 2013.S8EBlis a convenient and wearable non-invasive ddtiat offers
physicians and their patients a non-narcotic paliefroption as a complement to medications. Thaodeis lightweight and can
be worn during the day while remaining active, onight while sleeping. We believe it is the onlgirtscutaneous electrical
nerve stimulator designed specifically for peoplthwliabetes that suffer from chronic pain. We &edi this product will be
attractive to pain medicine physicians, neurolagishdocrinologists, podiatrists, primary care jatigas, and other physicians
that are challenged with trying to manage pairhéirtpatients with painful diabetic neuropathy P@N and other forms of
neuropathic pain. We believe that PDN impacts 3 maillion people in the United States alone. Intheted States, SENSUS
is a prescription product and our early challenag theen and will continue to be to obtain broatipnal exposure and
acceptance among physicians as well as a broatbdt&in channel to fulfill prescriptions. We arexking to create demand in
several distinct channels: independent regionalretidnal durable medical equipment, or DME, sugyplthat employ sales
representatives who detail physicians, large dsaf# customers such as orthotic and prosthetiicsland chronic pain
treatment centers, and national diabetes mail ddYEs. We believe there may be future opportunitiesxpand our SENSUS
revenue and gross margin by developing an ovectlieter version of SENSUS and a direct sales channe

NC-stat DPNCheck, our diagnostic test for diabptdpheral neuropathy, or DPN, has been on the ebaikce launch in
late 2011. Revenues were approximately $1.4 miilioR012 and were $1.3 million for the year endegt&nber 31, 2013. Our
sales efforts in the U.S. market are focused onid&ed Advantage providers. Medicare Advantage plend assume financial
responsibility and the associated risks for thdthazre costs of their patients. For Medicare Adage providers, we believe
that NC-stat DPNCheck presents an attractive @lrdase that provides early detection of neuropaltioyving for earlier
clinical intervention to help mitigate the effecfsneuropathy on both patient quality of life aruicof care. Also, the diagnosis
and documentation of neuropathy provided by NCI3RNCheck helps clarify the patient
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health profile which, in turn, may have a direaisipive effect on the Medicare Advantage premiuneieed by the provider.
Attractive international market opportunities aeveloping in Japan, China, the Middle East and ktexXThese are led by our
distributors with support from our corporate office

We are currently involved in seven studies thatNi€estat DPNCheck in the evaluation of neuropathgérsons with
diabetes under various study conditions. We argteiphat these studies will expand the clinicahftation for use of NC-stat
DPNCheck which, in turn, should support future aaopby customers. We are also developing planslfoical studies
employing SENSUS.

We continue to manage our historical neurodiagos$tusiness which is centered on the ADVANCE Sysfems business
generated $6.1 million in revenue during 2012 aB@ $nillion in 2013. There are few direct cash apieg expenses for this
business which has been in decline for severakydae to reimbursement challenges. We believerévanue will continue to
decline in this legacy business as we operate itdeh flow.

Results of Operations
Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2013 and sgber 31, 2012
Revenues

The following table summarizes our revenues:

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 Change % Change

(in thousands)

Revenues $ 5278.¢ 3% 7,575.0 $(2,296.) (30.9%

Revenues include sales from SENSUS, our therapeéetice for relief of chronic, intractable pain tehned in January
2013; NC-stat DPNCheck, our diagnostic test for DBMN our legacy ADVANCE neurodiagnostics busin&asing the year
ended December 31, 2013, we shipped approximate00ISENSUS devices and recorded revenue of appabely $200,000.
As we worked to develop distribution in severaksathannels, including DME suppliers addressing physicians, primary
care physicians and endocrinologists, large clinganizations and direct mail diabetes suppliers.ré¢orded NC-stat
DPNCheck revenue of $1.3 million compared to $1ilion in the prior year when we had a direct sdtase focused on the
podiatry market. That sales force was disbandégea¢nd of 2012. Our market focus for NC-stat DP8kkhduring 2013 was
on the Medicare Advantage sector and on selectethational opportunities in Asia, the Middle East Mexico where we
continue to believe that attractive near-term oppuoties for NC-stat DPNCheck exist. ADVANCE revesuotaled $3.8
million in 2013 in comparison with $6.1 million B012. The decline in ADVANCE revenue continueshtstorical trend for
this product line which has few direct operatingexses and is managed for cash flow.

Cost of Revenues and Gross Margin

The following table summarizes our cost of reverarss gross margin:

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 Change % Change

(in thousands)

Cost of revenues $ 2,194 $ 3,688. $(1,394.9 (38.9%
Gross profit $ 3,084! $ 3,986t $ (902.0 (22.¢)

Corresponding to our decrease in revenues, ournfost’enues decreased to $2.2 million for the yemled December 31,
2013, compared to $3.6 million for the year endeddnber 31, 2012. Our gross margin improved t0%8m2013 from
52.6% in 2012 primarily attributable to the NC-dBRNCheck product line which carries higher mardgihan ADVANCE and
which contributed 23% of revenue in 2013 versus D3%venue in 2012. In addition, 2013 NC-stat DPECEK revenue was
more heavily weighted to sales of high margin comshile biosensors than the lower margin devices shigng 2012 when we
were establishing an installed base of custom&blSYJS had a minor effect on 2013 margins givesritall,
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launch year revenue contribution. Inventory cham@narily related to excess ADVANCE inventory wengproximately
$152,000 in 2013 versus approximately $235,00®it22 This year-to-year decline contributed to tregin improvement.

Operating Expenses

The following table presents a breakdown of ourafieg expenses:

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 Change % Change

(in thousands)

Operating expenses:

Research and development $ 3,438 $ 3,545.¢ $ (107.6 (3.0%

Sales and marketing 2,779.° 5,727t (2,947.9) (51.5)

General and administrative 4,225t 4,735.; (509.%) (10.9)
Total operating expenses $ 10,443« $ 14,008.! $(3,565.) (25.5)

Research and Development

Research and development expenses for the yeaed &tember 31, 2013 and 2012 were approximatelytst3.4
million and $3.5 million, respectively. The compiara results largely reflect a $112,000 decreaggensonnel costs, resulting
from lower headcount and incentive compensatioreege, partially offset by a $30,000 increase ircthts of clinical studies
related to NC-stat DPNCheck. Personnel costs faB20clude $137,000 for severance incurred in gw®sd quarter of 2013.
R&D spending should increase modestly during 2G18BNSUS products move forward in the developmigripe and
SENSUS clinical studies now in the planning phaseirtiated during the second or third quartethef year.

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses decreased to $2i@mhdf the year ended December 31, 2013 from &8llfon for the year
ended December 31, 2012. During 2012, we reducedependence on field clinical educators to supporineurodiagnostic
business and we shifted our NC-stat DPNCheck enpt@sard managed care, allowing us to eliminatediect sales
representatives. In addition, in 2013 we furthelueed our sales staff, largely in support of NG-BfaNCheck, resulting in
severance cost of $382,900. As a result, totabsaid marketing personnel costs in 2013 were $ill@mlower than in the
prior year. Personnel related travel costs deccebg&509,000, trade show costs decreased by $1@&advertising and
promotion costs decreased by $91,000, recruitingrarention costs decreased by $20,000, dues dedéy $50,000, and
depreciation decreased by $44,000. Sales and nraglextpenses for 2012 included $58,000 for theeaaft of loaner and
demo systems. Sales and marketing expense in 2&ldden planned with a baseline that is modeskbnbh2013; however, we
intend to maintain spending flexibility relatedgmduct initiatives, particularly regarding SENSWHportunities related to
SENSUS channel development in the retail sectdrérsecond half of 2014 may require us to increpsading beyond that
baseline in order to build product awareness.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses decreased2av$lion for the year ended December 31, 2013 gared to $4.7
million for the same period in 2012. This decreiastuded $317,000 for consultants and temporarfy, $466,000 for
personnel costs, $83,000 for taxes and fees, $8IgdAravel costs, $55,000 for insurance and detsidministration, and
$43,000 for stock-based compensation. These spgnelifuctions were partially offset by an unfavoeajar over year
increase of $255,000 in bad debt expense. Durii@ 2@ recorded $111,000 in bad debt expenses cethpathe recognition
of a net credit to bad debt expense of $144,0@D? due to favorable collection experience onaaicbunts. Looking forward
to 2014, we expect that general and administratiyeense will be in the range of 2013.

Interest income, Warrant offering costs, and Chaingfair value of warrant liability

Interest income was approximately $5,700 and ${60the years ended December 31, 2013 and 264%@ectively.
Interest income was earned from investments in egsivalents. In connection with an equity offeriahging 2013, we
recognized costs related the issuance of commahk starrants of $376,000.
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Outstanding warrants from that offering were valaeéhir value at quarterly reporting periods anda@rrant transaction dates.
The total fair value adjustments to outstandingrarts during 2013 were $290,000.

Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2012 and sgber 31, 2011
Revenues

The following table summarizes our revenues:

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 Change % Change

(in thousands)

Revenues $ 7,575.0 $ 10,396.& $(2,821.5 (27.9)%

Revenues include sales from our initial diabeteslpct, NC-stat DPNCheck, which was commerciallyntzhed late in
2011, and our legacy neurodiagnostics businessn®thie year ended December 31, 2012 we shipped&36tat DPNCheck
devices plus consumable biosensors and recordeduevrom these products of $1.4 million. This caneg with NC-stat
DPNCheck revenue of $84,800 for the year ended dbee 31, 2011. Revenues from medical device anduwnables sales of
our legacy neurodiagnostic products totaled $6llianiin 2012, compared to $10.3 million in 2011er$4.2 million reduction
in neurodiagnostics revenue reflects the contindiegine of this business which we manage for éiashand not growth. In
addition, neurodiagnostic revenue in 2012 was adhgraffected by our discontinuance of servicelti@loNC-stat products
linked to our onCall system. While many NC-statagtus transitioned to the ADVANCE platform, we éxjperience a drop in
testing accounts shortly after we shut down theadinsystem.

Cost of Revenues and Gross Margin

The following table summarizes our cost of reveramss gross margin:

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 Change % Change

(in thousands)

Cost of revenues $ 3,588.6 $ 4,722.0 $(1,133.) (24.0%

Gross profit $ 3,986.! $ 5,674 $(1,688.) (29.7)

Our cost of revenues decreased $1.1 million to &8l&n, or 47.4% of revenues, for the year en@etember 31, 2012,
compared to $4.7 million, or 45.4% of revenuestiieryear ended December 31, 2011. Included inafasivenues in 2012 was
$234,800 in non-cash charges for excess invenadayed to our neurodiagnostics business. Our gnasgin percentage of
52.6% of revenues for 2012 decreased from 54.6Bévanues for 2011. The decreased gross marginrgageein 2012
reflected in part discounts and promotions aimegkpanding market penetration, as well as non-chalges to write-off
excess inventory.

Operating Expenses

The following table presents a breakdown of ourafieg expenses:

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 Change % Change

(in thousands)

Operating expenses:

Research and development $ 3545¢ $ 3,877t $ (331.) (8.6)%

Sales and marketing 5,727." 6,688.¢ (961.)) (14.9

General and administrative 4,735.: 5,111.¢ (376.9 (7.4
Total operating expenses $ 14,008 $ 15,677. $(1,669.) (10.6)
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Research and Development

Research and development expenses for the yeagd Eratember 31, 2012 and 2011 were $3.5 million&a@ million,
respectively. The comparative results included elzses of $214,100 in technology licenses and feesaarrowed our
product development focus, $192,500 related tangitde asset impairment charges, $120,000 in riiegucosts for new hires
in 2011, $58,800 in stock-based compensation, 84¢H0 in depreciation and amortization. Theseeatesas were partially
offset by a $187,000 increase in personnel costgeaacreased headcount to support developmenENSYES and product
modifications to NC-stat DPNCheck, plus a $136,B@bease in engineering fees related to these medupts.

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses decreased to $5i@midl the year ended December 31, 2012 from 86llfon for the year
ended December 31, 2011. During 2012, we reducedependence on field clinical educators to supportneurodiagnostic
business and we shifted our NC-stat DPNCheck enpt@sard managed care allowing us to eliminate our
endrocrinolgy/podiatry direct sales representatiVesal sales and marketing headcount was redugd@® Ipositions as a result.
Personnel costs, including compensation, benefidsracruiting costs in 2012 were $967,500 lowentima2011. This spending
reduction was partially offset by an increase d$100 for outside consulting support related terimational markets and for
U.S. distribution channel development for SENSUS.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses decreasedta$fion for the year ended December 31, 201nf&5.1 million for
the year ended December 31, 2011. Personnel cestsreduced in 2012 with $348,100 attributabledolscompensation and
$142,900 attributable to incentive compensatiogutance costs were reduced by $90,300 due to a mwverage amount and
reduced insurance rates. Bad debt expense andrerstoedit processing fees were reduced by $98\8@0expanded investor
outreach and publicity during 2012, which increasests by $196,000.

Interest and other income

Interest income was $14,500 and $21,900 for thesyeraded December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectinédyest income
was earned from investments in cash equivalents.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our principal source of liquidity is our cash arablk equivalents. As of December 31, 2013, casltasid equivalents
totaled $9.2 million. On June 4, 2013, we entergd & Purchase Agreement providing for the issuah¢@ 248,147 shares of
common stock at a price of $2.095 per share, ({0$6.254 shares of Series A-1 Preferred Stockpaita of $1,000 per share,
(iii) 3,370.510 shares of Series A-2 Preferred tatca price of $1,000 per share, and (iv) fiveryearrants to purchase up to
2,365,934 shares of common stock with an exercise pf $2.00 per share, which we collectively refeas the 2013 Offering.
The 2013 Offering resulted in approximately $4.%iom in net proceeds, after deducting placemeenadees and other
expenses. During the second half of 2013, all efSbries A-1 Preferred Stock and Series A-2 PedeBtock issued in the
2013 offering was converted at the election ofttbkeler into a total of 2,117,787 shares of comntonks In addition, during
the fourth quarter of 2013, we issued 1,308,61teshaf common stock as a result of the exerciseanfants issued in the 2013
Offering resulting in proceeds to us of $2.6 milliGee Note 14, Stockholders’ Equity, of our NateBinancial Statements
contained elsewhere in this Annual Report on FobrK ¥or further information regarding this transact Our ability to
generate revenue to operate our business willlladgpend on the success of our diabetes businiisgive and our ability to
manage our legacy neurodiagnostics business tmiggticash flow. A low level of market interest ilCMtat DPNCheck or
SENSUS, an accelerated decline in our neurodiagsostnsumables sales, or unanticipated increasmsrioperating costs
would have an adverse effect on our liquidity ahility to fund operations.
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December 31, December 31,
2013 2012 Change Change

(in thousands)

Cash and cash equivalents $ 9,195¢ $ 8,699 $ 496.C 5.7%

In order to supplement our access to capital, wearty to an amended Loan and Security Agreemséitit,a bank which
provides us with a credit facility in the amount®#.5 million on a revolving basis. The amendedlitracility expires on
January 15, 2015. Under terms of the amended aedded Agreement the amount of the Credit Faailityremain at $2.5
million until December 31, 2014. Thereafter, uitslexpiry on January 15, 2015, the Credit Faciitlf be reduced to $750,000
if the Company has not yet completed an equityrivffeas defined in the Agreement. Amounts borroweder the credit
facility will bear interest equal to the prime ratieis 0.5%. Any borrowings under the credit fagilitill be collateralized by our
cash, accounts receivable, inventory, and equipnidwt credit facility includes traditional lendiagd reporting covenants.
These include certain financial covenants appleablliquidity that are to be maintained by us.oh®ecember 31, 2013, we
were in compliance with these covenants and hatbarwbwed any funds under the credit facility. ©é tredit facility limit,
$225,000 is restricted to support a letter of drisdued in favor of our landlord in connectiontwiihe lease of our facilities in
Waltham, Massachusetts. Consequently, the amouaiitbie for borrowing under the credit facility asDecember 31, 2013
was $2,275,000.

During the year ended December 31, 2013, our cadltash equivalents increased by $496,300 due yraimlet cash
provided by the 2013 Offering of $4.5 million are$2.6 million received from the exercise of watsapartially offset by
$6.6 million of net cash used in operations.

In managing our working capital, two of the finaalaneasurements we monitor are days sales outetaadd inventory
turnover rate, which are presented in the tablevbébr the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012:

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012
Days sales outstanding (days) 32 33
Inventory turnover rate (times per year) 3.2 3.2

Payment terms extended to our customers geneegjlyine payment within 30 days from invoice datee Tventory
turnover rate has improved since December 31, 2812result of reduced inventory balances.

The following sets forth information relating tosoes and uses of our cash:

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

(in thousands)

Net cash used in operating activit $(6,554.9 $(9,175.) $ (6,778.9)
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activi (86.7) 122.( 67.t
Net cash provided by financing activiti 7,137.: 7,462.¢ 14t

Our operating activities used $6.6 million for tfear ended December 31, 2013 primarily attributédbleur net loss of $8.0
million. This loss included charges of $376,300déering costs allocated to warrants in the 201f&Kking, $289,700 for the
change in fair value of the warrant liability, $2880 for stock-based compensation, $151,600 faritoary charges, and
$150,700 for depreciation and amortization.

During the year ended December 31, 2013, our imgsictivities reflected $86,000 spent for the asitjon of fixed assets.

Financing activities for the year ended Decembe2813 included $4.5 million from the net proceetithe 2013 Offering
and $2.6 million of proceeds from the exercise 808,611 common stock warrants. At December 313 2re remain
1,057,323 outstanding common stock warrants fraer2i.3 Offering with an exercise price of $2.00 geare.
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We held cash and cash equivalents of $9.2 milloofédDecember 31, 2013. We believe that these ress@and the cash to
be generated from expected product sales will Hemunt to meet our projected operating requiretse¢hrough the first quarter
of 2015. We continue to face significant challenged uncertainties and, as a result, our availzdgbital resources may be
consumed more rapidly than currently expected dya)tdecreases in sales of our products and ttertainty of future
revenues from new products; (b) changes we may taatke business that affect ongoing operating esg® (c) changes we
may make in our business strategy; (d) regulatemetbpments affecting our existing products andyteln the FDA approval
process for products under development; (e) chawgavay make in our research and development spgpians; and (f)
other items affecting our forecasted level of exjiemes and use of cash resources. Accordinglywileneed to raise
additional funds to support our operating and @pieeds in the second quarter of 2015 and beweduwill attempt to obtain
additional funding through public or private finamg, collaborative arrangements with strategicneng, or through additional
credit lines or other debt financing sources taease the funds available to fund operations. Heweve may not be able to
secure such financing in a timely manner or on ifable terms, if at all. We maintain a shelf regigstm statement on Form S-3
with the SEC covering shares of our common stockaher securities for sale, giving us the oppatyuto raise funding when
needed or otherwise considered appropriate ateand on terms to be determined at the time okaok offerings. However,
pursuant to the instructions to Form S-3, we orlyehthe ability to sell shares under the shelfstegfion statement, during any
12-month period, in an amount less than or equahtsthird of the aggregate market value of ourmam stock held by non-
affiliates. As a result of the 2013 Offering, welvie limited in the use of this shelf registratistatement until June 2014. We
have also filed a registration statement for antgaifering on Form S-1, which has not yet beenlded effective. If we raise
additional funds by issuing equity or debt secesitieither through the sale of securities pursitaatregistration statement or
by other means, our existing stockholders may éapee dilution, and the new equity or debt seasitnay have rights,
preferences and privileges senior to those of gisting stockholders. If we raise additional fudsough collaboration,
licensing or other similar arrangements, it maybeessary to relinquish valuable rights to our pidéproducts or proprietary
technologies, or grant licenses on terms that aréavorable to us. Without additional funds, weynha forced to delay, scale
back or eliminate some of our sales and marketffogts, research and development activities, oeotiperations and
potentially delay product development in an efforprovide sufficient funds to continue our operas. If any of these events
occurs, our ability to achieve our development emahmercialization goals would be adversely affected

As of December 31, 2013, we have federal and s&tteperating loss, or NOL, carryforwards availableffset future
taxable income of $97.1 million and $18.6 millisaspectively, and federal and state tax credi&ldaf million and $977,000,
respectively, which may be available to reduceritaxable income and the related taxes thereamfdderal NOL'’s begin to
expire in 2019 and the state NOL's begin to expire014. The federal and state research and dewelopcredits both begin to
expire in 2018. A full valuation allowance has bg@eavided against our NOL carryforwards and researtd development
credit carryforwards and, if an adjustment is reepli this adjustment would be offset by an adjustn@the valuation
allowance. Thus, there would be no impact to tHerlz® sheet or statement of operations if an audgist were required.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements, Contractual Obiigest, and Contingent Liabilities and Commitments
As of December 31, 2013, we did not have any oféfize sheet financing arrangements.

The following table summarizes our principal contual obligations as of December 31, 2013 and tieets such
obligations are expected to have on our liquiditd aash flows in future periods.

Payments due in

Contractual Obligations Total 2014 1-3years 3 -5years
Operating lease obligations $ 793,75! $ 635,00 $ 158,75. $ —
Purchase order obligations 147,80¢ 147,80¢ — —
Total contractual obligations $ 94156. $ 782,81 $ 158,75. $ —

As of December 31, 2013, we have no contractuadjatibns that extend beyond two years.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our financial statements are based on the seleatidrapplication of generally accepted accountimgjples, which
require us to make estimates and assumptions &ltou¢ events that affect the amounts reportediirfinancial statements and
the accompanying notes. Future events and theictsftannot be determined with certainty. Therefibie determination of
estimates requires the exercise of judgment. Acesllts could differ significantly from those asttes, and any such
differences may be material to our financial statets. We believe that the policies set forth beteay involve a higher degree
of judgment and complexity in their applicationthaur other accounting policies and represent titieal accounting policies
used in the preparation of our financial statemdhtifferent assumptions or conditions were tevail, the results could be
materially different from our reported results. Gignificant accounting policies are presented witliote 2 to our Financial
Statements.

Revenue Recognition and Accounts Receivable

The Company recognizes revenue when the followiitgria have been met: persuasive evidence of mmgement exists,
delivery has occurred and risk of loss has paghedseller’s price to the buyer is fixed or deterafile, and collection is
reasonably assured.

Revenues associated with the sale of the ADVANCEHc#s to customers and distributors are recognigesh shipment,
provided that the selling price is fixed or detarable, persuasive evidence of an arrangement eg@tsction of receivables is
reasonably assured, product returns are reasoastiyable, and no continuing obligations exist. Tédwenues from the sale of
an ADVANCE communication hub together with accesbléuroMetrix information systems are considereel onit of
accounting and deferred and recognized on a strlighbasis over the estimated period of time thatCompany provides the
service associated with the information systenthigfe years. The resulting deferred revenue aretmdef costs are presented
as separate line items on the accompanying bakirest. Revenues related to extended service agneefoethe devices are
recognized ratably over the term of the extendedc®agreement.

Revenues associated with the sale of the SENSUSI@rstat DPNCheck devices are recognized upon @mnprprovided
that the selling price is fixed or determinablesspasive evidence of an arrangement exists, cileof receivables is
reasonably assured, product returns are reasoastiyable, and no continuing obligations exist.

Revenues also include sales of consumables, imgugingle use nerve specific electrodes and otmrssories. These
revenues are recognized upon shipment providedtbagelling price is fixed or determinable, pesiua evidence of an
arrangement exists, collection of receivablesasoaably assured, and product returns are reagoestbhable.

When multiple elements are contained in a singlengement, the Company allocates revenue betweegléments based
on their relative selling prices. The Company detaes selling price using vendor specific objectwédence, or VSOE, if it is
available, third-party evidence, or TPE, if VSO available, and best estimate of selling priceBESP, if neither VSOE
nor TPE are available. The Company generally espibett it will not be able to establish TPE du¢h® nature of the markets
in which it competes, and, as such, it will typigaletermine selling price using VSOE or if not éalle, BESP. The objective
of BESP is to determine the selling price of awdetable on a standalone basis. The Company’s ditation of BESP involves
a weighting of several factors based on the spef@fits and circumstances of an arrangement. $gabif the Company
considers the cost to produce the deliverableatttieipated margin on that deliverable, the selprige and profit margin for
similar parts, its ongoing pricing strategy, théueaof any enhancements that have been built galeliverable, and the
characteristics of the varying markets in whichdleéverable is sold.

Revenue recognition involves judgments, includisgessments of expected returns and expected cuslatenship
periods. The Company analyzes various factorsydtiey a review of specific transactions, its higtalrreturns, average
customer relationship periods, customer usagepmestbalances, and market and economic conditidmsnges in judgments
or estimates on these factors could materially chg#e timing and amount of revenues and costgrézed. Should market or
economic conditions deteriorate, the Company’saatturn or bad debt experience could exceedttmate.
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Trade accounts receivable are recorded at thedasd@mount and do not bear interest. Certain ptagiles are made with
a 30-day right of return. Since the Company casaeably estimate future returns, it recognizesmage associated with
product sales that contain a right of return ugupraent and at the same time it records a salasret¢serve, which reduces
revenue and accounts receivable by the amountiofasd returns.

The allowance for doubtful accounts is our bestreste of the amount of probable credit losses inexisting accounts
receivable. We review our allowance for doubtful@mts and determine the allowance based on apsimalf customer past
payment history, product usage activity, and recenimunications between us and the customer. khaiVicustomer balances
which are past due and over 90 days outstandingeai®wed individually for collectibility. Accourtialances are written-off
against the allowance when we feel it is probaltdereceivable will not be recovered. We do not heawe off-balance sheet
credit exposure related to our customers.

Inventories

The realizable value of inventories is based upertypes and levels of inventories held, forecadsdand, pricing,
competition, and changes in technology. Our confilmsehave an eighteen-month shelf life. Shouldenirmarket and
economic conditions deteriorate, our actual redesegould be less than our estimates.

Recently Issued or Adopted Accounting Pronouncemest

There have been no recent accounting pronouncermeak&nges in accounting pronouncements sinceetient
accounting pronouncements described in the Comp20'2 Form 10-K that are of significance to thenpany.
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ITEM 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures @out Market Risk

We do not use derivative financial instrumentsun iovestment portfolio and have no foreign excleaogntracts. Our
financial instruments consist of cash and cashvedgmts. We consider investments that, when puathdsave a remaining
maturity of 90 days or less to be cash equivaldrte. primary objectives of our investment stratagy to preserve principal,
maintain proper liquidity to meet operating neetsj maximize yields. To minimize our exposure t@edwerse shift in interest
rates, we invest mainly in cash equivalents andtgbon investments with a maturity of twelve mantir less and maintain an
average maturity of twelve months or less. We dadbetieve that a notional or hypothetical 10% cheamginterest rate
percentages would have a material impact on ther&hile of our investment portfolio or our intere@stome.

ITEM 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The information required by this item may be fowmdpages F1 through F-24 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K with
the exception of the unaudited summarized quarfgrncial data which is presented below. Net jssscommon share is
calculated independently for each of the perio@sg@nted. Therefore, the sum of the quarterly rsstp@r common share
amounts will not necessarily equal the total fa il fiscal year. Per common share data and slvai@unts reflect a 1-for-6
reverse split of our common stock completed on Erayr 15, 2013.

Year Ended December 31, 2013

Qngtter Second Quarter Third Quarter  Fourth Quarter Total
Revenues $1,401,45 $1,160,47. $1,314,72 $1,402,15. $5,278,80
Cost of revenues 569,78 501,16: 578,48 544,83( 2,194,25!
Gross profit 831,67( 659,31: 736,24 857,32: 3,084,54
Net loss (2,253,41) (1,345,83) (716,269 (3,703,62) (8,019,13)
Net loss per common share, be
and diluted $ (1.0¢) $ 0927 % (0.2¢) $ (0.87) $ (3.07)
Year Ended December 31, 2012
First
Quarter Second Quarter Third Quarter  Fourth Quarter Total
Revenues $2,081,54. $2,20583 $1,764,76. $1,523,15. $ 7,575,28
Cost of revenues 1,134,94. 983,35( 793,99( 676,52. 3,588,801
Gross profit 946,59¢ 1,222,48 970,77: 846,63( 3,986,48:
Net loss (2,752,33) (2,772,12) (2,610,25) (1,872,83) (10,007,55)
Net loss per common share, be
and diluted $ (1.99 % 1.32) $ (1.29 $ (0.89) $ (5.29)

ITEM 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountas on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

There have been no changes in or disagreementaedthuntants on accounting and financial disclomaters in the last
fiscal year.

ITEM 9A. Controls and Procedures

(a) Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedurg

Our principal executive officer and principal fir@al officer, after evaluating the effectivenessaf disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rulaslb8) and 15d-15(e)) as of the end of the partaered by this Form 10-
K, have concluded that, based on such evaluationdisclosure controls and procedures were effed¢tvensure that
information required to be disclosed by us in thgarts that we file or submit under the Exchangeig\cecorded, processed,
summarized and reported, within the time perio@gxsied in the SEC’s rules and forms, and is acdated and communicated
to our management, including our principal exeautind principal financial officers, or persons perfing similar functions,
as appropriate to allow timely decisions regardimuired disclosure.
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(b) Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Fhancial Reporting.

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finaha@orting, as such
term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(Rlemthe Exchange Act. Because of its inherent diticihs, internal control
over financial reporting may not prevent or detaidstatements. Also, projections of any evaluatibeffectiveness to future
periods are subject to the risk that controls magoime inadequate because of changes in conditiptisat the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may ritetate. Under the supervision and with the pgpttion of our
management, including our Chief Executive Officed @ur Chief Financial Officer, we conducted anleaton of the
effectiveness of our internal control over finahcgporting as of December 31, 2013 based on fkerierin Internal Control —

Integrated Framework1992) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Omgitins of the Treadway Commission (“COSQ”).
Based on our evaluation under the frameworktarnal Control — Integrated Framewo(k992) issued by the COSO, our
management concluded that our internal control éimancial reporting was effective as of DecembirZ)13.

This Annual Report does not include an attestagmort of our independent registered public acdagrfirm regarding
internal control over financial reporting. Manager& report was not subject to attestation by adependent registered public
accounting firm pursuant to rules of the SEC thleahpt us to provide only management's report ia Ainual Report.

(c) Changes in internal control over financial repating.

There have been no changes to our internal coowesl financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13¢fland 15d-15(f)
under the Exchange Act) during the quarter endezk®éder 31, 2013 that have materially affectedyer@asonably likely to
materially affect, our internal control over finaaaeporting.

ITEM 9B. Other Information

None.
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PART Il
ITEM 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

The following table and biographical descriptiors forth information regarding our executive offis@nd directors, based
on information furnished to us by each executiiecef and director, as of December 31, 2013:

Name Age Position

Shai N. Gozani, M.D., Ph.D. 49  Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer, $tdent
and Secretary

Thomas T. Higgins 62  Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and
Treasurer

Guy Daniello 69  Senior Vice President of Infation Technology

Michael Williams, Ph.D. 57  Senior Vice President Engineering, Chief
Technology Officer

David E. Goodman, M.B1) () 57 Director

Allen J. Hinkle, M.D.® ) 63 Director

Nancy E. Katz 54  Director

Timothy R. Surgend®) (3) 54  Director

David Van Avermaete 62  Director

(1) Member of Audit Committee
(2) Member of Compensation Committee
(3) Member of Nominating and Corporate Governanommittee

Shai N. Gozani, M.D., Ph.Dfounded our company in 1996 and currently serveshasrman of our Board of Directors and
as our President, Chief Executive Officer and Sacye Since founding our company in 1996, Dr. Gotas served in a
number of positions at our company including Chaimnsince 1996, President from 1996 to 1998 and #0682 to the present,
Chief Executive Officer since 1997 and SecretangesiJuly 2008. Dr. Gozani holds a B.A. in compstgence, an M.S. in
Biomedical Engineering and a Ph.D. in Neurobioldgym the University of California, Berkeley. Hesalreceived an M.D.
from Harvard Medical School and the Harvard-M.Division of Health Sciences at M.I.T. Prior to fang our company, Dr.
Gozani completed a neurophysiology research feldgwis the laboratory of Dr. Gerald Fischbach atwéad Medical School.
Dr. Gozani has published articles in the areasasfdand clinical neurophysiology, biomedical eegiring and computational
chemistry. The Board has concluded that Dr. Goghould serve as a director because Dr. Gozani&eite knowledge of
engineering and neurophysiology, combined withuhigue understanding of our technology and busihedsas gained as our
founder and as a key executive, provides invalugisight to our Board and to the entire organizatio

Thomas T. Higginshas served as our Senior Vice President, ChiehiahOfficer and Treasurer since September 2009.
Prior to joining NeuroMetrix, from January 2005Mtarch 2008, Mr. Higgins was Executive Vice Presidamd Chief Financial
Officer at Caliper Life Sciences, Inc, a providétechnology and services for life sciences reseaefore Caliper, Mr.

Higgins was Executive Vice President, Operatiorts @hief Financial Officer at V.I. Technologies, Iif¥itex), a
biotechnology company addressing blood safety. ge¥itex, Mr. Higgins served at Cabot Corporatiorvarious senior
finance and operations roles. His last positio@atot was President of Distrigas of Massachusettpdtation, a subsidiary
involved in the liquefied natural gas business, pindr to that he was responsible for Cabot’'s Az&ific carbon black
operations. Before joining Cabot, Mr. Higgins wathwPricewaterhouseCoopers where he started héecavlr. Higgins holds
a BBA with honors from Boston University.

Guy Daniello has served as our Senior Vice President of Infaonatechnology since July 2003 and, prior to tiratt as
our Vice President of Information Technology andetor of Information Technology since 1998. Ptijoining
NeuroMetrix, Mr. Daniello was an independent sofeveonsultant, the Senior Vice President of Engingeat Shiva



Corporation from 1996 to 1997, and the Chief Tedbmy Officer and
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Vice President of Product Development at Gandathfelogies from 1993 to 1996. In 1991 he foundetiidek Architects, a
software company. Prior to starting Network Arcbite he served as President and Chief Executiviegdff Datamedia Corp.
and the Director of Small Systems Development atdyavell Information Systems. Mr. Daniello holds &Bin business
administration from Northeastern University.

Michael Williams, Ph.D. has served as our Senior Vice President of Engimggand Chief Technology Officer since
September 2011 and, prior to that time, as ourds&fice President of Engineering since July 2008 as Vice President of
Engineering since May 2000. From March 1996 to dan@000, Dr. Williams served as Division Presid@nRadionics, where
he was responsible for all software-based prodiratkjding treatment planning and image-guided sryrgPrior to Radionics,
he served as an engineer at Hughes Aircraft Spacer@munications Group. Dr. Williams received a Briohysics and
mathematics from University of Puget Sound and a8.Mnd Ph.D. in Physics from Brown University.

David E. Goodman, M.D., M.S.E has served as a member of our Board of Directareesiune 2004. Since 2013, Dr.
Goodman has served as CEO of FeetFirst, a technfdogsed healthcare services company he co-foundtbdoperations in
California and Hawaii that is committed to prevagtihe devastating and expensive microvascular toatipns of diabetes.
Since 2012, Dr. Goodman has served as CMO of Ftedty a healthcare services company focused olmegd and prevention.
Since 2011, Dr. Goodman has also served as angndept consultant. During 2010, Dr. Goodman hasesesis President and
Chief Executive Officer of SEDIine, Inc., a resdafocused company with the mission to expand tlpesand applications for
neuromonitoring. From 2008 to 2009, Dr. Goodmaresgias Executive Vice President of Business Dewveéor for Masimo
Corporation, a manufacturer of non-invasive patreahitors. From 2006 to 2008, Dr. Goodman serveahasdependent
consultant providing product design, regulatory andlytical consulting services to medical deviad hiopharmaceutical
companies and also served in this capacity fron826@004 and from 2001 to 2002. From 2005 to 2@6Goodman served
as President and Chief Executive Officer of Bar@®einc., a medical device company focused on dpired minimally
invasive devices for the long-term treatment ofsifye From 2004 to 2005, Dr. Goodman served asidRresand Chief
Executive Officer of Interventional Therapeutic @@ns, Inc., an implantable drug delivery systamspany. From 2002 to
2003, Dr. Goodman served as Chairman, Presidenthied Executive Officer of Pherin Pharmaceuticalpharmaceutical
discovery and development company. From 1994 td 2D8. Goodman held various paositions, includingeCExecutive
Officer, Chief Medical Officer and director, forfeMasters Supported SelfCare, Inc., a disease reamagt services company
that Dr. Goodman founded. Dr. Goodman also serseaddirector of Sound Surgical Technologies LL@rigate manufacturer
of aesthetic surgical tools from 2011 until its ais@tion by Solta Medical (Nasdaq:SLTM) in 2013.. @oodman holds a
B.A.S. in applied science and bioengineering aMIK.E. in bioengineering from the University of Reglvania. He also
received an M.D. from Harvard Medical School angl lttarvard-M.I.T. Division of Health Sciences andfieology. Dr.
Goodman holds 18 patents and is a practicing playsigith licenses in California and Hawaii. The Bibhas concluded that
Dr. Goodman should serve as a director becaus€@rydman’s medical and engineering background amdhhny years of
executive experience in the medical device indystoyide important experience and expertise tBthard.

Allen J. Hinkle, M.D. has served as a member of our Board of Directareslanuary 2006. From December 2010 through
the present, Dr. Hinkle has served as the Chiefidé®fficer of MVP Health Care, a not-for-profiehlth insurer. Dr. Hinkle
was the Chief Medical Officer and Senior Vice Pdesit for Tufts Health Plan in Massachusetts, ath@éasurance provider,
where he was responsible for medical managemegtares and initiatives from 2004 to 2009. Prior é@diming the Chief
Medical Officer of Tufts Health Plan, Dr. Hinkle w&enior Medical Director and Vice President of lke@are Quality, Policy
and Innovations at Blue Cross Blue Shield of Massaetts, a health insurance provider, from 200duiiin September 2004.
From 1995 to 2001, Dr. Hinkle was the Chief Medi®élicer and Senior Vice President of Quality — Hleeare Management
for Anthem Blue Cross Blue Shield of New Hampslainel Matthew Thornton Plan, health insurance providganizations.
Dr. Hinkle has over 30 years of experience in thaltmcare field. Dr. Hinkle received a B.S. frore thniversity of
Massachusetts at Amherst and an M.D. from Albamstein College of Medicine in New York. He is boasttified in
pediatrics and anesthesiology and is an Assocratie$sor of Anesthesiology and Pediatrics at Dantimd/edical School. He
also owns several U.S. patents on medical devidesBoard has concluded that Dr. Hinkle shouldserv
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as a director because Dr. Hinkle's years of expegeas a physician and in executive positionserhalth insurance industry
provide the Board with valuable insights in theaaref product development and reimbursement.

Nancy E. Katzhas served as a member of our Board of Directareddecember 2010. Since May 2011, Ms. Katz has
served as Vice President, Consumer Marketing attideit, Inc., a medical technology company. Froty 2005 to July 2010,
Ms. Katz was Senior Vice President, Bayer Diab&ase — North America. Prior to this position, sheswPresident and Chief
Executive Officer of Calypte Biomedical Corporati@enmanufacturer of HIV diagnostics, President itd Pharmaceutical, Inc,
a manufacturer of oral care products, and heldsenarketing positions with the Lifescan divisiodhJohnson & Johnson
(blood glucose diabetes products), Schering-Plddegithcare Products, and with American Home Prad&tie has previously
served on the Boards of Directors of Neoprobe Qatan (AMEX: NEOP), Calypte Biomedical CorporatjdrXN
Corporation and Pepgen Corporation. She receiB&ain business from the University of South FlariThe Board has
concluded that Ms. Katz should serve as a dirdmoause her experience in diabetes care and nrayheto the diabetes sector
provides valuable insight to the Board and manageimeour diabetes strategy.

Timothy R. Surgenor has served as a member of our Board of Directaceshpril 2009. Since April 2009, Mr. Surgenor
has been a partner at Red Sky Partners, LLC, admowgf general management consulting servicekedoiotechnology and
medical device industries. Since July, 2012 Mr.geuaor has also served as a director of Precisiotuves, a developer of
medical and consumer devices. From 2003 to 2009SMigenor served as President, Chief Executivie€fand director of
Cyberkinetics Neurotechnology Systems (OTC: CYKN,RKmedical device company. From January 199@nadry 2003,
Mr. Surgenor was Executive Vice President at Haestios Corporation, which is a medical device conyp&nom 1994 to
1999, Mr. Surgenor was President of Genzyme TiBamair, the cell therapy division of Genzyme Coagpion. Previously,

Mr. Surgenor was Executive Vice President and Chilefncial Officer of BioSurface Technology, Inadaalso held various
positions in operations at Integrated Genetics.irgenor received a B.A. in Biochemistry from Vdiths College and an
M.B.A. from Harvard Business School. The Board ¢t@scluded that Mr. Surgenor should serve as atdirbecause Mr.
Surgenor’s long career in the medical device antebhnology business as both an entrepreneur asghior executive
positions in public companies provides the Boarthwnportant industry experience as well as valedinlance, accounting and
executive management expertise.

David Van Avermaetehas served as a member of our Board of Directaresteptember 2013. From April 2004 to
February 2013, Mr. Van Avermaete served as Chietchtive Officer of VeralLight, Inc., a medical dexicompany he
founded, that focuses on non-invasive screeningyfue 2 diabetes. From 2000 to 2004, Mr. Van Avestaaerved as Senior
Vice President Non-Invasive Technology of InLiglui@ions, a Johnson & Johnson company focusedamsformational
technology in the diabetes field. From 1998 to 2000 Van Avermaete served as U.S. President of ifescan division of
Johnson & Johnson and, from 1990 to 1998, in varganior level positions at LifeScan concentratingales and marketing.
Previously, Mr. Van Avermaete served as Vice Pergiales and Marketing at Biotope, Director of kéding at Roche
Diagnostics, and Director of Marketing and SaleSyattex Medical Diagnostics. Mr. Van Avermaete reee a Master of
Business Administration and a Master of Sciencer®=@ Microbiology from the University of Arizoremnd a Bachelor of
Science Degree in medical technology and chemiigiry Ball State University. The Board has conclutieat Mr. Van
Avermaete should serve as a director because a@utixe level experience in the medical device dinbletes field, as well as
in entrepreneurial ventures, provides the Boartl wivaluable perspective in commercializing diabgt@ducts.
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BOARD MATTERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Board of Directors

Our amended and restated certificate of incorpmmatis amended, provides for a classified boadire€tors consisting of
three staggered classes of directors (Class Is@land Class Ill). The members of each classuofBoard of Directors serve
for staggered three-year terms, with the termauoiQass |, Class Il and Class Il directors exgjrupon the election and
qualification of directors at the annual meetingstockholders to be held in 2014, 2015, and 2@4€pectively. Currently:

e our Class | directors are Allen J. Hinkle, M.daTimothy R. Surgenor;
e our Class Il directors are Shai N. Gozani, MEh,D. and David Van Avermaete; and
e our Class Ill directors are David E. Goodman, Mabd Nancy E. Katz.

Our Board of Directors has determined that Dr. Goax, Dr. Hinkle, Mr. Surgenor, Ms. Katz, and Mr.rVavermaete are
independent directors for purposes of the corpaaternance rules contained in the NASDAQ MarketplRules, or the
NASDAQ rules.

Our Board of Directors has an Audit Committee, anpensation Committee, and a Nominating and Corpdatvernance
Committee.

The Audit Committee currently consists of Mr. Surge Chairman, Dr. Goodman, and Ms. Katz. The AGdimmittee
operates pursuant to a charter that was approvedbBoard of Directors, a copy of which is avaiéabn our website at
http://www.neurometrix.comnder the heading “Investor Relations” and sublreptiCorporate Governance”. The purposes of
the Audit Committee are to, among other functi@ssist the Board of Directors in overseeing the-aipmn of a comprehensive
system of internal controls covering the integatyour financial statements and reports, compliamitie laws, regulations and
corporate policies, and the qualifications, perfance and independence of our registered publicuatiog firm. Mr. Surgenor,
Dr. Goodman, and Ms. Katz are all “independentthas term is defined in the rules of the SEC amdatplicable NASDAQ
rules relating to audit committee members. Our BadiDirectors has determined that Mr. Surgenolifies as an “audit
committee financial expert” as such term is defimethe rules of the SEC. The Audit Committee Ifald meetings during
2013.

Procedures by which Stockholders may Nominate Dir¢ors

There have been no changes to the proceduress#sdiio our proxy statement for the 2013 annual imgeff stockholders
by which stockholders may nominate directors.

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct andsEttat applies to all of our directors, officersl@mployees,
including our principal executive officer, princidanancial officer, principal accounting officer aontroller and persons
performing similar functions. A current copy of t8ede of Business Conduct and Ethics is availablew website at
http://www.neurometrix.comnder the heading “Investor Relations” and subheptiCorporate Governance,” and we intend to
disclose on this website any amendment to, or waifjeny provision of the Code of Business Condunet Ethics applicable
to our directors or executive officers that wouttderwise be required to be disclosed under the SES, to the extent
permitted, by the NASDAQ rules. A current copy loé tCode of Business Conduct and Ethics may alsibtaéned, without
charge, upon written request directed to us atrdMatrix, Inc., 62 Fourth Avenue, Waltham, Massassits 02451, Attention:
Compliance Officer.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compdince

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires ourcttims and executive officers and holders of moaa th0% of our
common stock (collectively, “Reporting Persons”fite with the SEC initial reports of ownership areports of changes in
ownership of our common stock. Such Reporting Rerswe required by regulations of the SEC to filrnis with copies of all
such filings. Our records reflect that all repartsich were required to be filed pursuant to Secti6(a) of the Exchange Act
were filed on a timely basis.
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ITEM 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item will be coimizd in our definitive proxy statement for our 204dnual Meeting of
Stockholders under the captions “Compensation ethHtive Officers” and “Director Compensation Tabte2013” and is
incorporated by reference herein.

ITEM 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Ovners and Management and Related Stockholder Matter
PRINCIPAL AND MANAGEMENT STOCKHOLDERS

The following table sets forth certain informatiooncerning beneficial ownership as of Februaryd3,42 except as noted
below, of our common stock by:

* each of our directors;

» each of our named executive officers;

- all of our directors and executive officers agraup; and

e each stockholder known by us to beneficially awaore than five percent of our common stock.

The number of common shares “beneficially ownedehgh stockholder is determined under rules isbydtle SEC
regarding the beneficial ownership of securitidsisTnformation is not necessarily indicative ohbécial ownership for any
other purpose. Under these rules, beneficial oviiieif common stock includes (1) any shares astticlwthe person or entity
has sole or shared voting power or investment pandr(2) any shares as to which the person orydrds the right to acquire
beneficial ownership within 60 days after Februgr2014, including any shares that could be puedhay the exercise of
options or warrants on or within 60 days after kaby 3, 2014. Each stockholder’s percentage owieistbased on 5,945,581
shares of our common stock outstanding as of FepR)&2014 plus the number of shares of commorkdtuat may be
acquired by such stockholder upon exercise of optar warrants that are exercisable on or within®&gs after February 3,
2014.

Unless otherwise indicated below, to our knowleddlepersons named in the table have sole votimgimrestment power
with respect to their shares of common stock, extethe extent authority is shared by spousesmecm@munity property
laws.

Amount and Nature of Beneficial Ownership

Name and Address?Y of Beneficial Owner C%T;Tlgn Options @ Total Perc;rllgcg)tglclass
Directors and Executive Officers
Shai N. Gozani, M.D., Ph.D. 72,64 13,04« 85,68¢ 1.4%
Thomas T. Higgins 24,31¢ 1,75¢ 26,07¢ *
Michael Williams, Ph.D. 17,19¢ 6,282 23,47¢ *
Guy Daniello 15,55: 5,931 21,48¢ *
Allen Hinkle, M.D. 834 1,93 2,771 *
David E. Goodman, M.D. 834 1,79¢ 2,632 *
Timothy R. Surgenor 834 937 1,771 *
Nancy E. Katz 834 78C 1,61« *
David Van Avermaete — — — *
Krishnamurthy Balachandran — — — *
All Current Directors and Executive Officers as a

group (9 persons) 133,04. 32,47¢ 165,51¢ 2.8%
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Amount and Nature of Beneficial Ownership

Common Percent of Clas:
Name and AddressY) of Beneficial Owner Stock Warrants Total of Total
Beneficial Owner of 5% or More Other than
Directors and Executive Officers
Sabby Management, LL® 574,01¢ — 574,01¢ 9.7%
BlackRock, Inc. 327,47 — 327,47 5.5%

* Represents less than 1% of the outstanding sled@@mmon stock.

(1) Unless otherwise indicated, the address of etmtkholder is c/o NeuroMetrix, Inc., 62 Fourthelwe, Waltham,

Massachusetts 02451.

(2) Includes all options that are exercisable owithin 60 days from February 3, 2014 by the besiafiowner, except as

otherwise noted.

(3) Reflects 298,316 and 275,700 shares of comnumk ®wned by Sabby Healthcare Volatility Masten&ulLtd. and Sabby
Volatility Warrant Master Fund, Ltd., respectivelyhe amount does not include 823,320 and 234,08 slof common
stock issuable upon exercise of warrants issu&hbdby Healthcare Volatility Master Fund, Ltd. arabBy Volatility
Warrant Master Fund, Ltd., respectively, all of elhiare subject to a 9.99% beneficial ownershiptéition and related
warrant exercise restriction. Sabby Management, Bbh@ Hal Mintz do not directly own shares of commstock, but are
deemed to have beneficial ownership over theseestiircommon stock because Sabby Management, Ltt@ isvestmer
manager for both Sabby Healthcare Volatility Magtend, Ltd. and Sabby Volatility Warrant Master Buhtd. and Hal
Mintz is the manager of Sabby Management, LLC. dthéress for the reporting persons is 10 MountaénBidad, Suite 20

Upper Saddle River, New Jersey 07458.
EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION

The following table sets forth information as ofd@enber 31, 2013 regarding the number of secutiid® issued upon
exercise, and the weighted average exercise prietstanding options, warrants, and rights underegjuity compensation
plans and the number of securities available farrlissuance under our equity compensation plans.

Equity Compensation Plan Information as of DecembeB1, 2013

Equity compensation plans approved by sect
holders(®)

Equity compensation plans not approved by
security holder§)

Totals

Number of securities
remaining available for

Number of securities
to be issued upon
exercise of
outstanding options,

Weighted average
exercise price of
outstanding options,

future issuance under

equity compensation
plans (excluding

securities reflected in

warrants and rights warrants and rights column a)
() (b) (c)
310,14t $ 13.2( 119,7783
— N/A 400,00(
310,14t % 13.2( 519,77¢

(1) Includes information related to our Amended &sdtated 1996 Stock Option/Restricted Stock Aamended and Restated
1998 Equity Incentive Plan, Fourth Amended and &edt2004 Stock Option and Incentive Plan, and Zfloyee Stock

Purchase Plan.

(2) As of December 31, 2013, there were 97,440eshavailable for future grant under the Fifth Amethdnd Restated 2004
Stock Option and Incentive Plan and 22,338 sharaiadle under the 2010 Employee Stock Purchase Rla new stock



grants or awards will be made under the AmendedResdated 1996 Stock Option/Restricted Stock PidheoAmended
and Restated 1998 Equity Incentive Plan.

(3) Includes information related to our 2009 NQnalified Inducement Stock Plan, which is desigteegrovide equity grants:
new employees. Pursuant to this plan, we were aa#tbto issue Non-Qualified Stock Options, RestdcStock Awards
and Unrestricted Stock Awards.
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ITEM 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transadbns, and Director Independence

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PERSONS

Pursuant to our audit committee charter curremtlgffect, the audit committee is responsible fetewing and approving,
prior to our entry into any such transaction, hsactions in which we are a participant and ifctvlany parties related to us
has or will have a direct or indirect material net&t. As required under SEC rules, transactionsnlialve an amount in excess
of $120,000, in which we are a participant andlatee person is determined to have a direct oréetimaterial interest, are
disclosed in our proxy statement.

DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

See Item 10, “Directors, Executive Officers andfibwate Governance — Board Matters and CorporatefBance”.

ITEM 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

ACCOUNTING FEES

Aggregate fees for professional services rendeyd@ricewaterhouseCoopers LLP for the years endegibber 31, 2013
and 2012 are as follows:

Audit Fees

The audit fees for PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP fofggsional services rendered for the 2013 audiiofannual financial
statements and the review of the financial statésniecluded in our quarterly reports on Form 10e@led $456,000, of which
$350,000 was billed in 2013 and $106,000 was bite2D14.

The audit fees for PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP fofggsional services rendered for the 2012 audiiofannual financial
statements and the review of the financial statésniecluded in our quarterly reports on Form 10e@led $469,000, of which
$340,000 was billed in 2012 and $129,000 was bite2D13.

Audit-Related Fees
There were no audit-related fees for Pricewater&@Gospers LLP in 2013 and 2012.
All Other Fees

Fees for PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP for servidesrdhan audit-related services were $16,800 faB20hd 2012, and
included annual fees of $15,000 in both years imeation with our Corporate Integrity Agreementhatite Office of Inspector
General of the United States Department of Healthlduman Services regarding the previously-disdaseestigation into
certain of our past sales and marketing practiekesing to our NC-stat System and $1,800 in bodryéor a software
subscription used to review accounting literature.

Tax Fees
There were no tax fees for PricewaterhouseCoopepsih 2013 and 2012.
Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures

The Audit Committee approved all audit and non-aselivices provided to us by PricewaterhouseCodgdpsduring the
2013 and 2012 fiscal years.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedule

(a) 1.Financial Statements
The consolidated financial statements are listaiéraccompanying index to financial statementpage F-1.
2. Financial Statement Schedule

The Schedule on page S-1 is filed as part of #psnt. Other financial statement schedules requiretkr this Item and
Item 8 are omitted because they are not applicatiiee required information is shown in the corgatied financial statements
or the footnotes thereto.

3. Exhibit Index

The following is a list of exhibits filed as paftthis Annual Report on Form 10-K:
Exhibit
Number Description

3.1.1 Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorponaof NeuroMetrix, Inc. dated July 27, 2004
(6)

3.1.2 Certificate of Designations for Series A Junior Quative Preferred Stock, par value $0.001 per
share, dated March 7, 2067

3.1.3  Certificate of Amendment to Restated Certificaténarporation of NeuroMetrix, Inc. dated
September 1, 20137

3.1.4  Certificate of Amendment to Restated Certificaténarporation of NeuroMetrix, Inc. dated
February 15, 20188

3.1.5 Certificate of Designation of Preferences, Rigimnd kRimitations of Series A-1 Convertible
Preferred Stock, par value $0.001 per share, dated 5, 20185

3.1.6  Certificate of Designation of Preferences, Rigimnd kRimitations of Series A-2 Convertible
Preferred Stock, par value $0.001 per share, dated 5, 20185

3.21  Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of NeuroMeirix(®)
3.22  Amendment No. 1 to Second Amended and RestathByof NeuroMetrix, Inct)

4.1 Specimen Certificate for Shares of Common Stbck

4.2.1  Shareholder Rights Agreement, dated as of Mar@®Q7, between NeuroMetrix, Inc. and
American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, as Rigkgent®

4.2.2  Amendment to Shareholder Rights Agreement, datpte8wer 8, 2009, between
NeuroMetrix, Inc. and American Stock Transfer & 3r€ompany, as Rights Age(1)

4.2.3  Amendment No. 2 to Shareholder Rights Agreemenédaune 5, 2013, between
NeuroMetrix, Inc. and American Stock Transfer & 3r€ompany, as Rights Age(®

4.3 Form of Unit Warrant to purchase Common StGék
4.4 Form of Placement Agent Warrdft)
4.5 Form of Common Stock Purchase Warf@fit

10.1.1  Lease Agreement, dated October 18, 2000, betweerth Avenue LLC and NeuroMetrix, Iné)

10.1.2  Amendment Number One to Lease, dated February(fB, between Fourth Avenue LLC and
NeuroMetrix, Inc.(14)

10.1.3 Amendment Number Two to Lease, dated June 6, 2iE®ieen Fourth Avenue LLC and
NeuroMetrix, Inc.(24

10.1.4  Amendment Number Three to Lease, dated June 2@, P@tween Fourth Avenue LLC and
NeuroMetrix, Inc.27)
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Exhibit
Number Description
10.2.1  Loan and Security Agreement between NeuroMetrig, #md Comerica Bank, dated March 5, 2010
(15)
10.2.2  First Modification to Loan and Security Agreemertween NeuroMetrix, Inc. and Comerica Bank,
dated March 1, 20149
10.3+  Amended and Restated 1996 Stock Option/Restriteck Plarf?
10.4.1+ Amended and Restated 1998 Equity Incentive Blan
10.4.3+ Second Amendment to Amended and Restated 1998/Hucentive Plarfl)
10.5+  Second Amended and Restated 2004 Stock Optioinardtive Plar®)
10.6.1+  Third Amended and Restated 2004 Stock Optionlacehtive Plartt®)
10.6.2+ Form of Restricted Stock Agreement pursuant torthed Amended and Restated 2004 Stock
Option and Incentive Pla#®)
10.7+ 2010 Employee Stock Purchase Fi&h
10.8+ 2009 Non-Qualified Inducement Stock P&
10.9+ Form of Indemnification Agreement between Neurtielnc. and each of its directofs
10.10.1+ Employment Agreement, dated June 21, 2004, by atwiden NeuroMetrix, Inc. and
Shai N. Gozani, M.D., Ph.8Y
10.10.2+ First Amendment to Employment Agreement dated Déegr1, 2008, by and between
NeuroMetrix, Inc. and Shai N. Gozani, M.D., Ph®
10.10.3+ Indemnification Agreement dated June 21, 2004,dwyteetween Shai N. Gozani, M.D., Ph.D., and
NeuroMetrix, Inc.(D
10.10.4+ NeuroMetrix, Inc. No-Statutory Stock Option Agreement (pursuant toAheended and Restated
1998 Equity Incentive Plan), dated as of June R042by and between Shai N. Gozani M.D., PI
and NeuroMetrix, Inc{D)
10.11.1+ Letter Agreement, dated February 5, 2008 betweamdéetrix, Inc. and Michael Williams, Ph.D.
(13)
10.11.2+ First Amendment to Letter Agreement, dated DecerBlheP008, between NeuroMetrix, Inc. and
Michael Williams, Ph.D®)
10.12.1+ Letter Agreement, dated February 5, 2008, betvidmmoMetrix, Inc. and Guy Danielé®
10.12.2+ First Amendment to Letter Agreement, dated DecerBlheP008, between NeuroMetrix, Inc. and
Guy Daniello®
10.13.1+ Letter Agreement, dated August 31, 2009, betWéeumroMetrix, Inc. and Thomas T. HiggiH$)
10.13.2+ Indemnification Agreement, dated September 10, 200@nd between NeuroMetrix, Inc. and
Thomas T. Higginét?
10.14.1+ Letter Agreement, dated January 20, 2010, betweamdWetrix, Inc. and Krishnamurthy
Balachandraft®)
10.14.2+ Indemnification Agreement, dated April 19, 2010,dnd between NeuroMetrix, Inc. and
Krishnamurthy Balachandra#
10.15 Form of Securities Purchase Agreement, dated Séyeted) 2009 between the Company and each
investor(11)
10.16t Manufacturing and Supply Agreement, dated as ofustg, 2006, by and between Parlex Polymer
Flexible Circuits, Inc. and NeuroMetrix, Iné)
10.17 Deferred Prosecution Agreement dated February@ B9 and between NeuroMetrix, Inc and the

United States Attorney’s Office for the District Miassachusetfs)
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Exhibit
Number Description

10.18 Settlement Agreement and Release dated Februaf09,by and among NeuroMetrix, Inc. and the
United States of America acting through the Uni¢altes Attorney’s Office for the District of
Massachusetts and the Office of Inspector GenéthleoUnited States Department of Health and
Human Service®)

10.19.1 Engagement Letter by and between NeuroMetrix,dnd. Dawson James Securities, Inc., dated
December 30, 201%Y)

10.19.2  First Amendment to Engagement Letter by and betvidsmiroMetrix, Inc. and Dawson James
Securities, Inc., dated January 30, 242

10.20 Engagement Letter by and between NeuroMetrix,and. Dawson James Securities, Inc., dated
June 4, 201%°

10.21+  Fourth Amended and Restated 2004 Stock Optiorirarahtive Plar??)
10.22+ Amended and Restated 2010 Employee Stock PuréHas&?
10.23+ Management Retention and Incentive Plan, dateglisi, 201224

10.24 Securities Purchase Agreement by and between NeaatridVinc. and the purchasers named the
dated June 4, 201%)

10.25 Registration Rights Agreement by and between Neetal] Inc. and the purchasers named the
dated June 4, 201%)

10.26+ Separation Agreement and Release of Claims by atvdelen NeuroMetrix, Inc. and Krishnamurthy
Balachandran, dated June 27, 2(%¥3

10.27+  Fifth Amended and Restated 2004 Stock Optionlacentive Plarf”)

*23.1 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers ldrAndependent registered public accounting firm

*31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursudo Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002

*31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer purquao Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002

*32 Certification of Principal Executive Officer andifgipal Financial Officer pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

101 The following materials from NeuroMetrix, Inc.’s Anal Report on Form 10-K for the year ended

December 31, 2013, formatted in XBRL (eXtensiblesiBass Reporting Language);

(i) Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2013 and, Zi)13tatements of Operations for the years
ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2012, (iiieBtants of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity for
the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 0L Etatements of Cash Flows for the years
ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, and (@sNo Financial Statements.

*  Filed herewith.
+ Indicates management contract or any compensptany contract or arrangement.

t Confidential treatment has been granted with respecertain portions of this Exhibit, which pont®have been omitted &
filed separately with the Securities and Exchangm@ission as part of an application for confiddrttieatment pursuant to
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

(1) Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig.’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filedvtay 13, 2004, as
amended (Registration No. 333-115440).

(2) Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on Aug@st2006 (File No. 000-
50856).

(3) Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetng.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on Sepbem17, 2007 (File No.



001-33351).
(4) Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig.’s Form 8-A12(b) filed on March 8, 2007 (FN®. 001-33351).
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(5) Incorporated hereby by reference to NeuroMetnrig.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on Felmu&0, 2009 (File No.
001-33351).

(6) Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetng.'s Registration Statement on Form S-8 filedfagust 9, 2004 (File
No. 33:-118059).

(7) Incorporated herein by reference to Appendito AleuroMetrix, Inc.’s Proxy Statement on Schedudd filed on April 8,
2013 (File No. 001-33351).

(8) Incorporated herein by reference to Appendito AleuroMetrix, Inc.’s Proxy Statement on Schedudé filed on April 25,
2008 (File No. 001-33351).

(9) Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig.’'s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on Mar2@, 2009 (File No. 001-
33351).

(10)Incorporated herein by reference to Appendix A euMMetrix, Inc.’s Proxy Statement on Schedule filedl on April 24,
2009 (File No. 001-33351).

(11)Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig, ;nCurrent Report on Form 8-K filed September2e0)9 (File No.
001-33351).

(12)incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig,' tnCurrent Report on Form 8-K filed September2®9 (File No. 001-
33351).

(13)Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig, ;nCurrent Report on Form 8-K filed on Februar2608 (File No.
001-33351).

(14)Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig,’;nCurrent Report on Form 8-K filed on February 2008 (File No.
001-33351).

(15)Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig,';nQuarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 2810 (File No.
001-33351).

(16)Incorporated herein by reference to Appendix A suMMetrix, Inc.’s Proxy Statement on Schedule filedl on April 8,
2010 (File No. 001-33351).

(17)Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig,';nCurrent Report on Form 8-K filed on Septemhbe2011 (File No.
001-33351).

(18)Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig,’;nCurrent Report on Form 8-K filed on Februaby 2013 (File No.
001-33351).

(19)Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig, ' Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 8,12 (File No. 001-
33351).

(20)Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig, Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed omeJ8, 2009 (File No.
333-159712).

(21)Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig,'lmRegistration Statement on Form S-1 filed owéinber 23, 2011, as
amended (Registration No. 333-178165).

(22)Incorporated herein by reference to Appendix A suMdMetrix, Inc.’s Proxy Statement on Schedule fitl on April 16,
2012 (File No. 001-33351).

(23)Incorporated herein by reference to Appendix B gufdMetrix, Inc.’s Proxy Statement on Schedule il on April 16,
2012 (File No. 001-33351).

(24)Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig, ;nQuarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on Aug8s2012 (File No.
001-33351).

(25)Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig, ;nCurrent Report on Form 8-K on Form 8-K filedl &une 6, 2013
(File No. 001-33351).

(26)Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig,';mMAmendment No. 1 to its Current Report on F&AK filed on June
7, 2013 (File No. 001-33351).

(27)Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig, BnQuarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on July 2613 (File No.
001-33351).
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused
this report to be signed on its behalf by the usidgeed, thereunto duly authorized.

NEUROMETRIX, INC.
By:/s/ SHAI N. GOZANI, M.D., PH.D.

Shai N. Gozani, M.D., Ph.D.
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: February 24, 2014

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgl Act of 1934, this report has been signed bbélpthe following
persons on behalf of the registrant on Februar2@44 in the capacities indicated below.

Name Title

/s/ SHAI N. GOZANI, M.D., PH.D. Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Shai N. Gozani, M.D., Ph.D.

/sl THOMAS T. HIGGINS Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and
Treasurer (Principal Financial Officer and Printipa
Accounting Officer)

Thomas T. Higgins
/s DAVID E. GOODMAN, M.D. Director

David E. Goodman, M.D.
/s/ ALLEN J. HINKLE, M.D. Director

Allen J. Hinkle, M.D.
/s NANCY E. KATZ Director

Nancy E. Katz
/s/ TIMOTHY R. SURGENOR Director

Timothy R. Surgenor
/s/ DAVID VAN AVERMAETE Director

David Van Avermaete
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of N&detix, Inc.

In our opinion, the accompanying balance sheetstandelated statements of operations, of changstotkholders’ equity,
and of cash flows present fairly, in all materespects, the financial position of NeuroMetrix,.latDecember 31, 2013 and
December 31, 2012, and the results of its operatiol its cash flows for each of the three yeatsameriod ended December
31, 2013 in conformity with accounting principlesngrally accepted in the United States of Ametitaddition, in our
opinion, the financial statement schedule listethsindex appearing under Item 15(a)(2) preseqitty f in all material
respects, the information set forth therein whextri@ conjunction with the related financial statens. These financial
statements and financial statement schedule aresipensibility of the Company’s management. Ospoasibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statememntdiaancial statement schedule based on our adtligsconducted our audits
of these statements in accordance with the stagaditthe Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@tdited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the &dbtain reasonable assurance about whethdintrecial statements are
free of material misstatement. An audit includeamaing, on a test basis, evidence supporting theuats and disclosures in
the financial statements, assessing the accouptingiples used and significant estimates made agagement, and evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. Weebe that our audits provide a reasonable basiedo opinion.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
February 24, 2014
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NeuroMetrix, Inc.

Balance Sheets

December 31,

2013 2012
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 9,195,75. $ 8,699,47!
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $35,88b%$151,616 at
December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively 390,92: 566,45
Inventories 563,03t 834,52t
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 416,81t 472,61:
Total current assets 10,566,52 10,573,06
Fixed assets, net 229,31: 293,89°
Other long-term assets 92: 10,48¢
Total assets $ 10,796,76 $ 10,877,44
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 322,89 % 257,36
Accrued compensation 386,00 647,28¢
Accrued expenses 870,19¢ 948,84
Current portion of deferred revenue 68,81: 134,18!
Current portion of capital lease obligation — 17,92¢
Total current liabilities 1,647,90: 2,005,601
Deferred revenue, net of current portion 15,271 71,41¢
Common stock warrants 1,938,60: —
Total liabilities 3,601,78: 2,077,02!
Commitments and contingencies (Note 10)
Stockholders’ equity
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value, 5,000,000 startwrized at
December 31, 2013 and 2012; no shares issued astdmmding at
December 31, 2013 and 2012 — —
Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 50,000,000 awbdri5,945,581 ar
2,140,871 shares issued and outstanding at Dece8thp2013 and
2012, respectively 59t 214
Additional paid-in capital 153,806,46 147,393,15
Accumulated deficit (146,612,080 (138,592,943
Total stockholders’ equity 7,194,97! 8,800,42:
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 10,796,76 $ 10,877,44

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktfirancial statements.



F-3




TABLE OF CONTENTS

Revenues
Cost of revenues
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Interest income

Warrants offering costs

Change in fair value of warrant liability

Net loss

NeuroMetrix, Inc.

Statements of Operations

Years Ended December 31,

Net loss per common share applicable to com
stockholders, basic and diluted (See Note 2, Sumwifar

Significant Accounting Policies)

Weighted average number of common shares outsigndi

basic and diluted

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktfirancial statements.

2013 2012 2011
$ 5278800 $ 7,57528' $ 10,396,77
2,194,25! 3,588,801 4,722,06!
3,084,54° 3,986,48: 5,674,701
3,438,21i 3,545,791 3,877,52!
2,779,69! 5,727,48; 6,688,59.
4,225,47. 4,735,23; 5,111,611
10,443,38 14,008,51 15,677,73
(7,358,84) (10,022,027 (10,003,027
5,66€ 14,47: 21,92:
(376,306 — —
(289,65 — —
$(8,019,13) $ (10,007,55) $ (9,981,105
$ (307 $ (522° $ (1553
1,918,72: 642,51

2,862,09
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NeuroMetrix, Inc.

Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity

Series A-1 Series A-2
Preferred Stock Preferred Stock Common Stock
Additional
Number Number Number Paid-In Accumulated
of Shares Amount of Shares Amount of Shares Amount Capital Deficit Total

Balance at December 31, 2010 — $— — $— 644,37¢ $ 6F $138,803,19 $(118,604,28) $ 20,198,97
Stock-based compensation

expense — — — — — — 837,04( — 837,04(
Issuance of common stock under

employee stock purchase plan — — — — 4,00z — 33,61« — 33,61«
Other issuances of stock from opti

plan — — — — 2,34 — — — —
Net loss — — — — — — — (9,981,10)  (9,981,10)
Balance at December 31, 2011 — $— — $— 650,72( $ 6F $139,673,84 $(128,585,39) $ 11,088,52
Stock-based compensation

expense — — — — — — 319,36t — 319,36¢
Issuance of common stock and

warrants in public offering — — — — 1,421,73! 142 7,376,901 — 7,377,04:
Issuance of common stock on

redemption of warrants — — — — 23,127 2 2 — —
Issuance of common stock under

employee stock purchase plan — — — — 8,89t 1 23,031 — 23,03¢
Other issuances of stock from opti

plan — — — — 36,39 4 4) — —
Net loss — — — — — — — (20,007,55) (10,007,55)
Balance at December 31, 2012 — $— — $— 2,140,87 $ 214 $147,393,15 $(138,592,94) $ 8,800,42:
Stock-based compensation

expense — — — — — — 245,84: — 245,84
Issuance of common stock and

preferred stock under Securities

Purchase Agreement 1,066.25: 1 3,370.511 3 248,14 25 876,75 — 876,78t
Issuance of common stock upon

conversion of preferred stock  (1,066.25:) (1) (3,370.51) 3 2,117,78 212 (20¢) — —
Issuance of common stock upon

exercise of warrants — — — — 1,308,61 131 2,617,09. — 2,617,22.
Reclassification of warrant

liability to equity — — — — — — 2,362,25! — 2,362,25!
Issuance of common stock under

employee stock purchase plan — — — — 16,09 2 26,28: — 26,28¢
Common stock issued to settle

incentive compensation

obligations — — — — 114,07: 11 285,28« — 285,29!
Net loss — — — — — — — (8,019,13) (8,019,13)

$ — — $—

Balance at December 31, 2013 — 5,945,58 $ 59t $153,806,46 $(146,612,08) $ 7,194,97!

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottfirancial statements.
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NeuroMetrix, Inc.

Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

Cash flows for operating activities:
Net loss $(8,019,13) $(10,007,55) $ (9,981,10)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash irsed
operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 150,66: 297,09° 376,93:
Intangible asset impairment — — 192,50(
Stock-based compensation 245,84: 319,36¢ 837,04(
Inventory charges 151,55¢ 234,84¢ 98,55¢
Warrants offering costs 376,30t — —
Change in fair value of warrant liability 289,65 — —

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable 175,52¢ 343,26° 682,84t
Inventories 119,93. 694,32 550,54
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 52,74¢ (76,880) 110,401
Accounts payable 65,53¢ (371,859 370,06(
Accrued expenses and compensation (54,635 (530,14) 240,43:
Deferred revenue, deferred costs, and other (108,90) (78,04¢) (256,609

Net cash used in operating activities (6,554,90) (9,175,56) (6,778,39)

Cash flows for investing activities:

Purchases of fixed assets (86,079 (107,465 (110,98)
Release of restricted cash — 229,50( 178,50(

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (86,079 122,03! 67,51

Cash flows from financing activities:

Net proceeds from issuance of stock and warrants,

including public offering and equity plans 7,155,19 7,482,88: 33,61«
Payments on capital lease (17,929 (20,320) (19,099
Net cash provided by financing activities 7,137,26: 7,462,56: 14,52:

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis 496,27! (1,590,969 (6,696,36)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 8,699,47 10,290,44 16,986,80
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $9,19575 $ 8,699,470 $10,290,44

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

Common stock issued to settle incentive compensatio
obligation $ 28529 $ — 3 —

Warrants issued under Securities Purchase Agreement
initially recorded as a non-current liability $ 4,011,20! $ — $ —

Common stock issued in exchange for warrants $ — $ 127,88 $ =




Warrants liability reclassified to additional pameapital
upon exercise of warrants $ 2,362,25! $ —

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottfirancial statements.
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NeuroMetrix, Inc.

Notes to Financial Statements

1. Description of Business and Basis of Presentatio

NeuroMetrix, Inc., or the Company, a Delaware coagon, was founded in June 1996. The Companyngdical device
company focused on the neurological complicatidrdiabetes. The Company believes that its substeeniperience in
developing medical devices to stimulate and megsei@heral nerve function uniquely position itaddress unmet medical
needs related to diabetic neuropathy. Neuropathycsmmon and serious, often painful, complicatibdiabetes that may lead
to foot ulcers and limb amputation. The Companydaes a decade of experience in neuropathy detedtarting with
approval in 1998 by the United States Food and wiginistration, or FDA, of the NC-stat System,amt-of-care device for
the performance of general purpose nerve condustiaties.

In the first quarter of 2013, the Company complgieatiuct development and launched the SENS¥Bain Management
System, or SENSUS, which is designed for relieftabnic, intractable pain. The Company believes hoduct will be
attractive to pain medicine physicians, neurolagishdocrinologists, podiatrists, primary care jtigas, and other physicians
that are challenged with trying to manage pairh@irtpatients with painful diabetic neuropathy P@N and other forms of
neuropathic pain. The Company also markets the tS®DPNCheck® device, which is a fast, accuratel, gquantitative nerve
conduction test that is used to evaluate systemiicapathies such as diabetic peripheral neuropatiyPN. NC-stat
DPNCheck is designed to be used by endocrinolqggistiatrists, primary care physicians and othimiaghns at the point-of-
care to objectively detect, stage, and monitor DB&les efforts for NC-stat DPNCheck are currergttgéted at opportunities in
the managed care market. The Company’s histor@alatiagnostic business is based on the ADVANEEICS/EMG
System, or the ADVANCE System, which is a comprehanplatform for the performance of traditionahreeconduction
studies and invasive electromyography procedurdsadaich is primarily used in physician offices ariohics. While the
ADVANCE System contributes the majority of the Canp’s revenues, the Company is not actively manptia ADVANCE
business for growth.

On June 4, 2013, the Company entered into a SesuRturchase Agreement, as amended (the “Purclaserent”),
providing for the issuance of (i) 248,147 sharesahmon stock at a price of $2.095 per sharel (@i$6.254 shares of Series
A-1 convertible preferred stock (the “Series A-&ferred Stock”) at a price of $1,000 per shar@,3jB70.510 shares of Series
A-2 convertible preferred stock (the “Series A-2f@rred Stock” and together with the Series A-¥dtred Stock, the
“Preferred Stock”) at a price of $1,000 per sharg] (iv) five year warrants to purchase up to 2,385 shares of common
stock with an exercise price of $2.00 per share ‘(@13 Offering”). Each share of Preferred Stoaswonvertible into
477.327 shares of common stock, subject to adjugtragany time at the option of the holder. Th&@2ffering resulted in
approximately $5.0 million in gross proceeds, befdeducting placement agent fees and other expedseproceeds from the
2013 Offering were approximately $4.5 million. Dagithe second half of 2013, all of the Series Ardfétred Stock and Series
A-2 Preferred Stock was converted into a total,&fiZ,787 shares of common stock. In addition, dutfire fourth quarter of
2013, warrants to purchase 1,308,611 shares of constock were exercised and the same number cdsbéicommon stock
was issued. Proceeds from these exercises totalédllion. See Note 14, Stockholders’ Equity, forther details.

The Company held cash and cash equivalents ofrilian as of December 31, 2013. The Company bebeat these
resources and the cash to be generated from expactduct sales will be sufficient to meet its paigd operating
requirements through the first quarter of 2015. Teenpany continues to face significant challengebuncertainties and, as a
result, the Company’s available capital resourcag be consumed more rapidly than currently expedtedto (a) decreases in
sales of the Company’s products and the uncertainfiyture revenues from new products; (b) charigesCompany may make
to the business that affect ongoing operating esg&n(c) changes the Company may make in its assteategy; (d)
regulatory developments affecting the Company’sting products and delays in the FDA approval pssder products under
development; (e) changes the Company may make research and development spending plans; anth@y items affecting
the Company’s forecasted level of expenditureswmadof cash resources. Accordingly, the Companynegd to raise
additional funds to support its operating and @pieeds in the second quarter of
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NeuroMetrix, Inc.

Notes to Financial Statements

1. Description of Business and Basis of Presentatio- (continued)

2015 and beyond. The Company intends to obtairtiaddl funding through public or private financirapllaborative
arrangements with strategic partners, or througlitiadal credit lines or other debt financing sas¢o increase the funds
available to fund operations. However, the Compaay not be able to secure such financing in a tfimednner or on
favorable terms, if at all. Furthermore, if the Qmany issues equity or debt securities to raisetiaddi funds, its existing
stockholders may experience dilution, and the nguwitg or debt securities may have rights, prefeesrand privileges senior to
those of the Company’s existing stockholders. éf @ompany raises additional funds through collaimralicensing or other
similar arrangements, it may be necessary to neligvaluable rights to its potential products rpietary technologies, or
grant licenses on terms that are not favorablagdtompany. Without additional funds, the Compay tme forced to delay,
scale back or eliminate some of its sales and niakefforts, research and development activitiesjther operations and
potentially delay product development in an eftorprovide sufficient funds to continue its opevas. If any of these events
occurs, the Company’s ability to achieve its depetent and commercialization goals would be adversiécted.

Certain prior period amounts have been adjustedftect the Company's 1-for-6 reverse stock splitsoccommon stock
completed on February 15, 2013 (see Note 15, Re&trck Splits, for further details).

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Use of Estimates and Assumptions

The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith United States generally accepted accountiigciples requires
management to make significant estimates and agmmaphat affect the reported amounts of assetdiahilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilitiethatdate of the financial statements and the redainounts of revenue and
expenses during reporting periods. Actual resutdccdiffer from those estimates.

The Company bases its estimates on historical &qpes and various other assumptions that it bedi¢vde reasonable
under the circumstances and regularly assessesdlgmates, but actual results could differ maligrirom these estimates.
Effects of changes in estimates are recorded ipé¢hied in which they occur.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investmanith an original maturity of ninety days or lesstte cash equivalents.
Cash equivalents are recorded at cost which appaies fair value. The Company invests cash prignaria money market
account and other investments which managemergvasliare subject to minimal credit and market risk.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially expose tlenfany to concentrations of credit risk consistnariily of cash and cash
equivalents in bank deposit accounts and tradevaules. The Company invests its funds in hightgdanstitutions and limits
its investment in any individual account so thaytldo not exceed FDIC limits. The Company has Rpegenced significant
losses related to cash and cash equivalents aschdb®elieve it is exposed to any significant éresks relating to its cash
and cash equivalents.

At December 31, 2013, one customer accounted far dfdaccounts receivable and a second customeuatmbfor 12% of
accounts receivable. For the years ended Decemb@023, 2012, and 2011, no single customer aceduot more than 10%
of revenue.

The Company relies on in-house assembly and thiekparty manufacturers to manufacture the magotipn of its
current products and product components. The distupr termination of the supply of these produmts significant increase
in the cost of these products from these sourcelsl¢tmve an adverse effect on the Company’s busjfieancial position, and
results of operations.
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Inventories

Inventories, consisting primarily of purchased comgnts, are stated at the lower of cost or magkest is determined
using the first-in, first-out method. The Compangtes down inventory to its net realizable valuedgcess or obsolete
inventory.

Fair Value

The carrying amounts of the Company’s accountsivab&, accounts payable, and accrued expensesxamate their fair
value at December 31, 2013 and 2012 due to thé-sdrar nature of these assets and liabilities. Company’s cash
equivalents and its warrant liability are carri¢diadr value determined according to the fair vathierarchy described in Note
11.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue when the followiitigria have been met: persuasive evidence of mmgement exists,
delivery has occurred and risk of loss has pagkedseller’'s price to the buyer is fixed or deterafile, and collection is
reasonably assured.

Revenues associated with the sale of the ADVANCEc#s to customers and distributors are recognigesh shipment,
provided that the selling price is fixed or detarable, persuasive evidence of an arrangement eg@tsction of receivables is
reasonably assured, product returns are reasoastiyable, and no continuing obligations exist. Tédwenues from the sale of
an ADVANCE communication hub together with accesbléuroMetrix information systems are considereel onit of
accounting and deferred and recognized on a strlighbasis over the estimated period of time thatCompany provides the
service associated with the information systenthigfe years. The resulting deferred revenue aretidef costs are presented
as separate line items on the accompanying bakirest. Revenues related to extended service agneefoethe devices are
recognized ratably over the term of the extendeda®agreement.

Revenues associated with the sale of the SENSUSI@rstat DPNCheck devices are recognized upon smnprprovided
that the selling price is fixed or determinablesspasive evidence of an arrangement exists, cileof receivables is
reasonably assured, product returns are reasoastiyable, and no continuing obligations exist.

Revenues also include sales of consumables, imgugingle use nerve specific electrodes and otmrssories. These
revenues are recognized upon shipment providedtbagelling price is fixed or determinable, pesiua evidence of an
arrangement exists, collection of receivablesasoaably assured, and product returns are reagoestbhable.

When multiple elements are contained in a singlengement, the Company allocates revenue betweegldments based
on their relative selling prices. The Company detaes selling price using vendor specific objectwédence, or VSOE, if it is
available, third-party evidence, or TPE, if VSO available, and best estimate of selling priceBESP, if neither VSOE
nor TPE are available. The Company generally espibett it will not be able to establish TPE du¢h nature of the markets
in which it competes, and, as such, it will typigaletermine selling price using VSOE or if not éalle, BESP. The objective
of BESP is to determine the selling price of awdetable on a standalone basis. The Company’s dietation of BESP involves
a weighting of several factors based on the spef@fits and circumstances of an arrangement. $gabif the Company
considers the cost to produce the deliverableatttieipated margin on that deliverable, the selprige and profit margin for
similar parts, its ongoing pricing strategy, théuesof any enhancements that have been built rgaléliverable, and the
characteristics of the varying markets in whichdleéverable is sold.

Revenue recognition involves judgments, includisgessments of expected returns and expected custatenship
periods. The Company analyzes various factorsydhiey) a review of specific
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transactions, its historical returns, average custaelationship periods, customer usage, custbalances, and market and
economic conditions. Changes in judgments or estisnan these factors could materially impact thentj and amount of
revenues and costs recognized. Should market ooetio conditions deteriorate, the Company’s aatetalrn or bad debt
experience could exceed its estimate.

Certain product sales are made with a 30-day nfheturn. Since the Company can reasonably estifuétire returns, it
recognizes revenues associated with product dad¢sdntain a right of return upon shipment anthatsame time it records a
sales return reserve, which reduces revenue amdiatscreceivable by the amount of estimated returns

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable on the balance sheet are redoret of the allowance for doubtful accounts restelie and the reserve
for estimated returns. The allowance for doubtbdaunts is the Company’s best estimate of the atrafysrobable credit
losses in its existing accounts receivable. The @ reviews its allowance for doubtful accountd datermines the
allowance based on an analysis of customer pastgayhistory, product usage activity, and recemmmanications between
the Company and the customer. Past due balancesvéeered individually for collectibility. Accourtialances are written-off
against the allowance when the Company feelsptabable the receivable will not be recovered. Tohenpany does not have
any off-balance sheet credit exposure relatedstoustomers.

Income Taxes

The Company records income taxes using the asddiadnility method. Deferred income tax assets keduilities are
recognized for the future tax consequences ataillatto differences between the financial stateroanying amounts of
existing assets and liabilities and their respeciicome tax bases, and operating loss and tak cexdyforwards. The
Company’s financial statements contain certainmedetax assets, which have arisen primarily assalt of operating losses, as
well as other temporary differences between firalrand tax accounting. In accordance with the ioms of the Income
Taxes topic of the Codification, the Company isuiegd to establish a valuation allowance if thelifkood of realization of the
deferred tax assets is reduced based on an ewaldtobjective verifiable evidence. Significantmagement judgment is
required in determining the Company’s provisionifarome taxes, the Company’s deferred tax assetsiabilities and any
valuation allowance recorded against those nericefeax assets. The Company evaluates the welfigtiitavailable evidence
to determine whether it is more likely than nottth@ame portion or all of the net deferred incomeassets will not be realized.

Utilization of the NOL and research and developneeatlit carryforwards may be subject to a substhatinual limitation
due to ownership change limitations that have aeclpreviously or that could occur in the future paovided by Section 382
of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as well miai state provisions. Ownership changes may fh@tamount of NOL and
tax credit carryforwards that can be utilized ttsef future taxable income and tax, respectivelygdneral, an ownership
change, as defined by Section 382, results frons#éetions increasing the ownership of certain $twdders or public groups in
the stock of a corporation by more than 50 peregntmints over a three-year period.

If the Company has experienced a change of conttitization of its NOL or tax credits carryforwazdvould be subject to
an annual limitation under Section 382. Any limtatmay result in expiration of a portion of the NOr research and
development credit carryforwards before utilizati8ubsequent ownership changes could further inthadimitation in future
years. Further, until a study is completed andlaniation known, no amounts are being presenteanasgncertain tax position.

A full valuation allowance has been provided agatine Company’s NOL carryforwards and researchdewlopment
credit carryforwards and, if an adjustment is reepli this adjustment would be offset by an adjustn@the valuation
allowance. Thus, there would be no impact to tHerlz® sheet or statement of operations if an audgist were required.
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Management performed a two-step evaluation ofalpositions, ensuring that these tax return postmeet the “more
likely than not” recognition threshold and can beasured with sufficient precision to determineliraefit recognized in the
financial statements. These evaluations provideagament with a comprehensive model for how a comphould recognize,
measure, present, and disclose in its financiédistents certain tax positions that the Companytdieen or expects to take on
income tax returns.

Research and Development

Costs incurred in the research and developmeiteo€bmpany’s products are expensed as incurrelddied in research
and development costs are wages, benefits, proésagn consulting, and other operating costs ssdhadilities, supplies, and
overhead directly related to the Company’s reseanthdevelopment efforts.

Product Warranty Costs

The Company accrues estimated product warrantg edshe time of sale which are included in costadés in the
statements of operations. The amount of the acomaedhnty liability is based on historical inforrmat such as past experience,
product failure rates, number of units repaired] estimated cost of material and labor. The liibgifor product warranty
costs of $4,719 and $18,629 at December 31, 20d2@h2, respectively, are included in accrued esegin the
accompanying balance sheets.

Fixed Assets and Long-Lived Assets

Fixed assets are recorded at cost and deprecisitegl the straight-line method over the estimatexfuldife of each asset.
Expenditures for repairs and maintenance are cdamexpense as incurred. On disposal, the reksets and accumulated
depreciation are eliminated from the accounts aaydresulting gain or loss is included in the Compsustatement of
operations. Leasehold improvements are amortizedttrve shorter of the estimated useful life ofithprovement or the
remaining term of the lease.

The Company periodically evaluates the recovetghili its fixed assets and other long-lived assdtenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that an eveintgirment may have occurred. This periodic revieay result in an
adjustment of estimated depreciable lives or dasgedirment. When indicators of impairment are pn¢sthe carrying values of
the asset are evaluated in relation to the aspetsting performance and future undiscounted dastsfof the underlying
assets. If the future undiscounted cash flowses® than their book value, an impairment may extst.impairment is
measured as the difference between the book valli¢he fair value of the underlying asset. Faiuealare based on estimates
of the market prices and assumptions concerningmi@unt and timing of estimated future cash flond assumed discount
rates, reflecting varying degrees of perceived risk

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation cost is generally recednmitably over the requisite service period. Tben@any uses the
Black-Scholes option pricing model for determinthg fair value of its stock options and amortizestock-based
compensation expense using the straight-line methloel Black-Scholes model requires certain assumgtihat involve
judgment. Such assumptions are the expected shaeevplatility, expected life of options, expectadnual dividend yield, and
risk-free interest rate (See Note 3 — Stock-Baseah@nsation and Stockholders’ Equity).

Net Loss per Common Share

Basic net loss per common share is computed bgidiyinet loss applicable to common stockholderthbyweighted
average number of common shares outstanding dtivéngeriod. Unvested restricted shares, althouggdilieissued and
outstanding, are not considered outstanding fopgees of calculating basic net income per shatatddi net loss per common
share is computed by dividing net loss by the wigidtaverage number of common shares outstandirmggdine period plus the
dilutive effect of the weighted
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average number of outstanding instruments suclptiens, warrants, restricted stock, and prefertedks Because the
Company has reported a net loss for all periodsemted, diluted loss per common share is the sarbasic loss per common
share, as the effect of utilizing the fully dilutekdare count would have reduced the net loss pemumm share. Therefore, in
calculating net loss per share amounts, shareglyimdgethe following potentially dilutive weighteaverage number of common
stock equivalents were excluded from the calcutatibdiluted net loss per common share becausedffect was anti-dilutive
for each of the periods presented:

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Options 161,39: 53,99¢ 91,41:
Warrants 2,055,73: 741,54 238,41:
Unvested restricted stock 22,38’ 31,69¢ 4,72¢
Total 2,239,51 827,24 334,54¢

The Beneficial Conversion Feature, or BCF, recoidatie 2013 Offering has been recognized as a déafividend
attributable to the Preferred Stock and is refigete an adjustment in the calculation of earnirggsspare. See Note 14,
Stockholders’ Equity, for further details.

Net loss per common share applicable to commorkistdders, basic and diluted was determined asvisliio

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

Net loss $(8,019,13) $(10,007,55) $ (9,981,10)
Deemed dividend attributable to preferred

stockholders in connection with beneficial

conversion features (766,872 — —
Net loss applicable to common stockholc $(8,786,00) $(10,007,55) $ (9,981,10)
Net loss per common share applicable to com

stockholders, basic and diluted $ (3.09) $ (5.22) $ (15.59)
Weighted average number of common shares

outstanding, basic and diluted 2,862,09 1,918,72. 642,51:

Advertising and Promotional Costs

Advertising and promotional costs are expensed@agied. Advertising and promotion expense was I8 $242,000,
and $426,000 in the years ended December 31, 2012, and 2011, respectively.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Iltems

For the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, atiti # Company had no components of other compséreincome
or loss other than net loss.

Segments

The Company operates in one segment for the satedical equipment and consumables. Substantihibf the
Company’s assets, revenues, and expenses fordhne ¢ieded December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011 weatetbat or derived
from operations in the United States. Revenues Bales outside the United States accounted fooajpately 16% of total
revenues in 2013, 7% of total revenues in 2012 6af total revenues in 2011.
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Risks and Uncertainties

The Company is subject to risks common to compani@se medical device industry, including, but fiotited to,
development by the Company or its competitors @f texhnological innovations, dependence on keygmeral, customers’
reimbursement from third-party payers, protectibproprietary technology, and compliance with regians of the FDA and
other governmental agencies.

In late 2011, the Company launched NC-stat DPNChwhblch is a fast, accurate, and quantitative nepreduction test for
the assessment of systemic neuropathies such asIBeBrly 2013 the Company launched SENSUS fotrgregment
intractable pain, including pain associated withbditic neuropathy. The future prospects of the Gomare closely tied to its
success with NC-stat DPNCheck and SENSUS in madadptance and growth in future revenues.

Recently Issued or Adopted Accounting Pronouncensent

There have been no recent accounting pronouncermeak&nges in accounting pronouncements sinceetient
accounting pronouncements described in the Comp202 Form 10-K that are of significance to thenpany.

3. Stock-Based Compensation and Stockholders’ Equyit

Stock-Based Compensation

During 2004, the Company adopted the 2004 Stocio®pind Incentive Plan, as amended and restat2@ddé, 2008, 2009,
and 2012. At the Annual Meeting of Stockholdergite May 6, 2013, the stockholders of the Compampyra@ved the
Company’s Fifth Amended and Restated 2004 Stocko®p@ind Incentive Plan (the “2004 Stock Plan”), ethiamong other
things, increased the number of shares of the Coyipaommon stock authorized for issuance thereubg&00,000 shares.
The 2004 Stock Plan, among other things, providegifanting of incentive and nonqualified stockioptand stock bonus
awards to officers, employees and outside congslt@utstanding options under the 2004 Stock Péareiglly vest over three
or four years and terminate 10 years after thetgtare, or earlier if the option holder is no longa executive officer,
employee, consultant, advisor or director, as apple, of the Company. As of December 31, 2013,ZB5shares of common
stock were authorized for issuance under the 2@0ekS2lan, of which 128,644 shares had been isS88J046 shares were
subject to outstanding options at a weighted aweexgrcise price of $12.37 per share and 97,44@shkeere available for
future grant.

During May 2009, the Company adopted the 2009 Naahfed Inducement Stock Plan (the “2009 Induceni®an”). The
2009 Inducement Plan is intended to encourage aalble employees, including prospective employefetheoCompany upon
whose judgment, initiative, and efforts the Compkamgely depends for the successful conduct diusiness to acquire a
proprietary interest in the Company. The 2009 Irdoent Plan, among other things, provides for thatyrg of awards,
including non-qualified stock options, restrictédck, and unrestricted stock. As of December 3132@00,000 shares of
common stock were authorized for issuance unde2®®8 Inducement Plan, of which no shares had isseied and no shares
were outstanding.

The exercise price of each stock option issued wimee1996 and 1998 Stock Plans was specified é@tard of Directors
at the time of grant. The exercise price of stogkams awarded under the 2004 Stock Plan and t88 R@ucement Plan may
not be less than the fair market value of the comstock on the date of the option grant. For haldémore than 10% of the
Company’s total combined voting power of all claseéstock, incentive stock options may not be gamt less than 110% of
the fair market value of the Company’s common statcthe date of grant and for a term not to exdsedyears.

In June 2004, the Company adopted the 2004 Empisi@ek Purchase Plan (the “2004 ESPP"). All of@eenpany’s
employees who had been employed by the Comparat feast 60 days and whose customary
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employment is for more than 20 hours per week andnbre than five months in any calendar year weéigible to participate
and any employee who owned 5% or more of the vgimger or value of the Company’s stock was notildigto participate.
The 2004 ESPP authorized the issuance of up tmba10,417 shares of the Company’s common stogarticipating
employees.

In May 2010, the Company adopted the 2010 Empl&teek Purchase Plan (the “2010 ESPP"). The 201(PEGiRally
authorized the issuance of up to a total of 6,98es, of the Company’s common stock to partiaiygagimployees plus an
annual increase on the first day of each of the @omy's fiscal years beginning in 2011, equal tdekser of (i) 6,945 shares,
(ii) 1 percent of the shares of common stock ontitay on the last day of the immediately precediscal year, or (iii) such
lesser number of shares as is determined by thelBAtithe Company’s Annual Meeting of Stockholdeetd on May 14,
2012, the stockholders of the Company approve€tirapany’s Amended and Restated 2010 Employee $octhase Plan
(the “Amended and Restated 2010 ESPP”), which, anatimer things, increased the number of shardseo€bmpany’s
common stock authorized for issuance thereundd6k§67 shares. All of the Company’s full-time enyaes and certain part-
time employees are eligible to participate in teehded and Restated 2010 ESPP. For part-time eagddy be eligible, they
must have customary employment of more than fivatiiin any calendar year and more than 20 houre/@ek. Employees
who, after exercising their rights to purchase seamder the Amended and Restated 2010 ESPP, swuldhares
representing 5% or more of the voting power of@lmenpany’s common stock, are ineligible to partitépa

Under the Amended and Restated 2010 ESPP, pattigpgmployees can authorize the Company to withiplto 10% of
their earnings during consecutive six-month paynpeniods for the purchase of the shares. At thelosion of each period,
participating employees can purchase shares atd3%B& lower of their fair market value at the begng or end of the period.
The Amended and Restated 2010 ESPP is regardecoaspensatory plan. For the years ended Decemh@0338 and 2012
the Company issued 16,094 and 8,895 shares ajrtsnon stock, respectively, under the Amended arsdaRed 2010 ESPP
and the 2010 ESPP, respectively. As of Decembe2@13, there were 22,338 remaining shares to bedssnder the Amended
and Restated 2010 ESPP.

The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricingehfor determining the fair value of shares ahoeon stock issued
or to be issued under the 2010 ESPP and the AmeamikRestated 2010 ESPP. The following assumpéionssed in
determining fair value: The risk-free interest ragsumption is based on the United States Treasaoyistant maturity rate for
a six month term (corresponding to the expectetopéerm) on the date the option was granted. Kpeeted dividend yield is
zero because the Company does not currently pagetigls nor expects to do so during the expectadrofgrm. An expected
term of six months is used based on the durati@aoh plan offering period. The volatility assuroptis based on a
consideration of stock price volatility over the shoecent period of time corresponding to the etqueterm and is also based
on expected future stock price volatility.

The weighted average grant-date fair value of stqations used in the calculation of stock-basedmamsation expense in
the accompanying statement of operations for tlaesyended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011 islatdd using the
following assumptions:

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Risk-free interest rate 14-17%  0.6% —0.9% 0.9% —2.3%
Expected dividend yield — — —
Expected option term 5 years 5 years 5 -6 years
Volatility 70.0% 70.0% 70.0%

The risk-free interest rate assumption is basetthetnited States Treasury’s constant maturity fiata five year term
(corresponding to the expected option term) orddte the option was granted. The expected
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dividend yield is zero as the Company does noteatly pay dividends nor expects to do so duringetkigected option term.
The expected option term of five years is estiméigged on an analysis of actual option exercise¢@anview of comparable
medical device companies. The volatility assumptolbased on weekly historical volatility duringettime period that
corresponds to the expected option term, a reviswomparable medical device companies and expéateck stock price
volatility. The pre-vesting forfeiture rate is bdsen the historical and projected average turnoater of employees.

A summary of option activity for the year ended Bber 31, 2013 is presented below:

Weighted
Weighted Average
Average Remaining Aggregate
Number of Exercise Contractual Life Intrinsic
Options Price (in years) Value
Outstanding at December 31, 2012 5155( $ 73.3¢
Granted 265,00( 1.7¢
Exercised — —
Forfeited (5,945 19.8¢
Expired (459) 81.0(
Outstanding at December 31, 2013 310,14¢ 13.2( 9.0z $306,92!
Vested or expected to vest at December 31, 2013 285,29: 14.2( 8.9¢ 278,01¢
Exercisable at December 31, 2013 41,62( 85.01 5.5¢ —

Expected to vest options are determined by applfiegre-vesting forfeiture rate to the total cansling options.
Aggregate intrinsic value represents the totaltpreintrinsic value (the aggregate difference betwihe closing stock price of
the Company’s common stock as of December 31, 288 8pplicable, and the exercise price for th&@rhoney options) that
would have been received by the option holder8 tha in-the-money options had been exercised eoenber 31, 2013.

The weighted average per share grant-date faiesadfioptions granted during the years ended Deee81 2013, 2012,
and 2011 was $1.02, $2.67, and $11.34, respectively

The aggregate intrinsic value of options issueexarcised during each of the years ended Decenih@033, 2012, and
2011 was $0.

Total unrecognized stock-based compensation celstted to non-vested stock options was $247,46&hwielated to
286,022 shares with a per share weighted fair vafl$8.87 as of December 31, 2013. This unrecognipst is expected to be
recognized over a weighted average period of apmibely 0.4 years.

Stock options granted to non-employees are recatlfair value and adjusted to market over theinggieriod. The
Company determines fair value using the Black-Sehoption pricing model, an expected term equtidmption term, a risk-
free interest rate corresponding to the expectex, ta stock price volatility over the most receatipd of time corresponding to
the expected term and also based on expected ftaak price volatility, and a dividend yield ofree There were no options
granted to non-employees during the years endedrbleer 31, 2013, 2012 or 2011.

Beginning in 2010, certain employees have beentgda®stricted stock. During 2013, 2012, and 2@i4 Company
granted 2,000, 37,167, and 3,630 shares of resdratbck, respectively. The restricted stock vieased on continuing
employment. The fair value of restricted stockakcualated based on the closing sale price of thefgamy’s common stock on
the date of issuance.

F-15




TABLE OF CONTENTS

NeuroMetrix, Inc.

Notes to Financial Statements

3. Stock-Based Compensation and Stockholders’ Eqyit— (continued)

A summary of restricted stock activity for the yeaded December 31, 2013 is presented below:

Weighted

Average

Restricted Grant Date

Shares Fair Value
Restricted shares at December 31, 2012 38,27: $ 5.2t
Granted 2,00( 1.9C
Vested (19,427 (5.6€)
Canceled (3,379 (4.20
Restricted shares at December 31, 2013 17,47¢ $ 4.62

During the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2@t@jin employees, in lieu of paying withholdingda on the vesting
of restricted stock, authorized the withholdingpafaggregate of 4,214 and 721 shares, respectofatpmmon stock to satisfy
the minimum tax withholding requirements relatedtich vesting. Shares withheld were calculatedyuia market price of
the common stock.

Cash received from option exercises and purchasdsr the 2004 ESPP and the 2010 ESPP for the grdesl December
31, 2013, 2012, and 2011 was $26,000, $23,000$a4000, respectively. The Company issues new shgren option
exercises, purchases under the Company’s ESPPseatiidg of restricted stock.

The Company recorded stock-based compensation sxuéi$246,000, $319,000, and $837,000 for thesyeaded
December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, respectively.

Stockholders’ Equity

On June 4, 2013, the Company entered into a SexuRurchase Agreement, pursuant to which it is§i@d8,147 shares
of common stock at a price of $2.095 per sharg1(i66.254 shares of Series A-1 Preferred Stoekpaice of $1,000 per
share, (iii) 3,370.510 shares of Series A-2 PreteBtock at a price of $1,000 per share, and ifie)yfear warrants to purchase
up to 2,365,934 shares of common stock with anceseeprice of $2.00 per share. During the secotfdh@013, all of the
Series A-1 Preferred Stock and Series A-2 Prefeé8tedk was converted into a total of 2,117,787 ehaf common stock. In
addition, during the fourth quarter of 2013, watsam purchase 1,308,611 shares of common stook @arcised and the same
number of shares of common stock was issued. Rilede@m these exercises totaled $2.6 million. SeeN4, Stockholders’
Equity, for further details.

In March 2013, the Company awarded certain exeesitan aggregate of 119,370 shares of fully vesietr®on stock with
a value of $285,300 in settlement of 2012 incentempensation obligations. The value of the shamsed reflected the $2.39
closing price of the Company’s common stock as nteploon the NASDAQ Capital Market on March 4, 2013.

In March 2012, the Company issued 23,127 sharés odbmmon stock in satisfaction of the Companygation to
redeem certain warrants issued by the Company gotrsa Securities Purchase Agreements dated asppé@ber 8, 2009. No
cash was paid to redeem the warrants.

On February 13, 2012, the Company completed a @offiering of 1,421,735 Units at a price of $6.@9 pnit (the “2012
Offering”). Each Unit consisted of one share of @@mpany’s common stock and one warrant to purcbaséalf of a share of
the Company’s common stock at an exercise prid &0 per share. The Company issued 1,421,735ssbhoemmon stock
and warrants to purchase 781,955 shares of comtook and received proceeds, net of discounts, cesiaris and expenses,
of approximately $7.4 million. See Note 14, Stodkleos’ Equity, for further details.
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As of December 31, 2013, the Company had 50,000:886:s of common stock authorized and 5,945,58%skssued and
outstanding. Each share of common stock entitiehithder to one vote on all matters submittedvota of the Company’s
stockholders. Common stockholders are not entitlgeceive dividends unless declared by the Bo&Rirectors.

At December 31, 2013, the Company has reserveddzgid shares of common stock for future issuasdelows:

Warrants 1,839,27:
Outstanding stock options 310,14¢
Possible future issuance under inducement plan 400,00(
Possible future issuance under stock option plans 97,44(
Possible future issuance under employee stock paecplan 22,33¢
Total 2,669,20:

On March 7, 2007, the Company’s Board of Directatsepted a Shareholder Rights Plan and declareddedd
distribution of one preferred stock purchase righteach outstanding share of the Company’s comstaek to shareholders of
record as of the close of business on March 8, 288'6f December 31, 2013 and 2012, there was ef@ped stock
outstanding.

4. Intangible Assets

In January 2009, the Company acquired certain tdofical and intellectual property assets from Gihestics
Neurotechnology Systems, Inc., or Cyberkinetics, Andara Life Science, Inc., a wholly-owned sukeaidiof Cyberkinetics,
for $350,000 in cash. The Company had been amugtihiese intangible assets using the straightaiethod over their
economic lives, which was estimated to be five geResearch and development expenses includedizatiort of this
technological and intellectual property of $17,%500the quarter March 31, 2011. Following its demwisto terminate
development work related to this technology, thenfany recorded within research and developmentresgom the second
guarter of 2011 an impairment charge of $192,50@He remaining unamortized balance of these asBetse was no
amortization expense in the years ended Decemh&03B and 2012.

5. Inventories

Inventories consist of the following:

December 31,

2013 2012
Purchased components $ 205,32( $ 187,56
Finished goods 357,71¢ 646,95¢

$ 563,03t $ 834,52
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6. Fixed Assets

Fixed assets consist of the following:

Estimated December 31,
Useful Life
(Years) 2013 2012
Computer and laboratory equipment 3 $1,748561 $ 2,689,51!
Furniture and equipment 3 249,37 644,03:
Production equipment 7 997,29 997,29
Leasehold improvements * 185,25! 179,99°
3,180,49! 4,510,84
Less — accumulated depreciation (2,951,18) (4,216,950

$ 229,311 % 293,89

* Lesser of life of lease or estimated useful life.

Depreciation expense was $150,663, $239,168, ab@,432 for the years ended December 31, 2013, 20122011,
respectively.

A capital lease was included as a component ofttumand equipment at December 31, 2012. Amoitimaif assets under
this capital lease is included in depreciation egge See Note 10 — Commitments and Contingenaiasdre information
regarding this capital lease.

7. Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses consist of the following for teang ended December 31, 2013 and 2012:

December 31,

2013 2012
Technology fees $ 450,000 $ 450,00(
Professional services 263,64 248,75¢
Clinical study obligations 51,42« 24.,49(
Sales taxes 32,68¢ 62,38t
Supplier obligations — 105,13:
Other 72,44 58,077

$ 870,19t $ 948,84

8. Restructuring Related Activity

In January 2011, the Company announced it hacusated its neurodiagnostic activities to moreaifintly focus its
efforts on its installed base of active accourtsHift distribution to independent sales represtdrds, and to reduce cash
consumption. Twenty-five positions were eliminatpdiarily in sales. Charges totaled $2.2 milliefated to severance costs
and inventory. Approximately $2.0 million, consimgiof $0.2 million in severance and $1.8 milliorinmentory charges, was
recorded as of December 31, 2010 and the balarggpobximately $0.2 million in severance was reedroh 2011. The full
amount of the charge was paid as of December 311,.20
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9. Income Taxes

Current income tax expense (benefit) attributableantinuing operations consists of the following the years ended

December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011.

Federal
State
Total

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

The Company’s effective income tax rate differgrrthe statutory federal income tax rate as follfavghe years ended

December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011.

Federal tax provision (benefit) rate

State tax provision, net of federal provision
Permanent items

Federal research and development credits
Valuation allowance

Effective income tax rate

The Company’s deferred tax assets consist of thenfimg:

Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforwards
Research and development credit carryforwards
Accrued expenses
Stock-based compensation
Other
Total gross deferred tax assets
Valuation allowance

Net deferred tax asse

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
(34.0% (34.0% (34.0%
4.9) (3.5 (3.9)
3.4 0.8 1.
1.7) — 0.5

37.1 36.7 36.C
— % — % — %

December 31,

2013 2012

$32,253,60  $ 30,514,46

1,735,26! 1,547,37.
493,07 643,95:
565,07" 593,13:

1,061,21 1,048,54.

36,108,23 34,347,46
(36,108,23)  (34,347,46)
$ — 3 —

At December 31, 2013, the Company has federal &ate set operating loss carryforwards (“NOL”) of7$® million and
$18.6 million, respectively, as well as federal atate tax credits of $1.1 million and $977,008pestively, which may be
available to reduce future taxable income and ¢feged taxes thereon. This amount includes taxflieré $3.9 million and
$71,000 attributable to NOL and tax credit carryfards, respectively, that result from the exerofsemployee stock options.
The tax benefit of these items will be recorded asedit to additional paid-in capital upon rediiaa of the deferred tax asset
or reduction in income taxes payable. The fedefaL begin to expire in 2019 and the state NOL'gihdo expire in 2014.
The federal and state research and developmentschedh begin to expire in 2018.

In accordance with the provisions of the Incomeékatopic of the Codification, the Company has eataid the positive and
negative evidence bearing upon the realizabilitiofleferred tax assets, which are comprised ipdtly of net operating



losses. Management has determined that it is nialy than not that the Company will not recognilze benefits of federal
and state deferred tax assets and, as a resaliyation allowance of approximately and $36.1 milland $34.3 million has
been established at December 31, 2013 and 201 atagely.
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9. Income Taxes — (continued)

Utilization of the NOL and research and developneeatlit carryforwards may be subject to a substhatinual limitation
due to ownership change limitations that have aeclpreviously or that could occur in the future paovided by Section 382
of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as well miai state provisions. Ownership changes may fh@tamount of NOL and
tax credit carryforwards that can be utilized ttsef future taxable income and tax, respectivelygéneral, an ownership
change, as defined by Section 382, results frons#éetions increasing the ownership of certain $twdders or public groups in
the stock of a corporation by more than 50 peregntmints over a three-year period.

If the Company has experienced a change of conttitization of its NOL or tax credits carryforwagdvould be subject to
an annual limitation under Section 382. Any limtatmay result in expiration of a portion of the NOr research and
development credit carryforwards before utilizati8ubsequent ownership changes could further inthadimitation in future
years. Further, until a study is completed andlaniation known, no amounts are being presenteanasgncertain tax position.

A full valuation allowance has been provided agatine Company’s NOL carryforwards and researchdeviélopment
credit carryforwards and, if an adjustment is reepli this adjustment would be offset by an adjustn@the valuation
allowance. Thus, there would be no impact to tHartz® sheet or statement of operations if an adgist were required.

10. Commitments and Contingencies

Operating Leases
Lease Agreement with Fourth Avenue LLC

In June 2013, the Company amended the Lease Agréelated October 18, 2000 between Fourth Avenue ah€the
Company for office and engineering laboratory spgaaextend the term of the lease through Marct2815. Base rent for the
period January 2014 through March 2015 is $52, %t fmonth.

Future minimum lease payments under noncancelgarmtng leases as of December 31, 2013 are asvill

2014 $ 635,00:
2015 158,75:
Total minimum lease payments $ 793,75!

Total recorded rent expense was $635,004, $709at®1$764,754 for the years ended December 31, 2012, and 2011,
respectively. The Company records rent expensésdadility lease on a straight-line basis overldase term.

Capital Lease

In October 2010, the Company entered into a noealable capital lease for copiers located at itp@@te headquarters
valued at $60,410, which expired in September 2013.

Future minimum lease payments under the capitaklea of December 31, 2012 were as follows:

2013 $ 18,44¢
Total minimum lease payments 18,44¢
Less: Amount representing imputed interest 517
Present value of future minimum lease payments $ 17,92¢

Other Commitments

At December 31, 2013, other commitments, comprifgalirchase orders, totaled approximately $147,806.
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11. Fair Value Measurements

The Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures TdpticeoCodification defines fair value, establislesamework for
measuring fair value in applying generally acceptecbunting principles, and expands disclosurestdbe value
measurements. This Codification topic identifies &inds of inputs that are used to determine thevédue of assets and
liabilities: observable and unobservable. Obsepsaiputs are based on market data or independantesowhile unobservable
inputs are based on the Company’s own market aggumspOnce inputs have been characterized, thifiCation topic
requires companies to prioritize the inputs usemhéasure fair value into one of three broad levddr. values determined by
Level 1 inputs utilize quoted prices (unadjustedactive markets for identical assets or liab#itiBair values identified by
Level 2 inputs utilize observable inputs other thawel 1 prices, such as quoted prices for singsig®ets or liabilities, quoted
prices in markets that are not active or other isiplnat are observable or can be corroborated bgrahble market data for
substantially the full term of the related assetkadbilities. Fair values identified by Level 3gats are unobservable data points
and are used to measure fair value to the extahbthservable inputs are not available. Unobseeviaipluts reflect the
Company’s own assumptions about the assumptionsrituket participants would use at pricing the tieséability.

The following tables present information about @@mpany’s assets and liabilities that are measairéair value on a
recurring basis for the periods presented and ategcthe fair value hierarchy of the valuation téghes it utilized to determine
such fair value. In general, fair values determibgd.evel 1 inputs utilize quoted prices (unadjd¥te@ active markets for
identical assets or liabilities. Fair values detiead by Level 2 inputs utilize data points that abservable such as quoted
prices, interest rates, and yield curves. Faireslletermined by Level 3 inputs are unobservalike mizints for the asset or
liability, and include situations where there tidi, if any, market activity for the asset or lii.

Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2013 Using

Significant
Quoted Prices in Other Significant
Active Markets for Observable Unobservable
December 31, Identical Assets Inputs Inputs
2013 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

Assets:
Cash equivalents $ 3,926,601 $ 3,926,601 $ — 3 =
Total $ 3,926,601 $ 3,926,600 $ — 3 —
Liabilities:
Common stock warrants $1,938,60. $ — 8 — 1,938,60:
Total $1,938,60: $ — % — $ 1,938,60:

Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2012 Using

Significant
Quoted Prices in Other Significant
Active Markets for Observable Unobservable
December 31, Identical Assets Inputs Inputs
2012 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

Assets:
Cash equivalents $ 519,24. $ 519,24: $ — 3 —
Total $ 519,24 $ 519,24; $ — 8 —

Due to the lack of market quotes relating to oungwmn stock warrants, the fair value of the comntonkswarrants was
determined at December 31, 2013 using the Blacloi&shmodel, which is based on Level 3 inputs. ABe€ember 31, 2013,
inputs used in the Black-Scholes model includestock price as of that date of $2.92, exerciseepric$2.00, expected
volatility of 67.60%, risk free interest rate 071%, expected term of approximately four yearsmnibnths, and no dividends.
The assumptions used may change as the underlyinges of these assumptions and market conditioasge. Based on this
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11. Fair Value Measurements — (continued)

calculation, the Company recorded a common stockants liability of $1.9 million at December 31,12 In addition, 1.3
million warrants were exercised during the fourttager of 2013 and these warrants were adjustdteiofair value at the dates
of exercise. The total liability for the exercisgdrrants of $2.4 million was then reclassified dditional paid-in capital. The
Company did not have any financial liabilities dadrat fair value as of December 31, 2012.

The following table provides a summary of changethée fair value of the Company's Level 3 finantiailities for the
year ended December 31, 2013:

Balance at December 31, 2012 $ —
Initial fair value of warrants at issuance in J2@4 3 4,011,20!
Change in fair value of warrant liability 289,65
Reclassification of liability to additional paid-gapital upon exercise of warrants (2,362,259

Balance at December 31, 2013 $ 1,938,60:

12. Retirement Plan

The Company established a 401(k) defined contdbugiavings plan for its employees who meet cedeimice period and
age requirements. Contributions are permitted tpdanaximum allowed under the Internal RevenueeGddach covered
employee’s salary. The savings plan permits the 2oy to contribute at its discretion. For the yearded December 31,
2013, 2012, and 2011 the Company made no conwifmito the plan.

13. Credit Facility

The Company is party to a Loan and Security Agrednue the Credit Facility, with a bank. As of Deaeger 31, 2013 the
Credit Facility permitted the Company to borrowtagh2.5 million on a revolving basis. The Credit#ity was subsequently
amended and extended until January 15, 2015. Uades of the amended and extended Agreement thardrobthe Credit
Facility will remain at $2.5 million until Decemb8d, 2014. Thereafter, until its expiry on Janubby 2015, the Credit Facility
will be reduced to $750,000 if the Company hasyedtcompleted an equity offering as defined inAlggeement. Amounts
borrowed under the Credit Facility will bear intsrequal to the prime rate plus 0.5%. Any borrowingder the Credit Facility
will be collateralized by the Company’s cash, actsueceivable, inventory, and equipment. The Grealtility includes
traditional lending and reporting covenants. Thiaskide certain financial covenants applicabledaitlity that are to be
maintained by the Company. As of December 31, 2083Company was in compliance with these coveramdshad not
borrowed any funds under the Credit Facility. Theoant of $225,000 of the Credit Facility limit isstricted to support a letter
of credit issued in favor of the Company’s landlordhe lease of its facilities in Waltham, Massasétts. Consequently, the
amount available for borrowing under the Creditilgtas of December 31, 2013 was $2,275,000.

14. Stockholders’ Equity

On June 4, 2013, the Company entered into a Purdhgiement providing for the issuance of (i) 248,%hares of
common stock at a price of $2.095 per share, (0$6.254 shares of Series A-1 Preferred Stockpaita of $1,000 per share,
(iii) 3,370.510 shares of Series A-2 Preferred tatca price of $1,000 per share, and (iv) fiverygarrants to purchase up to
2,365,934 shares of common stock with an exercise pf $2.00 per share. The 2013 Offering resuleapproximately $5.0
million in gross proceeds, before deducting placgragent fees and other expenses. Net proceedslim@013 Offering were
approximately $4.5 million.

Each share of Preferred Stock had a stated valfi#,000 and was convertible at the option of thedwinto the number of
shares of common stock determined by dividing thted value by the initial conversion price of #&0which was subject to
adjustment as provided in each Certificate of Deesiign for
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14. Stockholders’ Equity — (continued)

the Preferred Stock. The Preferred Stock had nidelind rights, liquidation preference or other prefices over common stock
and had no voting rights except as provided in &msttificate of Designation for the Preferred Stackl as required by law.
During the second half of 2013, all of the Serie& Rreferred Stock and Series A-2 Preferred Stack eonverted into a total
of 2,117,787 shares of common stock. The warranpsitchase 2,365,934 shares of common stock wereisable
immediately, have a five-year term, and a per shaegcise price of $2.00. During the fourth quace?013, warrants to
purchase 1,308,611 shares of common stock wereisgdrand the same number of shares of common staskssued.
Proceeds from these exercises totaled $2.6 million.

The terms and conditions of the Preferred Stocleveealuated based on the guidance of the Deriva#ind Hedging topic
of the Codification to determine if the conversfeature was an embedded derivative requiring héfima. It was concluded
that bifurcation was not required because the asiwe feature was clearly and closely related &Rheferred Stock. The
conversion price at which shares of Preferred Stoete convertible into shares of common stock wesrdhined to be lower
than the fair value of common stock at the datdhefPurchase Agreement. This “in-the-money” bemafamonversion feature,
or BCF, required separate recognition and measureaiéts intrinsic value (i.e., the amount of therease in value that
holders of Preferred Stock would realize upon cosiea based on the value of the conversion sharésendate of the
Purchase Agreement). The BCF measurement tota® $J0, an amount limited by the transaction prdseehich had been
allocated to the Preferred Stock. Because therenaiaa stated redemption date for the shares ééPeel Stock, the BCF was
recognized as a deemed dividend attributable t@théerred Stock and is reflected as an adjustmeht calculation of
earnings per share.

The warrants issued in connection with the 2012@ff are within the scope of the Derivatives amdigfing topic of the
Codification. This Codification topic requires igs8 to classify as liabilities (or assets undetadercircumstances) financial
instruments which require an issuer to settle gistered shares. As the warrants are required setiied in registered shares
when exercised, the Company has reflected the niaress a liability in the balance sheet. The falue of the warrants at the
date of the 2013 Offering was estimated at $4.0aniusing a Black-Scholes model with the followiagsumptions: stock
price of $2.60, exercise price of $2.00, expect@dtility of 73.6%, risk free interest rate of 1%5expected term of five years,
and no dividends. The warrants were revalued a 3002013, September 30, 2013, and December 33, ing the same
Black-Scholes model. The liability for the remaigiwarrants was reflected in the balance sheet e¢mber 31, 2013 in the
amount of $1.9 million and non-operating expens$2%0,000 has been recorded through December 33, Zbe Company
will continue to revalue unexercised warrants ahe@porting period over the life of the warransing the Black-Scholes
model and the changes in the fair value of the avasrwill be recognized in the Company's staternéoperations.

On July 26, 2013, the Company filed a RegistraStatement on Form S-8 to register 386,111 additisimares of the
Company’s common stock for issuance under the Cagip2009 Non-Qualified Inducement Stock Plan (@09 Stock
Plan™). An aggregate of 13,889 shares of commockstim be issued under the 2009 Stock Plan werdqusly registered on
June 3, 2009. The amount previously registeredctsfltwo 1-for-6 reverse splits of the Companysswn stock completed
on September 1, 2011 and February 15, 2013.

On February 13, 2012, the Company completed a poffiering of 1,421,735 Units at a price of $6.@0 pnit (the
“Offering”). Each Unit consists of one share of tbempany’s common stock and one warrant to purcbaséhalf of a share of
the Company’s common stock. The Company issuedlL]783 shares of common stock and warrants to psecit0,868
shares of common stock and received offering prseaget of discounts, commissions and expenseppbximately $7.4
million. Each warrant entitles the holder to purshat any time during the period commencing 18 ddter the date of the
Offering until the date five years following theosing date of the Offering, one half of a sharéhefCompany’s common stock.
Two warrants would need to be exercised to acaquieeshare of the Company’s common stock at an iseerc
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14. Stockholders’ Equity — (continued)

price of $6.90 (115% of the aggregate offeringefimr a unit). In addition, the placement agenttfer Offering was issued
warrants to purchase 71,087 shares of common étaoglal to 5.0% of the number of shares of commocksincluded in the
Units sold in the Offering) at an exercise pric&df50 per share (125% of the aggregate offerifge ffor a Unit). The
placement agent’s warrants will be exercisablengtteme beginning one year after the date of issaamd will expire on the
fifth anniversary of the effectiveness of the régison statement related to the Offering.

The fair value of the warrants was estimated at #illion using a Black-Scholes model with the éoling assumptions:
expected volatility of 73.5%, risk free interesteraf 0.85%, expected life of five years, and nadénds. The volatility
assumption is based on weekly historical volatilitying the time period that corresponds to thezetgdl option term, a review
of comparable medical device companies, and exgpdatare stock price volatility. The relative faialue of the warrants was
recorded as equity.

15. Reverse Stock Splits

On September 1, 2011, the Company filed a Centdioh Amendment to its Restated Certificate of hpooation, as
amended, with the Secretary of State of the Stabetmware, to effect a 1-for-6 reverse stock spfitts common stock, or the
Reverse Stock Split. This action had previouslynbegproved by the Company’s stockholders at the gamyis annual
meeting held on May 16, 2011. As a result of thedRee Stock Split, every six shares of the Compapse-reverse split
common stock were combined and reclassified in®girare of its common stock. No fractional shareevissued in
connection with the Reverse Stock Split. Stockhaldeho otherwise would have been entitled to rexaifractional share in
connection with the Reverse Stock Split receivedsh payment in lieu thereof. The par value andratrms of the common
stock were not affected by the Reverse Stock Split.

The Company'’s shares outstanding immediately poidne Reverse Stock Split totaled 23,331,646, Wwiiere adjusted to
3,888,607 shares outstanding as a result of therBebtock Split. On February 15, 2013, the Compidetya Certificate of
Amendment to its Restated Certificate of Incorporgtas amended, with the Secretary of State obthte of Delaware, to
effect a second 1-for-6 reverse stock split oEdgsmon stock, or the Second Reverse Stock Splis. dd¢tion had previously
been approved by the Company’s stockholders ateiammeeting of stockholders held on Decembe0I22As a result of the
Second Reverse Stock Split, every six shares o€tmpany’s pre-reverse split common stock were égoetband reclassified
into one share of its common stock. No fractiomalrss were issued in connection with the Secon@iReStock Split.
Stockholders who otherwise would have been entile@ceive a fractional share in connection wlith $econd Reverse Stock
Split received a cash payment in lieu thereof. paaevalue and other terms of the common stock wetaffected by the
Second Reverse Stock Split.

The Company’s shares outstanding immediately poidhe Second Reverse Stock Split totaled 12,845,PRese were
adjusted to 2,140,871 shares outstanding as & ofthk Reverse Stock Split.

16. Management Retention and Incentive Plan

On August 2, 2012, the Company adopted the ManageRetention and Incentive Plan (the “Plan”), undlich a portion
of the consideration payable upon a change of abtmansaction, as defined in the Plan, would bd pacash to certain
executive officers and key employees and recordembmpensation expense within the Statement ofalipas during the
period in which the change of control transactionurs. The Plan is structured to work in conjunctigth, and not replace, the
Company’s other incentive programs and is desigagulovide market-based incentives which will béuged over time by any
future equity grants to participants.
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Schedule Il — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
Balance at Charged to Charged to
Beginning of costs and other Recoveries/ Balance at
Description Period expenses accounts (Deductions) End of Period

December 31, 2013
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
Sales Returns Reserve

Deferred Tax Asset Valuation
Allowance

December 31, 2012
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Sales Returns Reserve

Deferred Tax Asset Valuation
Allowance

December 31, 2011
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Sales Returns Reserve

Deferred Tax Asset Valuation
Allowance

(1) Net write-offs.

$ 130,00
21,61¢

34,347,46

$ 286,61

13,30z

30,487,08

$  379,10(

26,86¢

28,670,03

$ 111,29

2,976,80

$ (12,999

3,900,38

$ 30,82t

3,803,22.

$

$

38,27¢

180,06¢

272,60’

$ (206,290 35,00(
(58,999) 89t

(1,216,04) @ 36,108,23
$ (143,61)D $ 130,00
(171,755 O 21,61¢
(40,009 @ 34,347,46

$ (12331)D ¢ 286,61
(286,170 W 13,30:

(1,986,17) @ 30,487,08

(2) Expiration of Federal and State Net Operatingd_Carryforwards and other reductions.
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Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémtlee Registration Statements on Form S-8 (N83:-BL8059, 333-
135242, 333-151195, 333-159712, 333-159713, 3338®6,7333-173769, 333-183071, 333-186827, 333-188883333-
190177) and on Form S-3 (Nos. 333-150087, 333-152383-165784, 333-178165, 333-186855 and 333-18939
NeuroMetrix, Inc. of our report dated February 2@14 relating to the financial statements and fofgrstatement schedule,
which appears in this Form 10-K. We also consethéareference to us under the heading "SelectehEial Data’ in this
Form 10-K.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
February 24, 2014




Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Shai N. Gozani, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 16ffeuroMetrix, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or en#tate a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, indighe circumstances under which such statenvwesits made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered ligy tbport;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in
all material respects the financial condition, issaf operations and cash flows of the registesnof, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimisglosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a}Hnd 15d-15(e)) and internal control over firiaheeporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d)15¢r the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedoresiused such disclosure controls and procedaoites designed
under our supervision, to ensure that materiarinéion relating to the registrant, including itmeolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others with@se entities, particularly during the period ihieh this report is
being prepared,;

b) designed such internal control over financigloréing, or caused such internal control over faiahreporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide readeradsurance regarding the reliability of financegorting and tr
preparation of financial statements for externappses in accordance with generally accepted atioguprinciples;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentidsineport our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disesantrols and procedures, as of the end of thiegeovered by
this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the teai$'s internal control over financial reportirtgat occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regists fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimaport) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to erélly affect, the registrant’s internal contrales financial
reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anldlave disclosed, based on our most recent evaituat internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s anditand the audit committee of the registrant'sthad directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weadges in the design or operation of internal corttvelr financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversafgct the registrant’s ability to record, processnmarize and
report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelweanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the
registrant’s internal control over financial repogt

Date: February 24, 2014 /sl SHAI N. GOZANI, M.D., PH.D.

Shai N. Gozani, M.D., Ph.D.
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Thomas T. Higgins, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 16ffeuroMetrix, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiomny untrue statement of a material fact or dondttate a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in ligheafircumstances under which such statementsmwade, not misleadir
with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, resofteperations and cash flows of the registrantfaard for, the periods
presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimisglosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a}Hhd 15d-15(e)) and internal control over firiaheporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d)15¢r the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and proceduresiused such disclosure controls and procedures designed und
our supervision, to ensure that material infornmatielating to the registrant, including its condated subsidiaries, is
made known to us by others within those entitiestigularly during the period in which this rep@tbeing prepared,;

b) designed such internal control over financigloréing, or caused such internal control over faiahreporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide readeradsurance regarding the reliability of financegorting and the
preparation of financial statements for externappges in accordance with generally accepted atioguprinciples;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentidsineport our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the discsantrols and procedures, as of the end of thegeovered by this
report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the temig's internal control over financial reportirtgat occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regrsts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimaport) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to evélly affect, the registrant’s internal contrafes financial reporting;
and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) andave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditorgldhe audit committee of the registrant’s boardioéctors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weadses in the design or operation of internal corvelr financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrdgistrant’s ability to record, process, summaaizd report financial
information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelveanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the
registrant’s internal control over financial repogt

Date: February 24, 2014 /sl THOMAS T. HIGGINS

Thomas T. Higgins
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and
Treasurer




Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATION

Pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of section 1358ptdr 63 of title 18,
United States Code), each of the undersigned offisENeuroMetrix, Inc., a Delaware corporatiore(titompany”), does
hereby certify, to such officer's knowledge, that:

The Annual Report for the year ended December @13 Zthe “Form 10-K”) of the Company fully compliesth the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the SéeasrExchange Act of 1934, as amended, and tlwerirdtion contained in the
Form 10-K fairly presents, in all material respetit® financial condition and results of operatiohthe Company.

Date: February 24, 2014 /s SHAI N. GOZANI, M.D., PH.D.

Shai N. Gozani, M.D., Ph.D.
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: February 24, 2014 /sl THOMAS T. HIGGINS

Thomas T. Higgins
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer afmasurer

This certification is being furnished and not fileshd shall not be incorporated into any documenafy purpose, under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or the Securitiesof 1933.




